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PROPOSAL FOR DECISION 

The staff (Staff) of the Texas Medical Board (Board) seeks to impose disciplinary action 
against Stanislaw R. Burzynski, MD. (Dr. Burzynski/Respondent) for alleged violations of the 
Medical Practice Act1 and the Board’s rules2 in his treatment of cancer patients. 

This is a complex case involving a period of 13 years and Dr. Burzynski’s treatment of 

30 patients within that period. Staff initially offered 68 volumes of exhibits into evidence, but 

later reduced its exhibits to 59 volumes of documents that were admitted into evidence. Staff’ s 

exhibits included, among other things, the medical records for Patients A through G, 36 
depositions, and portions of the medical records for Patients H through DD. Staff submitted over 

19,870 pages of documentary exhibits. 

The patients in issue were terminally—ill cancer patients who had either unsuccessfully 
tried conventional cancer treatment or had elected not to do so because of severe side effects 

with minimal prospect of curing the disease. Several of the patients were not expected to live for 

more than a year. 

In the 1990s, Dr. Burzynski discovered and patented an anti-cancer drug for which the 

Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved several clinical studies to determine its 

effectiveness in treating adults and children with advanced stages of cancer. Many of these 
patients elected to participate in the FDA-approved clinical studies, and others chose to 

1 Tex. Occ. Code (Code), title 3, chapters 151—169. 
2 The applicable Board rules are located at 22 Texas Administrative Code (TAC) chapters 165, 179, and 190. In 
this proposal for decision, the Board rules are referred to as “Board Rule xx,” or “22 TAC § xx,” using the specific 
number of the rule.
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participate in “personalized medicine” treatment that targeted the cause of the cancer rather than 

the location of the cancer. Because of Dr. Burzynski’s treatments, several terminally ill patients 

recovered. 

Staff makes allegations against Respondent ranging from standard of care violations to 

ethical violations in conducting clinical studies that are regulated by the FDA. Staff relied 

heavily on the testimony of three experts, one on ethics, one on billing issues, and another 

regarding the standard of care. The experts’ qualifications will be discussed more fully later, but 

it is important to know that Staff’s experts had not seen all the relevant records of the patients 
upon which they were asked to give an opinion. For example, Cynthia Wetmore, M.D., a 

pediatric oncologist, testified that Respondent had misrepresented Patient D’s tumor response to 

ANP, when Patient D was not treated at the Clinic. Staff’s reliance on the testimony of these 

experts cast doubt on the validity of its allegations. 

The Board recognizes a patient’s right to seek alternative or non-standard therapy and 

that physicians may provide such therapy. The alternative therapy provided by Dr. Burzynski 
during the period at issue has since become more accepted and mainstream. During the hearing, 
Staff took the position that the applicable standard of care regarding Dr. Burznyski’s treatments 

was what was in effect at the time he provided the treatment, even if that treatment protocol has 
since become accepted in the medical community. Such an approach as taken by Staff would 

appear to discourage innovation in the treatment of advanced cancers. 

In this context, based on the evidence, the Administrative Law Judges (ALJs) find that 
Staff proved some, but not most, of its allegations against Dr. Burzynski. The ALJs further find 
that there are mitigating and aggravating factors that the Board may consider in issuing a final 
decision.3 

3 Pursuant to Code § 164.007(a—1), the ALJs make findings of fact and conclusions of law, but do not make any 
recommendation regarding the appropriate sanction, if any, to impose.
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I. JURISDICTION, NOTICE, AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

The parties did not contest notice or jurisdiction except as discussed below. 

On December 11, 2013, Staff filed an 8-page Complaint with the State Office of 

Administrative Hearings (SOAH). On July 10, 2014, Staff submitted a 202-page First Amended 
Complaint substantially increasing the charges alleged against Respondent. In response, 

Respondent filed an answer asserting two affirmative defenses: (l) collateral estoppel4 and 

(2) lack of statutory authority to pursue claims regarding alleged Violations of a clinical trial 

approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) where there is no federal finding of a 

violation of federal law. On November 14, 2014, Staff filed a 48-page Second Amended 
Complaint (the Complaint) that contains Staff’s notice of the current allegations against 

Respondent. 

On August 21, 2014, Respondent filed a motion for summary disposition requesting that 
Staffs claims relating to alleged violations of federal regulations be dismissed. In response, 

Staff argued, among other things, that Texas Occupations Code (Code) §§ 164.052(a)(5) and 
164.053(a)(l) authorizes the Board to sanction a licensee for any violation of state or federal law. 

The ALJs issued Order No. 7 on September 10, 2014, granting the motion in part. Pursuant to 22 
Texas Administrative Code (TAC) § 190.8(2)(R), only alleged violations of the FDA-regulations 
that are criminal in nature are subject to disciplinary action by the Board under this section.5 

Staff did not assert any criminal violations, therefore any allegations related to 22 TAC 
§ 190.8(2)(R) were disposed in Respondent’s favor. 

The hearing on the merits convened on November 19 through 20 and 23 through 25, 
2015, January 19 and May 3 through 6, and 9 through 12, 2016, before ALJs Catherine Egan and 

4 Respondent referenced Order No. 12 issued April 4, 2012, in SOAH Docket No. 503-11-1669, Texas Medical 
Board v. Burzynski. 
5 Order No. 7 (Sept. 9, 2014).
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Roy G. Scudday in the William P. Clements Building, 300 West 15th St., Austin, Texas.6 

Attorneys Lee Bukstein, Amy Swanholm, Barbara Jordan, and Christopher Palazola represented 
Staff.7 Attorneys Dan Cogdell, J. Dennis Hester, J. Gregory Myers, and Melanie Rubinsky 

represented Respondent. The record closed on August 15, 2016, with the filing of the parties’ 

closing arguments and highlighted exhibits.8 

II. BACKGROUND, ALLEGAT IONS, AND APPLICABLE LAW 

A. Background 

1. Dr. Burzynski 

Before immigrating to the United States in 1970, Respondent graduated from medical 

school in Poland in 1967 and received a Ph.D. in biochemistry in 1968. Between 1970 and 1977, 
Dr. Burzynski worked at Baylor College of Medicine doing cancer research. While there, he 

received funding from the National Cancer Institute to research the link between peptides in 

blood and cancer growth.9 According to Dr. Burzynski, he has authored over 300 publications 

dealing with cancer and cancer research; however, many were not published in peer-reviewed 
publications.10 He is a member of the American Medical Society, New York Academy of 
Sciences, and the American Academy of Medical Ethics, among other organizations. 

6 During the proceeding, Dr. Burzynski’s cardiac health issues required a delay in reconvening the hearing from 
January 19 to May 2016. On May 3, 2016, ALJ Egan had to leave the hearing due to a family emergency. The ‘ 

parties elected to proceed with the hearing with the understanding that ALJ Egan would read the transcript for that 
portion of the hearing that she was unable to attend. ALJ Egan affirms she has read the May 3, 2016 transcript. 
7 Mr. Bukstein retired from the Texas Medical Board (Board) and did not appear in this proceeding after 
January 19, 2016. Ms. Swanholm took over as Staff’s lead counsel. 
8 Order No. 36 (Aug. 2,2016). 
9 Tr. Vol. 7 at 30. 
1° Tr. Vol.7 at 31, 36-37.
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2. The Clinic 

In 1977, Dr. Burzynski opened the Burzynski Clinic (Clinic), a private medical practice 

in Houston, Texas, to treat cancer patients.11 Dr. Burzynski testified that approximately 95% of 
the Clinic’s cancer patients have a terminal diagnosis. Many Clinic patients had tried 

2 Beginning in 1990, Dr. Burzynski began conventional cancer treatment without success.1 

adding gene-oriented treatment with personalized treatment to the Clinic’s cancer patients. He 
explained that instead of treating the type of the cancer, he treats the cause of the cancer—the 

abnormal genes.13 In his opinion, the “clue to success is a combination of a number of gene— 

targeted agents,” sometimes using four or five gene-targeted agents.14 

During the relevant periods from 2000 to 2013, the Clinic employed approximately 150 
people.15 This included three board-certified oncologists, Drs. Jai Joshi, Jose Valladares and 

Zanhua Yi; two internists, Drs. Robert Weaver and Gregory Burzynski; and one family 

practitioner, Dr. Alejandro Marquis.16 All six were licensed to practice medicine in Texas during 

the time pertinent to this case. The Clinic also hired unlicensed foreign-trained doctors to assist 
the physicians as research associates. The Clinic assigned each patient to a team of health care 

providers that included an oncologist, an internist or family practitioner, and a research associate, 

all of Whom met with the patient and Respondent at the initial consultation to discuss treatment 
options. ‘7 

11 Tr. Vol.7 at 33. 
‘2 Tr. Vol.7 at 36-37. 
‘3 Tr. Vol.7 at 34. 
1“ Tr. Vol.7 at 34-35.. 
‘5 Tr. Vol.7 at 72. 
‘6 Tr. Vol.7 at 72-74. 
‘7 Tr. Vol. 7 at 81-82,
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3. Burzynski Research Institute/Institutional Review Board (BRI/IRB) 

Dr. Burzynski testified that, based on his prior research, he discovered chemicals in the 

blood with anticancer activities.18 In 1993, the FDA approved a clinical trial for the 

investigational drug, antineoplaston (ANP), in the treatment of cancer patients.19 Over the years, 

Dr. Burzynski estimated, he engaged in 65 prospective clinical trials and one retrospective 

clinical trial.20 Dr. Burzynski testified that BRI, of which he is the president and the owner of 

80% of the shares, was created in 1983 to sponsor ANP clinical trials. According to 

Dr. Burzynski, BRI is not engaged in the practice of medicine.21 

Dr. Burzynski testified that IRB was also created in 1983, but it is a separate entity from 
BRI. IRB was created to supervise the ethical conduct of clinical studies by approving or 
disapproving clinical trial protocols; to collect data on the toxicity and the response of the 

investigational agent; and to evaluate data on the efficacy of the investigational agent ANP.22 

IRB is not in the business of practicing medicine.23 Neither Dr. Burzynski nor any of the 

Clinic’s employees is a member of IRB. The IRB consists of 14 members. 

Carlton Hazelwood, M.D., a retired professor of pediatrics and physiology at the Baylor College 

of Medicine, is IRB’s chairman.24 Dr. Burzynski testified that he had no role in the selecting the 

board members.25 

18 Tr. Vol.7 at 33. 
19 Tr. Vol. 7 at 63. 
2° Tr. Vol. 7 at 45. 
21 Tr. Vol. 7 at 51-52. 
22 Tr. Vol. 7 at4l-42. 
23 Tr. Vol.7 at 64. 
2“ Tr. Vol. 7 at41-43. 
25 Tr. Vol.7 at 43.
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B. Staff’s Allegations 

Staff‘s allegations cover a period from 2000 through 2013. The issues in this case center 

on Respondent’s cancer treatments, the marketing of his treatments, and his management of the 
Clinic’s personnel and the clinical trials.26 Staff’s allegations against Respondent can be divided 

into the following general categories: 

(1) Failing to treat Patients A through G according to the generally accepted standard 
of care; 

(2) Engaging in unprofessional and dishonorable conduct that was likely to deceive 
the public by: 

0 failing to properly supervise unlicensed and unqualified medical 
personnel; improperly delegating professional medical responsibility to 
unlicensed personnel; and misleading patients about the Clinic’s 
personnel; 

0 failing to provide adequate written informed consents for patients to 
review and sign; 

0 failing to disclose his ownership interest in pharmacies and a laboratory; 

0 overcharging patients; and 

0 deceptively marketing and advertising the Clinic’s cancer treatments; and 

(3) Violating ethical and professional responsibilities by: 

0 failing to protect patients in clinical trials, specifically Patients G and I 

through BB; 
0 engaging in unethical treatment of Patients A through F; 
0 treating Patients H through P without proper BRI—IRB approval; 
0 reporting inadequate or inaccurate therapeutic responses for Patients G 

and Q through BB; 

26 The ALJs will address the treatment dates that are in issue for each patient raised by the parties in their closing 
arguments. Order No. 34 (June 6, 2016).
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0 failing to train subordinates adequately about adverse events for Patients G 
and Q through U; 

0 failing to evaluate and report Patient G’s reactions to corticosteroids and 
failing to inform her of additional costs imposed by the Clinic; 

0 providing inadequate or inaccurate case history for Patient CC; and 
o violating federal regulations as the clinical investigator. 

C. Applicable Law 

The Board may take disciplinary action against a licensed physician who has violated a 

Board rule or the Code or failed to practice medicine in an acceptable professional manner 
consistent with public health and welfare.27 Disciplinary actions include revocation, suspension 

(including a probated suspension), or reprimand.28 Staff’s allegations are based on the following 

provisions of the Act and the Board’s rules: 

1. Statutory Grounds for Disciplinary Action 

Code § 164.052 states that a physician commits a prohibited practice, subjecting the 

physician to disciplinary action under Code § 164.051, if the physician engages in 

“unprofessional or dishonorable conduct that is likely to deceive or defraud the public or injure 
”29 uses false, misleading, or deceptive advertising;30 or directly or indirectly aids or the public; 

abets an unlicensed person in the practice medicine.31 Code § 164.053 defines unprofessional or 
dishonorable conduct likely to deceive or defraud the public to include conduct in which the 

physician: 

( 1) commits an act that violates any state or federal law if the act is connected 
with the physician's practice of medicine; 

27 Code § 164.051(a)(3),(6). 
28 Code §§ l64.001(a), .051(a). 
29 Code§ 164.052(a)(5). 
3" Code§ 164.052(a)(6). 
31 Code§ 164.052(a)(17).
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(5) prescribes or administers a drug or treatment that is nontherapeutic in 
nature or nontherapeutic in the manner the drug or treatment is 

administered or prescribed; 

(6) prescribes, administers, or dispenses in a manner inconsistent with public 
health and welfare: 

(A) dangerous drugs as defined by Chapter 483, Health and Safety Code; 
or 

(B) controlled substances scheduled in Chapter 481, Health and Safety 
Code, or the Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act 
of 1970 (21 U.S.C. Section 801 et seq.); 

(7) violates Section 311.0025, Health and Safety Code;32 

(8) fails to supervise adequately the activities of those acting under the 
supervision of the physician; or 

(9) delegates professional medical responsibility or acts to a person if the 
delegating physician knows or has reason to know that the person is not 
qualified by training, experience, or licensure to perform the responsibility 
or acts. 

According to Code § 157.001, a physician may delegate to a qualified and properly 
trained person any medical act so long as the person is acting under the physician’s supervision 

and does not represent to the public that the person is authorized to practice medicine. The 
delegating physician is responsible for “the medical acts of the person performing the delegated 

medical acts.”33 

2. Board Rules 

Board Rule 165.1 requires licensed physicians to maintain adequate medical records for 

each patient that are “complete, contemporaneous, and legible.”34 The patient’s medical record 
must document, among other things, the following: (1) the reason for each visit, the patient’s 

32 Texas Health & Safety Code § 311.0025(a) states that a health care professional may not submit to a patient a bill 
for treatment that the professional knows was not provided or knows was improper, unreasonable, or medically or 
clinically unnecessary. 
33 Code§157.001(b). 
34 22 TAC§ 165.1.
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relevant history, the physical examination findings, and prior diagnostic test results; (2) the 

physician’s assessment, clinical impression, or diagnosis; (3) the plan of care; and (4) the date 

and “legible identity of the observer.”35 In addition, medical records should include, among 
other things, past and present diagnoses; the physician’s rationale for and the results of 

diagnostic and other ancillary services; the patient’s progress and response to treatment; and the 

relevant risk factors.36 

As noted above, physicians are subject to sanctions for failing to practice medicine in an
7 acceptable professional manner consistent with public health and welfare.3 According to 

22 TAC § 190.8(1), this includes, but is not limited to: 

failure to treat a patient according to the generally-accepted standard of care;38
_ 

o negligence in performing medical services;39 

0 failure to use proper diligence in one’s professional practice;40 

0 failure to safeguard against potential complications;41 

0 failure to disclose reasonably foreseeable side effects of a procedure or 
treatment;42 

0 failure to disclose reasonable alternative treatments to a proposed procedure or 
treatment;43 and 

0 failure to obtain informed consent from the patient or other person authorized 
by law to consent to treatment on the patient’s behalf before performing tests, 

35 22 TAC § 165.1(a)(1)(A)-(D). 
36 22 TAC§ l65.1(a)(2)—(5). 
37 Code § 164.051(a)(6). 
3* 22 TAC § 190.8(1)(A). 
39 22 TAC § 190.8(1)(B). 
4° 22 TAC § 190.8(1)(C). 
4‘ 22 TAC § 190.8(1)(D). 
42 22 TAC § 190.8(1)(G). 
43 22 TAC§ 190.8(1)(H).



SOAH DOCKET N O. 503-14—1342.MD PROPOSAL FOR DECISION PAGE 11 

treatments, procedures, or autopsies as required under Chapter 49 of the Code 
of Criminal Procedure; 44 

Unprofessional and dishonorable conduct that is likely to deceive, defraud, or injure the 

public includes: 

0 referring a patient to a facility, laboratory, or pharmacy without disclosing the 
existence of the licensee’s ownership interest in the entity to the patient; 4 and 

0 providing medically unnecessary services to a patient or submitting a billing 
statement to a patient or a third party payer that the licensee knew or should 
have known was improper. (“Improper” means the billing statement is false, 
fraudulent, misrepresents services provided, or otherwise does not meet 
professional standards.)46 

3. Board Rules Regarding Clinical Investigations 

Physicians engaged in the clinical investigation of new drugs and procedures must 
comply with the ethical and professional responsibilities set out in Board Rule 200.3(7). 

Specifically, physicians are expected to conform to the following ethical standards: 

(A) Clinical investigations, medical research, or clinical studies shall be part of 
a systematic program competently designed, under accepted standards of 
scientific research, to produce data that are scientifically valid and 
significant; 

(B) A clinical investigator shall demonstrate the same concern and caution for 
the welfare, safety and comfort of the patient involved as is required of a 
physician who is furnishing medical care to a patient independent of any 
clinical investigation; and 

(C) A clinical investigator shall have patients sign informed consent forms that 
are compliant with federal regulations, if applicable, and that indicate that 
the patients understand that they are participating in a clinical trial or 
investigational research. 

44 22 TAC § 190.8(1)(I). 
45 22 TAC § 190,8(2)(H). 
46 22 TAC§ 190.8(2)(J).
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4. Aggravating and Mitigating Factors 

The Board’s rules set out certain specified aggravating and mitigating factors relevant to 

determining whether more or less severe or restrictive action by the Board is warranted. Staff 

has the burden to present evidence regarding any aggravating factors that may apply in a 

particular case, and the physician has the burden to present evidence regarding any mitigating 

factors that may apply.47 

III. OVERVIEW OF THE EVIDENCE 

A. Staff’s Evidence 

Staff initially offered 68 volumes of exhibits into evidence, but later reduced its exhibits 

to 59 volumes of documents that were admitted into evidence. Staff‘s exhibits included, among 
other things, the medical records for Patients A through G, 29 depositions, and portions of the 
medical records for Patients H through DD. Staff also called the following witnesses: 

0 Norman Fost, M.D., MPH, a licensed pediatrician and bioethicist called as an 
expert witness; 

0 Elaine Kloos, R.N., NE-BC, MBA, a health care professional called as an expert 
witness; 

0 Cynthia Jean Wetmore, M.D., Staff‘s oncology expert; 
0 Patient F; 

0 Patient F’s wife; and 
0 Patient A’s wife. 

B. Respondent’s Evidence 

Respondent introduced 28 exhibits that were admitted into evidence. Respondent also 

called the following witnesses: 

47 22 TAC§ 190.15.
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Tomasz J anicki, M.D., Director of Medical Documentation of the Clinic and Vice 
President of Clinical Trials, called as an expert witness; 

Mark Levin, M.D., Respondent’s oncology expert; 

Dr. Burzynski, who testified as both a fact witness and an expert witness; 

Gregory Burzynski, M.D., Dr. Burzynski’s son and the Clinic’s internist; 

Mary Michaels, the mother of a pediatric patient; 

Mary J o Siegel; a patient; 

Mary Susan McGee; the mother of a pediatric patient; 

Lourdes DeLeon; a research associate at the Clinic; 

Alejandro F. Marquis, MD. a family practitioner at the Clinic; 

Margaret Manning, a patient; and 

Robin Ressel, the mother of a pediatric patient. 

The Experts 

Staff called three expert witnesses to testify. Staff called Dr. Fost as an expert in 

physicians’ ethical and professional responsibilities during a clinical investigation.48 Ms. Kloos 

was designated as Staff’s expert in medical billing practices.49 Dr. Wetmore was designated as 
Staff’s expert in the standard of care in the treatment of primarily adult cancer patients.50 

Respondent called two expert witnesses to testify: Dr. Janicki, designated as an expert in FDA— 
approved clinical trials for ANP;51 and Dr. Levin, designated as an expert in the standard of care 

of treatment of cancer patients in a private setting.52 Respondent also provided expert testimony 

Dr. Fost’s prefiled testimony was admitted into evidence as Staff Ex. 68.01. 

Ms. Kloos’s prefiled testimony was admitted into evidence as Staff Ex. 68.02. 
Dr. Wetmore’s prefiled testimony was admitted into evidence as Staff Ex. 6803. 
Dr. Janicki’s prefiled testimony was admitted into evidence as Resp. BX. 158. 
Dr. Levin’s prefiled testimony was admitted into evidence as Resp. BX. 165.
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regarding the standard of care; however, his testimony will be considered when addressing 
Staff’s specific allegations. 

1. Staff’s Experts 

a. Dr. Fost 

Dr. Post is a Wisconsin board—certified pediatrician and a bioethicist.53 He completed his 
residency in 1967, was chief resident at Johns Hopkins Hospital from 1969 through 1971, and 

was an assistant professor in the Department of Pediatrics at Johns Hopkins Hospital from 1971 

through 1973. Dr. Fost has been associated with the University of Wisconsin since 1973 in a 

number of positions including assistant professor in the Department of Pediatrics, Director of the 
Program in Bioethics, Professor of Pediatrics and Medical History & Bioethics, Chair of the 
Bioethics Advisory Committee, and Vice Chair of the Department of Medical History & 
Bioethics.54 Dr. Fost is a member of the American Academy of Pediatrics, the American Society 
of Human Genetics, and the American Society of Bioethics and Humanities,55 While at the 

University of Wisconsin, Dr. Fost practiced pediatric clinical medicine until June 2014.56 

Dr. Fost does not have specialty training in the treatment of patients with cancer.57 He has 
served as a member of several institutional research boards, including as the chair of the 

University of Wisconsin Health Science Center’s Institutional Review Board for 31 years.58 He 
has never been a principal investigator in a cancer clinical trial.59 

u- 3 StaffEx. 61.34 at 45152; StaffEx. 68.01 at 1. 
5“ StaffEx. 61.B.4. 
55 StaffEx. 61.B.4 at 45159. 
5" StaffEx. 68.01 at3. 
57 Tr. V01. 1 at 97. 
8 StaffEx. 68.01 at 4-5, 

59 Tr. V01. 1 at 112-113.

0.
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b. Ms. Kloos 

Ms. Kloos is a registered nurse and a' certified Nurse Executive. She has worked over 

twenty years in oncology administration and women’s health services at Shumpert Medical 

Center in Shreveport, Louisiana; Monmouth Medical Center in Long Branch, New Jersey; 
Hunterdon Medical Center in Flemington, New Jersey; Roper Saint Frances Healthcare in 

Charleston, South Carolina; and for the last nine years at the Oncology Management Consulting 
Group in Pipersville, Pennsylvania.60 Ms. Kloos is a member of the Association of Cancer 
Executives.61 She has been responsible for financial coding and billing for oncology centers 

since 1991, and is familiar with Current Procedural Terminology (CPT) codes and the CPT 
manual that are used for billing of medical services.62 

c. Dr. Wetmore 

Dr. Wetmore is board-certified in pediatrics and in pediatric hematology/oncology/bone 
marrow transplant.63 She completed her residency in 1997, and was a professor» at the Mayo 
Medical School and a consultant in the Department of Pediatrics at the Mayo Clinic from 2002— 
2010.64 Since 2014, Dr. Wetmore has been the Director of the Center for Clinical and 

Translational Research for the Department of Pediatrics at Emory University School of Medicine 
where she cares for oncology patients in the outpatient as well as inpatient setting.65 

Dr. Wetmore is a member of the Medical Advisory Board for the Make-A-Wish Foundation, the 
Development Therapeutics Committee of the Children’s Oncology Group, and the Lifespan 

Domain Task Force of the National Center for Advancing Translational Science.66 

6° StaffEx. 61.C.5 at 4522245223. 
6‘ StaffEx. 61.05 at 45223. 
62 StaffEx. 68.02 at2. 
63 StaffEx. 68.03 at4. 
6“ StaffEx. 61.A.3 at 45106. 
65 StaffEx. 68.03 at 3. 
6“ StaffEx. 61.A.3 at 45107.
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Dr. Wetmore is a pediatric oncologist and has not been the primary treating physician for 
67 69 adults with colon cancer, or pancreatic cancer.70 She stated mesothelioma,68 kidney cancer, 

that in preparation for her involvement in this case she relied on the National Comprehensive 

Cancer Network (N CCN) guidelines that pertained to the cancers Patients A through G and other 
adult patients had to form her opinions. However, the NCCN guidelines Dr. Wetmore relied on 
that were admitted into evidence were not published during the time these patients were being 

treated.71 

The ALJs note that Dr. Wetmore also testified that Patient D “did not receive the standard 
of care and was exposed to medications that are not documented to cross the blood brain barrier . 

. 
3’72 She stated that Respondent had violated the standard of care in treating Patient D by 

failing to allow a “wash-out” period after discontinuing one drug before beginning another.73 

Contrary to Dr. Wetmore’s testimony and report, Patient D received no treatment or therapy at 
the Clinic.74 

2. Respondent’s Experts 

a. Dr. Levin 

Dr. Levin is board-certified in internal medicine, oncology, and hematology. He 
completed his residency in 1987, and has practiced medical oncology and hematology in a 

variety of settings, including several academic institutions, for over 25 years.75 He has served as 

67 Tr. Vol.3 at 28. 
68 Tr. v61. 3 at 27-28. 
69 Tr. v61. 3 at 20. 
7° Tr. v61. 3 at28. 
7‘ Tr. Vol.3 at 99; StaffEx. 63, 
72 StaffEx. 68.03 at 49. 
73 StaffEx. 68.03 at 48; Tr. v61. 3 at 22. 
7“ Tr. v61. 3 at 22. 
75 Resp. Ex. 165 atil.



SOAH DOCKET NO. 503-14-1342.MD PROPOSAL FOR DECISION PAGE 17 

the Chief of Hematology and Oncology at the Lincoln Medical Center; Director of the 

Hereditary Cancer Clinic and Director of Clinical Research at Holy Name Hospital; Acting Chief 
of Hematology and Oncology at the University Hospital in Newark, New Jersey; Director of the 
Sister Patricia Lynch Regional Medical Cancer Center at Holy Name Hospital; and the Director 
of the Cancer Center at the Generations and Northern Manhattan Network of the Health and 

Hospitals Corporation of New York City.76 

Dr. Levin is currently in private practice in Cliffside Park, New J ersey.77 He is President 
of Medical Review and Information Center, a consulting company, and is Chief Trustee of 

Knowledge is Power, a non-profit that supports a cancer information website and cancer 

education outreach.78 He consults with insurance companies and hospitals, is certified in 

utilization review and quality assurance, and has conducted reviews of hundreds of oncology 

practices, similar to what he is doing in this case.79 

Dr. Levin recognized Dr. Wetmore’s expertise in pediatric oncology, but questioned her 

expertise in medical oncology (treating adult patients). According to Dr. Levin, medical 

oncology and pediatric oncology are two different medical specialties. He explained that adult 
cancers, such as renal cancer, colon cancer, pancreatic cancer, mesothelioma, and glioblastoma 

are rare among children. Similarly, most pediatric cancers are rare among adults. He stressed 
that even cancers that both children and adults experience, such as brain cancer, have different 

histologies and different standards and clinical approaches to treatment. Other differences exist 

between the two specialties. Typically, Dr. Levin noted, pediatric oncologists work in an 
academic practice setting (universities or research hospitals), but most medical oncologists work 
in a private practice setting. In addition, most children with cancer, he explained, are enrolled in 
Children’s Oncology Group’s clinical trials or other trials, but less than 2 to 5% of adult cancer 
patients are enrolled in clinical trials.80 

76 Resp. Ex. 118 at 4. 
77 Resp. BX. 118 at 6. 

Resp. BX. 118 at 6. 

Resp. Ex. 165 at 3-4. 

Resp. Ex. 165 at 9.
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b. Dr. Janicki 

Dr. Janicki was licensed to practice medicine in Poland in 1992 and practiced in the 

pediatric cardiology and cardio-surgery department of the Hospital of Wroclaw from 1993— 
1996.81 Dr. Janicki is not licensed to practice medicine in the United States. Beginning in 1997 

he became Director of Medical Documentation for the Clinic, and in 2012 he was appointed Vice 
L82 president of Clinical Trials at the BR He has been involved with the F DA-approved clinical 

trials for ANP since the late 1990’s.83 

IV. STANDARD OF CARE 

The ALJs will discuss the issues using the outline set forth in the ALJ’s Order No. 34, 
where possible, with the specific subjects addressed under the allegation most clearly applicable. 

The ALJs will add a brief summary of the patient’s relevant medical history where appropriate. 
However, before discussing the specific allegations, the ALJs will address the weight to be given 
to the testimony of the oncology experts. 

Dr. Wetmore’s testimony regarding Patient D is troubling. According to Dr. Wetmore, 

she reviewed the Clinic’s medical records carefully before preparing her expert report and her 

prefiled testimony. Yet, she accused Respondent of violating the standard of care in his 

treatment of Patient D, when Patient D received no treatment at the Clinic. Such inattentiveness 
to the accuracy of her report raises concerns about her credibility. 

Dr. Wetmore is an accomplished oncologist, but her primary focus has been in pediatric 
medicine, not in treating adult patients with cancer. Her oncology practice has been in academic 

settings as reflected on her CV, and there is little evidence to show that she has practiced 
oncology in a private practice setting. Therefore, the ALJs find that Dr. Wetmore’s expertise 

8‘ Resp. BX. 120 at 1. 
*2 Resp. BX. 120 at 1. 
83 Resp. Ex. 158 at 2.
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about the treatment of adult cancer and the standard of care used by physicians in private practice 

is limited and will be given little weight. 

A. General Allegations Regarding Patients A through G 

Patients A through G were adult patients with terminal (Stage III and IV) cancer treated 
during the period from 2009 through 2012. Patient A was diagnosed with Stage IV colon cancer. 
Patients B, D, and G were diagnosed with brain cancer. Patient C was diagnosed with 
mesothelioma. Patient E had kidney (renal) cancer, and Patient F had Stage IV pancreatic 
cancer. Although none of these patients were enrolled in a clinical trial, Patient G was treated 
with ANP under an FDA-approved single patient protocol BT—09.84 Patients A, B, C, E, and F 

were treated with sodium phenylbutrate (PB) in combination with other chemotherapy drugs, but 

were not treated with ANP. Patient B was treated with ANP in Germany by his local 
' 

oncologist.85 

1. Potential Toxicities of Combined Drugs 

Staff argues that Respondent violated the standard of care and engaged in non-therapeutic 

prescribing by failing to “articulate a medical rationale for the initial treatment, the subsequent 
changes to this treatment, and for the decision to continue or discontinue the treatment.” The 
parties agreed that “off-label” use of chemotherapy drugs and targeted agents is medically 

accepted and can be within the standard of care. In fact, the NCCN estimated that, in 2005, “50 
1.”86 According to Dr. Wetmore, percent to 75 percent of all uses of cancer therapy were off-labe 

the standard of care in medicine is “what a reasonable physician would do in the same or similar 
circumstances.”87 She stated that when the cancer treatment involves the use of multiple anti- 
cancer agents, the physician must document an adequate rationale for the treatment plan, for any 

8“ Staff Ex. 7.01 at 2449-2464. 
85 Appendix A to this PFD sets forth a list of the brand and generic names of the drugs referred to in the PFD. For 
this PFD, the ALJs will use the brand name where possible. 
86 Tr. Vol. 11 at 158-159. 
*7 StaffEx. 68.03 at 8.
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changes in the treatment plan, and for discontinuing the treatment.88 This medical rationale, she 
. . . . . . 89 mamtamed, must be based on peer—rev1ewed selentific ev1dence of safety and efficacy. 

When combining drugs for off-label purposes, including concurrent combinations of 
cytostatic (stop cells from dividing) and cytotoxic (kill cells) medications, Dr. Wetmore said that, 

because there is serious risk of unknown side effects, it is essential that patients receiving such 

drugs or combination of drugs be adequately monitored for any potential side effects.90 In her 

opinion, Respondent failed to document his medical rationale for using multiple anti—cancer 

agents and failed to properly monitor the patients. 

In addition, Dr. Wetmore testified that Respondent failed to meet the standard of care 
when he changed the patient’s treatment without allowing time for the discontinued drug to 
“wash—out” of the patient’s body before beginning another toxic drug. As an example, 
Dr. Wetmore testified that Respondent prescribed Avastin, a drug which stays in a patient’s 

bloodstream for more than a month, to Patients A, B, C, and F. She stated that the standard of 

care requires waiting six weeks for Avastin to clear the body before starting treatment with 

another drug. Dr. Wetmore explained that this “wash-out” period is necessary to prevent harm 
and/or more toxicity to the patient from having both toxic medications in the body. Dr. Wetmore 
testified that Respondent discontinued the Avastin and started another drug without waiting for 

the Avastin to wash out of the patients’ systems, and consequently exposed these patients to 

increased toxicity and adverse events.91 

Dr. Fost referred to Respondent’s treatment protocol as “innovative therapy” because the 

“drugs or combination of drugs” had not yet been studied for safety and efficacy. Consequently, 

Dr. Fost opined, Respondent exposed these patients to a substantial risk of harm.92 Staff accepts 

that innovative therapy is not necessarily substandard care. However, Staff alleged that 

8“ StaffEx. 68.03 at 9, 18. 
9 StaffEx. 68.03 at30. 

9° StaffEx. 68.03 at 18. 
91 StaffEx. 68.03 at 18-19. 
2 StaffEx. 68.01 at 22-23. 

at)

\D
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Respondent failed to meet the basic standard of care requirements to show that the treatments 

were supported by rational, credible research and general consensus among physicians.93 

Dr. Levin disagreed with Staff. He explained that Respondent provides personalized 
treatment for cancer patients based on genomic and chemo-sensitive tools that were analyzed to 

create a treatment plan unique to each patient. The pathways, not the name of the particular type 
of cancer the patient has, dictate the drugs to use. Dr. Levin acknowledged that this is a new 
treatment paradigm.94 Except for Patient G, Patients A through C and B through F were being 
treated by Respondent with “Personalized or Precision Medicine” (personalized therapy) for 

terminally-ill cancer patients.95 When using this approach, Dr. Levin clarified, the specific type 
of cancer (as well as the tumor’s histology or morphology) is less important than “what targets, 

pathways, proteins, and other specific alterations the patient’s tumor expresses.”96 

In Dr. Levin’s opinion, personalized therapy is a reasonable medical approach for the 

treatment of advanced stages of cancer, and noted that this approach “has been around for the 

past half of a dozen years.”97 Dr. Levin also took issue with Dr. Wetmore’s claim that failing to 

have a wash-out period when Respondent changed a patient’s medication constituted a standard 
of care violation. He testified that the term “wash-out” is a research concept and is irrelevant in 
a clinical setting. Dr. Levin testified that when doing research “it is important to allow the 

previous drug to “wash out” so that, if there is a response to the experimental drug, the 

assessment is not compromised by . . . the effects of the prior drug.”98 

Dr. Levin stated that the use of PB outside of clinical trials is rare. However, he pointed 

out that the Clinic had used PB for at least 10 years and that PB is closely related to ANP, the 
drug Respondent invented. Moreover, the Clinic’s patients typically had no curative treatment 

93 Staff’s Closing Argument at 5. 
94 Resp. Exs. 119 at 1; 165 at 24. 
95 Resp. Ex. 165 at 24-25. 
96 Resp. Ex. 165 at 28. 
97 Resp. Ex. 165 at 25. 

Resp. BX. 165 at 10-11.
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options left.99 At this point, Dr. Levin opined, it is “the physician’s duty, in consultation with the 

patient, to come up with the best possible treatment based on, in part, the physician’s prior 
9:100 experience. When based on the physician’s prior experience, literature, and therapeutic 

rationale, the use of multiple targeted agents and other cancer drugs in advanced stage cancer 

patients is quite common, according to Dr. Levin.101 

2. Inadequate Medical Rationale for Treatment with ANP, PB, and/or the 
Combined Use of Drugs 

Staff asserts that Respondent violated the standard of care because he did not provide an 

adequate medical rationale for the use of ANP, PB, or combinations of drugs. As testified by 
Dr. Wetmore, the basic requirements of adequate medical rationale must include an adequate 

treatment plan clearly stating drug name, dose, and route of administration and monitoring. She 

stated that a physician must document an adequate medical rationale for nonstandard and 

unevaluated doses and combinations of cytostatic and cytotoxic medications. In her review of 

the patients’ medical records, Dr. Wetmore concluded that for Patients A, B, C, D, E, and F, 
Respondent did not provide an adequate treatment plan documented in the medical records by 
listing the planned dosage for medications, addressing the reason for changes in dosages Without 

any rationale or consideration of adverse side effects, making unreliable and inaccurate 

determinations of treatment response, and initiating and/or discontinuing the medications 

administered without giving a reason.102 

Dr. Wetmore testified that the plasma tests Respondent required were not medically 
necessary because the tests needed to be performed on tumor tissue as opposed to blood.103 

However, she agreed that the use of blood biopsies for analysis of proteins as well as DNA is an 

99 Resp. Ex. 165 at 32. 
10° Resp. Ex. 165 at 32. 
“’1 Resp. Ex. 165 at 34. 
“’2 StaffExs. 61.01(A); 68.03 at 47. 
'03 Tr. v61. 4 at 29.
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emerging trend, but only on an exploratory basis.104 In regard to requiring blood tests, Dr. Levin 

testified that, while it is not common to use blood tests to detect targets, it is reasonable to use 

this type of testing to determine what drugs to utilize in patient treatment. This is particularly 

reasonable for terminally-ill patients because it can take weeks to get the results of tumor 

testing. 105 

Dr. Burzynski explained the phases of FDA clinical trials as follows: (1) Phase I clinical 
trials assess toxicity and try to determine the highest tolerated dose; (2) Phase II clinical trials 

seek to find out the treatment effectiveness based on the shrinkage of the tumor; and (3) Phase III 
clinical trials compare the effectiveness of the investigational medication and treatment with the 

best available conventional treatment based on survival rates.106 He stated that ANP, which he 
discovered, affects approximately 100 genes that can cause cancer, which is enough to 

effectively treat some cancer, but not others.107 

Dr. Burzynski testified that blood tests support the medical rationale for treatment 

because it identifies the proteins produced by genes, known as genetic markers, and finds 
fragments of abnormal genes that are causing cancer. He stated that this form of testing is easier 
because it does not require surgery to obtain tissue. In his opinion, this is less invasive, less 

expensive, and provides more information about cancer in the entire body.108 

According to Dr. Burzynski, PB affects the group of enzymes called HDAC, which turns 
off the activity of tumor suppressor genes and promotes cancer.109 Citing to a study of PB in the 
treatment of advanced cancer conducted by Dr. J. Gilbert, et.al., Dr. Burzynski testified that PB 
inhibits cancer cell division or multiplication.110 He pointed out that the FDA has recognized 

‘04 Tr. V01. 14 at 81, 100. 
‘05 Resp. BX. 165 at 46. 
‘06 Tr. VOl. 7 at 66-68. 
‘07 Tr. Vol.7 at 72. 
“’8 Tr. Vol.7 at 89-92. 
‘09 Tr. Vol. 7 at 98-99. 
“0 Tr. V01. 7 at 104-105.
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that possibility that PB may be effective for treatment of malignant brain tumors and certain 
types of aggressive leukemia. 1 11 

‘As noted above, Dr. Levin testified that it is accepted in medical oncology to provide 

personalized or precision medicine outside of clinical trials even though the drugs used have not 

been tested together and are not part of an NCCN treatment recommendation. Dr. Levin 

explained that if a physician prescribed a targeting agent known to affect a particular pathway, 
then it was obvious to him, as a private practice oncologist, the reason why the drug was utilized. 
He was of the opinion that the standard of care does not require the physician to document that 
he prescribed drug X because it affects a certain pathway, and that the medical rationale is 

readily understood by medical oncologists.112 

3. Inadequate Medical Rationale for the Evaluation, Diagnosis, and Treatment 
of the Patients 

As noted above, Dr. Wetmore testified that the basic requirements of an adequate medical 
rationale include the following: (1) the treatment must be predicated on adequate histological 

diagnosis and pathologic confirmation of the cancer; (2) there must be an adequate and complete 

physical examination including mental status examination at each visit and prior to administering 

therapy, and (3) there must be an adequate treatment plan.113 She maintained that establishing a 

baseline for a patient’s mental function is critical when evaluating treatment for brain cancer.114 

She testified that an adequate mental status exam requires a general orientation to person, place, 
and time; an understanding of the diagnosis and purpose for which the patient is being seen; 

verification of the patient’s ability to make decisions for themselves; the ability of the patient to 
take medication as prescribed; the awareness of the risks and side effects of medication; and the 

patient’s frame of mind and general psychiatric condition.115 

“1 Tr. Vol.7 at 99. 
‘2 Tr. Vol. 11 at 162-163. 

3 StaffEx. 68.03 at 10-11. 
4 StaffEx. 68.03 at 44. 
5 StaffEx. 68.03 at 11. 

._.
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Dr. Levin disagreed with Dr. Wetmore’s opinion. He testified that it was not necessary 
or usual to perform a formal mental exam on a cancer patient unless the physician has some 
indication that the patient is not properly oriented. In his opinion, the interaction of the physician 

with the patient and family members is normally sufficient to determine whether the patient is 

adequately oriented to understand and consent to treatment.116 

4. Inadequate Medical Documentation 

Ms. Kloos reviewed the medical records for Patients A through G that Staff made 
available to her in order to determine whether they could support the CPT billing codes. She 

testified that she found numerous medical recordkeeping deficiencies. She noted that many of 
the medical records did not contain signatures, dates, or times of service from the provider who 

“7 Ms. Kloos testified that medical billing records must be authenticated was seeing the patient. 

by the provider to ensure the services rendered were accurately and appropriately documented, 

reviewed, and authenticated. 1 18 

In her expert report, Dr. Wetrnore opined that the medical records for Patients A through 
G were inadequate, inconsistent, and missing portions. She stated that many pages had no date 
and time of service and that it was often impossible to tell who provided the care to a patient. 
For medications administered, it was unclear to her what dosage a patient received, the frequency 
of administration, and the concentration (for infusions). Handwritten orders were often unclear, 

improper, and used non-standard language when prescribing the chemotherapy drugs. She found 
numerous pages missing from the records she reviewed, such as progress notes. There was no 
underlying imaging for most of the diagnostic scans ordered by the Clinic, as well as imaging 

ordered prior to the patients’ appearing at the Clinic. Imaging reports created by the Clinic 

“6 Resp. BX. 165 at41. 
“7 StaffEx. 68.02 at 11. 
“8 StaffEx. 68.02 at 103.
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showed results inconsistent with outside radiology reports, with no explanation for the 

difference. 1 19 

Following his review of the medical records, Dr. Levin reported that the medical records 

of the Clinic were well organized, presented a clear picture, and contained all relevant 

laboratory, imaging, and pathology reports. He stated that he had no difficulty in understanding 
the development of the treatment plan over time, the basis for the treatment decisions, and the 

results for the treatment from the medical records of the Clinic.120 

5. ALJs’ Analysis 

:1. Potential Toxicities of Combined Drugs 

Staff argued that, based on the testimony of Dr. Wetmore, Respondent violated the 

standard of care and engaged in non-therapeutic prescribing by failing to “articulate a medical 

rationale” for the initial treatment, subsequent treatment changes, and the decision to continue or 

discontinue the treatment. When combining drugs for off-label purposes, Dr. Wetmore stated 
that it was essential that patients receiving such drugs or combination of drugs be adequately 

monitored for any potential side effects. 

The parties agree that “off-label” use of chemotherapy drugs and targeted agents is 

medically accepted and can be within the standard of care. Respondent argues that his medical 

rationale was based on the clinical judgment of the treating physicians, was explained to the 
patients with the potential risks and side effects discussed, and that the patients were monitored, 

all as reflected in the medical records. Additionally, Respondent asserts that the side effects - 

were sufficiently documented in the written informed consent forms signed by the patients. 

Dr. Wetmore stated that Respondent failed to meet the standard of care when each toxic 
drug used in the treatment of a patient was started without allowing time for the discontinued 

“9 Staff Ex. 61.01(A) at 45075, 45079, 45080-45081, 45085, 45087-45088, 45090-45091, 45092-45093. 
12° Resp. Ex. 165 at 43.

’
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drug to “wash-out” of the patient’s body. Dr. Levin disagreed that failing to have a wash-out 

period constituted a standard of care violation, because the term “wash-out” is a research concept 

and is irrelevant in a clinical setting, particularly when treating terminally ill cancer patients. 

Staff alleged that Respondent failed to meet the basic standard of care requirements to 

show that the treatments were supported by rational, credible research and general consensus 
among physicians. Staff relied on Dr. Fost’s testimony that Respondent exposed his patients to a 

substantial risk of harm because the drugs or combination of drugs had not yet been studied for 
safety and efficacy. Dr. Levin disagreed with Staff and asserted that Respondent’s personalized 

treatment for cancer patients served to create a treatment plan unique to each patient. In 

Dr. Levin’s opinion, personalized therapy is a reasonable medical approach for the treatment of 

advanced stages of cancer and, when based on the physician’s prior experience, literature, and 
therapeutic rationale, the use of multiple-targeted agents, including PB and other cancer drugs, in 
advanced stage cancer patients is quite common for patients who were without curative treatment 
options, as were those patients of the Clinic.121 

Dr. Levin’s testimony was persuasive on this issue. The patients, for the most part, had 
received conventional treatment that had been unsuccessful. As noted by Dr. Levin, these 
patients had typically run out of treatment options when they appeared at the Clinic, or had 
chosen not to undergo further traditional treatments such as surgery, radiation, or conventional 

chemotherapy. The patients were made aware in the informed consent forms and in consultation 
with the treating physicians that the drugs and combinations of drugs could have side effects, 
both known and unknown. The medical records for the patients contain numerous accounts of 
discussions between the patients and Clinic personnel regarding side effects being experienced 
and changes in treatment to deal with those side effects. In addition, the research concept of a 

“wash-out” period so important to Dr. Wetmore is irrelevant in the private oncology clinic 

setting when treating patients with such poor prognoses. Accordingly, the ALJs do not find that 

'21 Resp. Ex. 165 at 25.
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Staff has established that there was a common failure to make Patients A through G aware of the 
potential toxicities of the combination of drugs. 

b. Inadequate Medical Rationale for Treatment with ANP, PB, 
and/or the Combined Use of Drugs 

Staff argued that Respondent prescribed nonstandard and unevaluated doses of multiple 

anti-cancer medications to these patients that went beyond the established off—label use of FDA— 
approved medications, without an adequate, documented medical rationale. 

Respondent asserted that the medications chosen were based on one or more of the 

following factors: (1) type of cancer; (2) stage of cancer and curative options; (3) testing of , 

malignant tissue that identified the affected pathway and medications with potential clinical 

benefits; (4) blood testing that measures proteins in the blood; (5) past experience and history 

with medications in the treatment of cancer; (6) case reviews and medical literature; and (7) the 

physician’s training and clinical judgment. 

However, Dr. Wetmore maintained that the patients’ medical records did not meet the 
basic requirements of adequate medical rationale. She asserted that, in her opinion, the medical 

records must include adequate histological diagnosis and pathologic confirmation of the cancer; 

an adequate and complete physical examination; a treatment plan clearly stating the drug name, 

dose, and route of administration and monitoring; and documentation of an adequate medical 

rationale for nonstandard and unevaluated doses and combinations of cytostatic and cytotoxic 

medications. 

As noted above, Dr. Levin disagreed that this standard as advocated by Dr. Wetmore is 
the generally accepted standard for private practice cancer clinics. He was of the opinion that the 
standard of care does not require the physician to document that he prescribed a certain drug 

because it affects a certain pathway because the rationale is understood by medical oncologists.
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In regard to PB, Dr. Burzynski testified that PB affects the group of enzymes that turn off 
the activity of tumor suppressor genes and thus promote cancer. Dr. Levin supported this 

testimony, citing to what he considered to be a reliable and authoritative 2002 article in the 

Journal of Neuro-Oncology entitled “Complete Response of a Current, Multicentric Malignant 

Glioma in a Patient Treated With Sodium Phenylbutyrate.” The article states, “Phenylbutyrate is 

a well-tolerated oral agent that shows potential for the treatment of malignant gliomas.”122 

Dr. Burzynski testified that ANP adequately treats some cancers, but not others. The ALJs find 
this testimony to be persuasive. 

As for the use of blood tests, the weight of the testimony is that they are more commonly 
used today, are less invasive, are less expensive, are quicker to analyze, and provide a more 

complete picture of the cancer. 

Again, Dr. Levin’s testimony appears to be more credible. He pointed out that it is 

accepted in medical oncology to provide personalized or precision medicine outside of clinical 

trials even though the use of drugs, such as ANP and PB, have not been tested together. He 
clarified that without a curative option, physicians in private practice have much greater 
flexibility in treating terminal patients and greater leeway in prescribing drugs. He stated that a 

private practice oncologist would understand the medical rationale for the specific drugs 

prescribed by the Clinic physicians. In addition, the use of blood tests by Respondent during the 

relevant period appears to now be a generally-accepted procedure. Accordingly, the ALJs do not 
find that Staff has established that there was a common failure to provide adequate medical 
rationale for treatment with ANP, PB, and/or the combined use of drugs to Patients A through G. 

c. Inadequate Medical Rationale for the Evaluation, Diagnosis, 
and Treatment of the Patients 

Staff argues that Respondent failed to meet the standard of care because the Clinic did 

not document an adequate and complete histological diagnosis of cancer and pathologic 

confirmation, an adequate and complete physical examination, and a mental status exam. 

‘22 Tr. Vol. 11 at 166.



SOAH DOCKET NO. 503-14-1342.MD PROPOSAL FOR DECISION PAGE 30 

Staff asserts that although Patients A through G were given a physical exam on the first 
day the patients attended the Clinic, and sometimes on the patient’s subsequent Visits to the 

Clinic, there was no documentation of a physical exam aimed at the patient’s area of concern. 
Staff argued that Respondent should have performed a physical evaluation of the patients each 

time a patient presented to the clinic, but that there is no documentation of anyone, licensed or 

unlicensed, performing physical evaluations of Patients A through G after the first day. Nor 
were physical exams performed when the patients were discharged from the Clinic. Staff asserts 

that this practice was inadequate to keep these patients’ caregivers apprised of patients’ progress, 
to monitor for potential side effects from the multiple drugs Respondent was prescribing and that 
were initiated during the patients’ time at the clinic, and to address patients’ documented 

complaints of physical symptoms while present at the Clinic. Staff argues that Respondent failed 

to perform adequate mental status exams on Patients B, C, D, and G, along with a physical exam 
each time the patient presented to the Clinic. 

Respondent’s point, that there is no expert evidence that the standard of care requires a 

physical examination to be performed at every patient visit, is well—taken. Moreover, the 

diagnostic studies were routinely ordered by the treating team with the recommended treatment 
being based on the results of those studies. 

Staff argues that the standard of care for the treatment of cancer requires an adequate 

histologic diagnosis and pathologic confirmation before creating a treatment plan or initiating 

treatment, as testified to by Dr. Wetmore, because treatment decisions vary based on the location 

of the primary tumor site and the disease advancement. However, as pointed out by Respondent, 
Patients A through G appeared at the Clinic after having been diagnosed with Stage 3 or 4 cancer 
and they were entitled to decline further invasive testing that they did not want or need. 

There is insufficient evidence to establish that the standard of care requires that a physical 

exam be performed at every visit. The medical records indicate that the treating team for each 
patient monitored the patient’s condition, discussed drug side effects, and otherwise remained 

aware of the patient’s current condition. There is no evidence that the Respondent did not know
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of the prior diagnosis as well as prognosis of each patient’s disease that he treated. Staff pointed 

to no instance when any of the patients indicated at the time of treatmenta lack of understanding 
as to the recommended treatment. There was no need for a mental exam because, as discussed 
below, Patient B was accompanied by his personal physician, Patient C was accompanied by his 
wife, and Patient G was accompanied by her mother, each of whom provided sufficient backup if 
any confusion developed in the mind of the patient about the treatment being recommended.123 

As noted above, Patient D was not even treated at the Clinic. Based on the record, Staff has 

failed to establish that there was a common failure to provide adequate medical rationale for the 
evaluation, diagnosis, and treatment of Patients A through G. 

d. Inadequate Medical Documentation 

Staff argues that Respondent failed to keep adequate, complete, and accurate medical 

records for these seven patients in violation of the standard of care. 

As noted above, Ms. Kloos testified that many of the medical records that were made 
available were not authenticated by the provider to ensure the services rendered were accurately 

and appropriately documented, reviewed, and authenticated. Dr. Wetmore agreed with 
Ms. Kloos that the medical records for Patients A through G were inadequate, inconsistent, and 
incomplete. On the other hand, Dr. Levin testified that the medical records were well- 
organized, presented a clear picture, and contained all relevant laboratory, imaging, and 

pathology reports. 

For example, on October 11, 2010, Patient A had a physical and neuro/psychiatric 
examination. Although the physician who performed the examination is not named in the 
examination report, Dr. Valladares signed the Oncology Report on that same date.124 On 
February 7, 2011, Patient B had a physical examination. Although the physician who performed 
the examination is not named in the examination report, Dr. Valladares signed the Oncology 

123 Patients A, E, and F did not brain cancer and therefore did not require a mental exam. 
‘24 Staff Ex. 5.02.A at 712-716, 791-792.



SOAH DOCKET N O. 503-14-1342.MD PROPOSAL FOR DECISION PAGE 32 

Report on that same date.125 On May 11, 2010, Patient C had a physical and neuro/psychiatric 
examination. Although the physician who performed the examination is not named in the 

examination report, Dr. Marquis signed the progress notes for that same date. 126 

There is evidence in the record as shown above that certain of the records did not have 

the provider name, although they did have the date the services were provided. However, in 

each case, contemporary documents indicate that the provider was either Dr. Valladares or 

Dr. Marquis. The prescription orders all had provider signatures some that illegible, but could be 

compared to the provider’s signature on other forms where they were clearly identified. 

Accordingly, the medical records as a whole were adequate to ensure that the services were 

rendered and by whom they were provided. Based on the record, the ALJ S determined that Staff 
failed to establish that there was inadequate medical documentation for Patients A through G. 

B. Individual Allegations Regarding Patient A 

On September 16, 2010, Patient A, a 67-year-old man, had a CT scan of his abdomen that 
showed “multiple poorly defined heterogeneously enhancing lesions within the liver most 

consistent with metastatic disease.” On September 27, 2010, Patient A had a sigmoidoscopy of 
the colon and rectum and biopsy of a large polypoid mass partially blocking his colon. The 

pathology report showed that the mass was “suspicious for invasive adenocarcinoma.”127 

Dr. Burzynski testified that Patient A had previously declined his local oncologist’s 

recommendations of surgery and chemotherapy. He confirmed that the cancer from which 
Patient A suffered is uniformly fatal, with the medium survival rate being approximately five 
months. 128 

Patient A had an initial consultation at the Clinic on October 7, 2010.129 On that same 
date, Patient A had a physical and neuro/psychiatric examination. While it is not clear from the 
‘25 Staff Ex. 5.03.A at 1015-1017, 1062. 
‘26 StaffEx. 5.04A at 1353-1355, 1440. 
127 Staff Ex. 5.02.A at 616, 639, 641,. 
‘28 Tr. Vol.3 at 115—19. 
‘29 Staff Ex. 5.02.A at 718.



SOAH DOCKET N O. 503-14—1342.MD PROPOSAL FOR DECISION PAGE 33 

examination report who performed the examination,130 Patient A’s wife testified that Patient A 
was examined by Dr. Valladares and Tolib Rakhmanov, who was a research associate (RA). 
Senior Oncologist Dr. Valladares signed a history and physical report dated that same day that 

diagnosed Patient A with adenocarcinoma of the colon, invasive, with metastases to the liver.131 
On October 11, 2010, Respondent recommended that his treatment be initiated with a regimen of 
PB and hydrocodone for pain.132 Patient A was treated by the Clinic from October 2010, through 
October 2011. Patient A died on November 4, 2011. 

Patient A’s wife, who was present during all but one of Patient A’s Visits at the Clinic, 
testified that Respondent met with them on the first day that they arrived. She testified that, after 

the first day, the only “doctor” they saw was RA Rakhmanov, whom she did not recall 

performing any physical examinations of Patient A subsequent to the first day. 133 

1. Inadequate Medical Rationale for Changing Therapy 

In its Complaint, Staff alleges that in April 2011, there was no medical rationale for 

discontinuing some of the Patient A’s medications because the radiology imaging of the affected 

area revealed that the tumor was shrinking, but that by mid-May 2011 radiology imaging showed 
that the tumor was growing larger. 

On October 11, 2010, Patient A started receiving 133.134 On October 13, 2010, Patient A 
started taking Xeloda (capecitabine).135 Xeloda was placed on hold on October 14, 2010, due to 
a “non—conclusive pathology report of 9/27/10”, but was restarted on October 17, 2010.136 On 

2 

October 15, 2010, Patient A began receiving Avastin, which he had been taking before his initial 
visit at the Clinic (oral dose of 25 mg/ml). At the Clinic, Avastin was administered 

13° Staff Ex. 5.02.A at 712-716. 
131 Staff Ex. 5.02.A at 791-792. 
132 Staff Ex. 5.02.A at 718, 791-792. 
‘33 Tr. Vol. 5 at 16-22. 
‘34 StaffEx. 5.02.A at 718. 
‘35 StaffEx. 5.02.A at 720, 810. 
‘36 StaffEx. 5.02.A at 492, 721, 807.
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intravenously (IV) at a dosage of 2.5 mg/kg.137 On October 19, 2010, Respondent complained of 
mild dizziness and generalized weakness.138 On October 22, 2010, the Avastin dosage was 
doubled to 5 mg/kg.139 On October 25, 2010, Patient A was discharged home to continue 
treatment under the care of his local oncologist, Lance Lassiter, MD. Patient A was instructed 
to continue the same regimen including the PB, Xeloda, and Avastin. In addition, he was 

directed to start taking Eloxatin (oxaliplatin) if a new biopsy indicated the mass in his colon was 
adenocarcinoma. 140 

The notes from Patient A’s local oncologist, Dr. Lassiter, from his January 31, 2011 

office visit with Patient A indicated that the comparison of a CT scan taken on January 28, 2011, 
to a CT scan taken on September 16, 2010, showed Patient A had a positive response to the 
treatment and that the patient no longer experienced pain and fatigue.141 On November 8, 2010, 
Dr. Lassiter had added Eloxatin (oxaliplatin) to Patient A’s treatment regimen.142 On 
April 11, 2011, Dr. Lassiter discontinued Eloxatin due to intermittent neuropathy, but continued 

the Xeloda (the dosage of which he wanted to increase) and Avastin.143 On April 26, 2011, 
Dr. Marquis concurred with Dr. Lassiter’s decision to increase the dosage of Xeloda.144 On 
April 28, 2011, an enlarged nodule in the right upper lobe of Patient A’s lungs was detected on a 

CT scan, and was later confirmed on a PET scan taken on August 3, 2011.145 

Dr. Wetmore testified that, in general, cOmbinations of drugs that are part of the 

medication regimen may have to be altered based on the patient’s experience while on the 
regimen. She stated that reasons for such a change include: (1) the drugs utilized are ineffective; 

‘37 StaffEx. 5.02.A at 716, 722. 
138 Staff Ex. 5.02.A at 724. 
‘39 StaffEx. 5.02.A at 727. 
“‘0 StaffEx. 5.02.A at 728, 845. 
‘4‘ StaffEx. 5.02.A at 695-696. 
“2 Staff Ex. 5.02.A at 704—705. 
‘43 Staff Ex. 5.02.A at 675-676. 
‘44 StaffEx. 5.02.A at 750. 
‘45 StaffEx. 5.02.A at 599-600, 618-619.
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(2) better patient response is desired; (3) patient exhibits intolerance to the medications; and (4) 

untoward side effects occur.146 

Dr. Levin testified that the initial treatment of Patient A initiated at the Clinic included 
oral Cape (Xeloda and oxaliplatin) and Avastin, which was an NCCN-recommended regimen 
and was considered standard therapy. 147 

Although, in its Closing Argument, Staff pointed to changes in therapy that occurred in 

August 2011, the only change in therapy set forth in Staff’s Complaint is one in April 2011.148 

That change in therapy was made not by Respondent but by Dr. Lassiter, the physician in contact 
with Patient A who was observing how the patient was responding to the treatment. Dr. Marquis 

only concurred with Dr. Lassiter that an increase in the dosage of Xeloda was necessary. 

Accordingly, Staff has failed to establish that Respondent had an inadequate rationale for 

changing the therapy in April 2011. 

2. Unnecessary Oxygen Saturation Measurements 

Staff asserts that Respondent directed the unnecessary measurement of Patient A’s 

oxygen saturation as the patient had no significant pulmonary disease. 

Dr. Wetmore testified that cancer in one part of the body has the potential to affect 
multiple organ systems, including the lungs. She agreed that measuring a patient’s oxygen 

saturation level is a way to evaluate lung function. Nevertheless, she stated that measuring 

Patient A’s oxygen saturation level was not useful, relevant, or appropriate to guide his clinical 
care.149 However, Staff has failed to point out any testimony by Dr. Wetmore to explain the 
basis of her opinion. 

“6 Tr. Vol.3 at 52- 53. 
147 Resp. BX. 165 at 42. 
148 See Tex. Gov’t Code § 2001.052. Even if the issue had been included in the pleadings, the record indicates that 
the change in therapy on August 29, 2011, was based on concerns raised by Dr. Lassiter during his office visit with 
Patient A on August 22, 2011. Staff Ex. 5.02.A at 648-650, 785-789. 
‘49 Tr. Vol. 3 at 71-72; StaffEx. 68.03 at 17-18.
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Dr. Burzynski testified that patients with terminal diagnoses and who are elderly often 
experience pulmonary problems, infections such as bronchitis or pneumonia, pulmonary 

embolisms, or cancer that had spread to their lungs. He stated that oxygen saturation testing in 
these patients gives advance notice to the treating physicians of additional problems that could 

prove fatal. In addition, elderly patients are often immunosuppressed and have decreased 

respiratory function. Dr. Burzynski testified that 25% of elderly cancer patients die from 
pulmonary infections, and the oxygen saturation test helps identify those who need to be 
transferred to intensive care, where they can receive proper treatment for the pulmonary issues. 

This is why the Clinic routinely tested for oxygen saturation levels in patients such as Patient A, 
whose cancer metastasized to his lungs. 150 

Dr. Levin agreed with Dr. Burzynski that the Clinic used the oxygen saturation test as an 

“early trip wire” for progressive disease to the lungs or other lung problems that sometimes 

result from the cancer or its treatment. He stated that while the frequent use of such tests on 
Clinic patients was unusual, he opined that it was not unreasonable, given the Clinic’s population 

of very sick patients.151 

Based on the testimony of Dr. Burzynski and of Dr. Levin, as well as the general 

statements by Dr. Wetmore as to the benefits that can be gained from oxygen saturation testing 
to evaluate lung function, the ALJs do not find that Staff has established that oxygen saturation 
tests were medically unnecessary—particularly in View of the fact that the cancer had 

metastasized to Patient A’s lungs. 

3. Unnecessary and Costly Laboratory Testing without \Demonstrable Benefit 

Staff alleges that Respondent ordered and improperly relied upon testing that was 

unnecessary for Patient A’s cancer. 

Dr. Wetmore stated that, in most cases, testing was done on genes or proteins that were 
irrelevant to front-line therapy of Patient A’s colon tumor. She stated that gene—related EGFR, 

‘50 Tr. Vol. 7 at 115-116, Vol. 8 at 95-99. 
151 Resp. Ex. 165 at 38.
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VEGF and Her2 levels (testing for which was set out in the initial treatment plan) were 

unnecessary because these tests did not contribute to decisions made for treatment. She asserted 

that “it was already known in the medical community that mutation of a specific gene was not 
typically found in his tumor type.”152 In addition, she stated that Respondent improperly based 

treatment decisions on testing results from non-malignant tissue. In her opinion, the initial results of 

tissue testing for the KRAS mutation (a commonly mutated gene in cancer) came back negative 
because the tissue sample was from a non-malignant tissue specimen. She asserted that 

Respondent’s treatment plan was based on this erroneous result.153 She noted that a second biopsy 

taken later captured malignant tissue showing that the tumor contained the KRAS mutation.154 

Dr. Levin testified that the use of the genomic blood and tissue testing was necessary, if not 

imperative, to obtain as much information as possible about the patient’s tumor and, in particular, to 
provide guidance as to what targeted drugs to provide the patient. He pointed out that this 

personalized medicine approach differs from the older protocol approach relied on by Dr. Wetmore. 

Her approach does not consider that cancers in some patients have characteristics for which there are 

targeted agents that could be effective, even though not approved or even studied in the patient’s type 

of cancer.155 

The ALJs found Dr. Levin’s testimony most persuasive. He pointed out that the use of 
genomic testing of blood and tissue by Respondent is necessary to determine what targeted agents 

should be used. This appears to be the non-conventional method of diagnosis contemplated by the 

Board Rule at 22 TAC §200.3(1). As for the two tissue samples, any error that may have 
occurred as a result of the first test was corrected by the second test. Accordingly, the ALJs do 
not find that Staff has established that Respondent used unnecessary and costly laboratory testing 
without demonstrable benefit in the treatment of Patient A.

l u: 2 StaffEx. 68.03 at 18. 
‘53 Tr. v61. 4 at 28-30. 
‘4 StaffEx. 68.03 at 15-16. 
‘55 Resp. Ex. 165 at 45-46. 

lII
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C. Individual Allegations Regarding Patient B 

Patient B was a 56-year-old man who was diagnosed on December 12, 2010, with 

glioblastoma, grade IV, a fast-growing, aggressive type of central nervous system tumor that 

forms on the supportive tissue of the brain. He had debulking surgery on December 20, 2010, to 
remove as much of the tumor as possible. On February 7, 2011, Patient B and his personal 
physician, Dr. Demetri Brandt, traveled from the Ukraine and Germany to the Clinic to meet 
with Respondent. Dr. Valladares acknowledged in his initial oncology report that the standard of 

care treatment post-debulking is radiation therapy with Temodar (temozolomide) and an MRI of 
the brain every three months. Because Patient B had rejected this conventional treatment, 
Respondent recommended genetic testing, an MRI of the head, and administration of PB. 
Respondent also recommended considering therapy with Afinitor (everolimus), Votrient 

(pazopanib), Zolinza, Tarceva, and Avastin.156 From February 8-17, 2011, Patient B consented 
to the administration of PB, Votrient, Avastin, and Tarceva, which were prescribed by 
Dr. Valladares. 

On March 4, 2011, Patient B left the Clinic and returned to Germany under the care of 
Dr. Brandt. He was advised to continue treatment with PB, Votrient, and Avastin, but to 
discontinue the PB after four weeks and to start ANP treatments under the supervision of 
Dr. Brandt.157 On March 17, 2011, an MRI of the patient’s brain indicated a moderate decrease 
of the size of the enhancing lesion.158 On March 21, 2011, after evaluating the MRI, Respondent 
recommended that Patient B discontinue the PB and start the ANP treatment.159 On July 6 

through 7, 2011, Patient B also consented to the administration of Afinitor, Sprycel (dastinib), 
and Nexavar (sorafenib).160 Dr. Brandt stopped treating Patient B with ANP at the end of 
September 2011. Patient B died on December 18, 2011. 

‘56 StaffEx. 5.03.A at 1015—1023; 1062—1064. 
‘57 StaffEx. 5.03.A at 1135-37. 
15* StaffEx. 5.03.A at 978-979. » 

1” StaffEx. 5.03.A at 1065. 
16° StaffEx. 5.03.A at 897-919.
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1. Inadequate Medical Rationale for Using ANP 

Staff alleges that Respondent made the treatment recommendation that Patient B receive 
ANP outside of a clinical trial or special exception and that, at least as of February 28, 2011, 
Patient B was receiving ANP in the United States without FDA approval. Staff asserts that there 

is no rationale in the medical records for Respondent’s decision to train Patient B and/or his 
physician in the administration of ANP, or Respondent’s decision to prescribe and provide ANP 
to Patient B. 

A physician order dated February 11, 2011, states that Patient B was “in training for 
antineoplastons/private practice” and the treatment plan on that date includes considering 

Patient B for a clinical trial for ANP.161 On February 17, 2011, Respondent wrote a letter stating 
that Respondent had approval to use ANP, a drug approved by the FDA for use in a clinical trial 
or as part of a special exception. The letter further states that Patient B would be taking ANP in 
Germany under Dr. Brandt’s supervision.162 On February 28, 2011, the treatment plan states 
that Patient B would continue receiving ANP. However, the actual starting of the administration 
of ANP was March 21, 2011, when the patient was in Germany.163 Respondent shipped ANP to 
Dr. Brandt in Germany on March 21 and April 11, 2011, and to Patient B in the Ukraine from 
March 7 through August 31, 2011.164 

Dr. Burzynski testified that in his initial meeting with Patient B, the patient indicated he 

was seeking ANP treatment from the Clinic.165 He agreed that Patient B was not treated with 
ANP under a FDA-approved clinical study or as a single patient protocol, a compassionate 
exception, or a special exception.166 He testified that the reason for the substitution of ANP for 
PB was that the patient requested in March that he be switched to intravenous ANP treatment 

‘6‘ StaffEx. 5.03.A at 1021, 1092. 
‘62 Staff Ex. 5.03.A at 1188. 
‘63 StaffEx. 5.03.A at 1035, 1041. 
16“ StaffEx. 64.B at 45750-45755. 
‘65 Tr. Vol.7 at 176-177. 
1“ Tr. Vol. 8 at 189.
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because he had difficulty tolerating the number of PB tablets he was required to take, and it was 
believed by the patient and his local oncologist that intravenous ANP treatment would be more 
powerful and effective.167 

The record is clear that Patient B initially went to the Clinic in order to receive treatment 
with ANP. Instead, he was treated with PB until he returned to Germany, where Dr. Brandt 
started the ANP treatment. The reference to the continuation of ANP in the February 28, 2011 
note referred to training the patient and Dr. Brandt in the administration of ANP rather than 
actual administering of ANP. No Clinic orders indicate that ANP was administered to Patient B 
until March 21, 2011, after he was in Germany. As noted above, Dr. Levin testified that patients 
have a right to utilize personalized or precision medicine outside of clinical trials. This is 

consistent with Board Rule 200.1 that “recognizes that patients have a right to seek 

complementary and alternative therapies.” Accordingly, the ALJs find that the request of Patient 
B to be treated with ANP in Germany as allowed by the FDA, together with Respondent’s 
experience with ANP, provided sufficient rationale for granting that request. 

2. Inadequate Medical Rationale for Changing Therapy 

In its Complaint, Staff alleges that Respondent failed to document an adequate medical 

rationale for the March 21, 2011 change from PB to ANP. This issue has been adequately 

discussed above. In addition, Patient B was directed to hold Votrient because he was suffering 
from blisters on his hands and feet, which appears to be a valid reason for doing so.168 

In its Original Brief, Staff argued about changes in therapies that occurred on June 17 and 

July 1, 2011. Again, these latter two incidents were not included in the pleading and cannot be 

addressed. 169 

‘67 Tr. Vol. 7 at 172-173. 
‘68 Staff Ex. 5.03.A at 1041. 
169 Tex. Gov’t Code § 2001.052. Even if the incidents had been included in the pleadings, the records indicate that 
the change in therapy adopted by Respondent on June 17, 2011, was based on the genetic testing previously 
discussed as well as progression of the tumor. Staff Ex. 5.02.A at 1060-1061; Tr. Vol. 7 at 174—175. As for the 
change on July 1, 2011, the physician order signed by Dr. Marquis indicates that the change was recommended by 
Dr. Burzynski, who testified that the change was again based on the genomic testing. Tr. Vol. 7 at 175-176.
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3. Misrepresentations to United States Customs Agents 

Staff alleges that Respondent misrepresented to United States Customs agents that 

Patient B was being treated with ANP in an FDA-approved clinical study. The 

February 17, 2011 letter was addressed “To Whom It May Concern” and stated that Patient B 
would be taking ANP in Germany under Dr. Brandt’s supervision. It also stated that Respondent 

had approval to use ANP in clinical trials and on a special exception basis, which was true. 
While it does not say that Patient B was in such a clinical trial or on such a special exception 
basis, a reasonable person could conclude that such a representation was the purpose for 

including the statement in the letter in the first place. However, there was no harm done because 

Patient B did not need to be in a clinical trial in order for Respondent to ship ANP to Germany, 
in that the FDA did not require that it give its approval for shipments of ANP to Germany. 

On the other hand, Respondent did ship ANP to the Ukraine, a location to which 
Respondent was not allowed by FDA regulations to export ANP.170 Dr. Wetmore agreed that 
Respondent did not need FDA approval to ship APN to Germany, but opined that he violated the 
FDA protocols when he exported them to the Ukraine.171 

Respondent points out that this issue was the subject of a query by the FDA inspector. 
Specifically, in his 2013 investigation report, Inspector Joel Martinez discussed the procedure by 

which Respondent exported ANP to physicians outside the country whose patients were not 
entered into a study protocol. The document does not indicate that the shipments to Patient B 
were part of this discussion.172 

Respondent further points out that in the Warning Letter dated December 3, 2013, 

Thomas N. Moreno, Acting Office Director of the Office of Scientific Investigations of the 
Office of Compliance of the Center for Drug Evaluation and Research of the FDA, did not 

17° StaffEx. 65, Vol. 13.09D.02. at 45686—45687. 
‘71 StaffEx. 68.03 at 33; Tr. v. 3 at 149-151. 
‘72 StaffEx. 65, Vol. 14.09L.09. at 46082-46085.
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include the export of ANP outside the country as a violation.173 Accordingly, the ALJs find that 

any FDA concerns regarding exports of ANP to unauthorized countries that were resolved to the 
satisfaction of FDA (as indicated by the fact that Mr. Moreno did not reference the issue raised 
by Mr. Martinez) cannot alone serve as the basis of any violations within the scope of this case. 

4. Unnecessary Oxygen Saturation Measurements 

For the same reasons as set forth in Section IV(B)(2) above, specifically due to the 

benefits that can be gained from oxygen saturation testing to evaluate lung function, the ALJs do 

not find that Staff has established that the tests were medically unnecessary. 

5. Unnecessary and Costly Laboratory Testing without Demonstrable Benefit 

Staff alleges that the unnecessary and costly genomic testing of Patient B that 

Dr. Valladares ordered had no demonstrable benefit. Because Patient B had rejected 

conventional treatment, Respondent recommended genetic testing be performed by Caris Life 
Sciences (Caris). On March 2, 2011, Caris reported on several tests ordered by Dr. Valladares 
for Patient B. These included a C-Kit mutational analysis from a formalin-fixed paraffin- 

embedded tumor sample.174 Dr. Wetmore testified that this test was improperly performed from 
a plasma specimen because the specimen should have been from the tumor tissue.175 

In that same report, Caris reported the results of VEGF and HER2 tests.176 Dr. Wetmore 
testified that HER2 and VEGF tests are not tests on oncogenes but tests on normal proteins 
present in the blood. In addition, Dr. Wetmore opined that this type of testing was irrelevant to 
Patient B’s tumor type.177 

Dr. Levin testified that the testing of EGFR, HER2, and plasma VEGF by Caris were 
necessary under the personalized medicine concept. He stated that the Caris tests examine the 

‘73 StaffEx. 12 at 7136-7164 . 

17“ StaffEx. 5.03.A at 997. 
‘75 StaffEx. 68.03 at 27. 
‘76 StaffEx. 5.03.A at 989-1002. 
“7 StaffEx. 68.03 at 27.
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genetic and molecular changes of a patient’s tumor so that treatment options may be matched to 
the tumor’s molecular profile. In his opinion, Respondent used these tests as a diagnostic tool 

and never meant them to be the only basis for the treatment prescribed.178 

For the same reasons as set forth in the discussion in Paragraph B3 above, specifically 
because these tests appear to be the non-conventional methods of diagnosis contemplated by the 

Board Rule 200.3(1), the ALJs do not find that Staff has established that Respondent used 
unnecessary and costly laboratory testing without demonstrable benefit in the treatment of 

Patient B. 

D. Individual Allegations Regarding Patient C 

Patient C was a 42—year-old man who was diagnosed with Stage II A nodular sclerosing 
Hodgkin’s disease in 1986, for which surgical and radiotherapy were successful. On 
April 19, 2010, Patient C was diagnosed with cancer in his left lung. Patient C’s oncologist 

recommended chemotherapy in April 2010. Patient C then chose to consult with the Clinic on 
May 11, 2010.179 From May 14 through 19, 2010, pursuant to Dr. Joshi’s directions, 

Dr. Marquis prescribed the administration of PB (in combination or concurrently with) the 
180 Patient C was medications Avastin, Decadron (dexamethasone), Nexavar, and Tarceva. 

discharged home on May 20, 2010, with directions from Dr. Marquis to continue the regimen of 
PB, Tarceva, Nexavar, Avastin, and Decadron under the care of Dr. Thomas Waits, his local 
oncologist.181 

1. Failure to Document May 14, 2010 Office Visit 

Staff alleges that Respondent failed to document Patient C’s May 14, 2010 office visit, 
and that an outpatient physician order for treatment with PB had no physician’s name or 

‘78 Resp. Ex. 165 at 46, 50-51. 
‘79 StaffEx. 5.04A at 1353-1355, 1440. 
“‘0 StaffEx. 5.04.A at 1436-1439. 
‘8‘ StaffEx. 5.04.A at 1578-1580.
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signature. However, the Progress Notes on that same date signed by Dr. Marquis indicate the 

patient’s Vitals and direct that the administration of PB would begin that day. Dr. Marquis’s 

signature appears on both the Progress Notes and the Physician Order. 182 

Based on the above-referenced documents, Staff has failed to establish that Respondent 

did not document the May 14, 2010 visit with Patient C. 

2. Inadequate Medical Rationale for Changing Therapy 

On November 17, 2010, Respondent recommended to Sheryl Acelar, a research associate 
who is not licensed to practice medicine in the United States, to change Patient C’s regimen by 
decreasing the PB, adding Zolinza (vorinostat), and switching Avastin for Vectibix 

(panitumumab), based on a high EGFR result.183 Staff alleges that Respondent failed to 

document an adequate rationale for this change in therapy, particularly in light of the fact that 

Patient C’s cancer symptoms appeared to have been improving. Staff argues that the rationale 

given for this change—based on a high EGFR result from a plasma sample—was inadequate. 
However, as discussed above, genomic test results provide an adequate rationale for treatment 

decisions. 

On December 6, 2010, Patient C reported to the Clinic that he had a rash on his forehead 
and around his nose, and that he was going to see Dr. Thomas Waits, his local oncologist, to 

84 On December 9, 2010, Patient C’s Wife contacted the Clinic to address the problem.1 

determine if the Vectibix dosages should be reduced as suggested by Dr. Waits. Ms. Acelar 

informed Dr. Waits that the Vectibix dosage should be reduced, which Dr. Waits did.185 

Although Staff did not allege in its Complaint that this specific change in therapy was a 

violation, clearly the rationale for the change was to resolve the rash.

1 m 2 StaffEx. 5.04.A at 1245, 1439. 
3 StaffEx. 5.04.A at 1432-1433. 
4 StaffEx. 5.04.A at 1370.
5

1 00

1 so

1 00 Staff Ex. 5.04.A at 1430-1431. The issue regarding RA Acelar’s giving medical directions is discussed below.
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On March 9, 2011, Dr. Waits contacted the Clinic to report that the Vectibix appeared to 
be causing Patient C to have diarrhea.186 On March 11, 2011, a teleconference was held with 
Respondent, Dr. Joshi, Dr. Marquis, and Patient C. Respondent recommended starting Alimta 

(pemetrexed), discontinuing the Vectibix, and considering a surgical evaluation.187 Dr. Waits 

last administered Vectibix on March 14, 2011. Subsequent communications from Dr. Waits 

indicate that he did not understand until March 18, 2011, that Vectibix was to be discontinued.188 

He began the administration of Alimta on May 2, 2011.189 Again, although Staff did not allege 

in its Complaint this specific change in therapy was a violation, clearly the rationale for the 
change was to resolve the patient’s diarrhea.

1 

Finally, in its Complaint, Staff alleged that after April 2011, Respondent directed that 

Patient C start other substances, including Nexavar, Tarceva, Avastin, PB, and Decadron, 

without providing a medical rationale for the addition of each drug. However, Staff has not 

pointed to any documentation in the record to indicate such changes in therapy were made. In 

addition, it is clear from the record that Dr. Marquis prescribed PB, Decadron, Nexavar, Tarceva, 

and Avastin to Patient C from May 14 through 20, 2010, well before April 2011.

1 ac 6 StaffEx. 5.04.A at 1427. 
7 StaffEx. 5.04.A at 1390. 

“‘8 StaffEx. 5.04.A at 1425, 1502. 
1 9 StaffEx. 5.04.A at 1493, 1501.

1 no

00
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3. Unnecessary and Costly Laboratory Testing without Demonstrable Benefit 

This allegation has been previously discussed in Section IV(B)(3) above, and for the 

same reasons, the ALJs do not find that Staff has established that Respondent used unnecessary 
and costly laboratory testing without demonstrable benefit in the treatment of Patient C. 

E. Individual Allegations Regarding Patient D 
Patient D was a 28-year-old male who was diagnosed on May 13, 2010, with brain 

cancer, specifically pleomorphic xanthoastrocytoma, grade II, for which he had a surgical 

resection. Imaging studies taken on November 26,2010, showed new lesions were present in his 
brain and spine.190 On January 10, 2011, Patient D’s oncologist recommended treatment with 
Temodar, an oral chemotherapy drug, and radiation, which treatment was continued through 
April 6, 2011. It was stopped due to adverse reactions (abnormally low sodium in the blood).191 

Due to adverse reactions to conventional treatment, on June 7, 2011, Patient D visited the 
Clinic for a consultation, during which Dr. Joshi conducted an oncology assessment. Dr. Joshi 

opined that, absent any further progression of the cancer, Patient D should continue with his 
current treatment with Temodar. Should future scans show progression, Dr. J oshi indicated that 
he would recommend a second-line standard of care treatment with Avastin.192 

On July 1, 2011, after receiving the results of Caris tests, Respondent recommended 
93 Patient D to be treated with Tarceva, Afinitor, and Avastin.1 Patient D declined to follow 

Respondent’s recommendations and no further treatment was considered. 

1. Improper Billing for Dr. Weaver’s Services 

Staff alleges that Respondent improperly billed for services provided by Dr. Weaver. 

The medical records for Patient D do not show any such billings.194 

‘90 Staff Ex. 5.01.A at 423-430. 
‘91 StaffEx. 5.01.A at 383, 453-458. 
1” StaffEx. 5.01.A at 387. 
‘93 StaffEx. 5.01.A at 370, 417,
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2. Unnecessary Oxygen Saturation Measurements 

For the same reasons as set forth in Section IV(B)(2) above, specifically due to the 

benefits that can be gained from oxygen saturation testing to evaluate lung fimction, the ALJs do 

not find that Staff has established that the tests were medically unnecessary. 

3. Unnecessary and Costly Laboratory Testing without Demonstrable Benefit 

On June 7, 2011, Respondent ordered Profile 111, HERZ, VEGF, EGFR, C-KIT, amino 
acid level, and Caris testing.195 On June 7, 2011, Patient D agreed in writing to undergo the 
various tests including blood and urine analyses, nuclear medicine tests, scans, and x-rays that 

the Clinic ordered so that the physicians could develop a treatment plan.196 

This allegation has been previously discussed in Section IV(B)(3) above, and for the 

same reasons, the ALJs do not find that Staff has established that Respondent used unnecessary 
and costly laboratory testing. 

F. Individual Allegations Regarding Patient E 

Patient E was a 67-year—old male with chromophobic type renal cell carcinoma (kidney 
cancer) with multiple recurrences who was first seen at the Clinic on September 7, 2011, during 
which visit he had an oncology consultation with Dr. Yi. Dr. Yi recommended treatment with 
Sutent to be followed with Afinitor if Patient E’s cancer progressed. Dr. Yi also noted that 

Xeloda (capecitabine) plus Gemzar (gemcitabine) in combination was an option because this 
combination was reported to work in renal cell carcinoma. On that same date, Respondent 
recommended that Patient E be evaluated for appropriate personalized treatment including the 
consideration of Sutent, Afinitor, and Xgeva.197 

‘94 StaffEx. 5.01.13 at 464—465. 
‘95 StaffEx. 5.01.A at 373-376. 
‘96 StaffEx. 5.01.A at 312. 
‘97 StaffEx. 5.05.A at 1619-1625.
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Rather than follow Dr. Yi’s recommendation, Patient E chose to follow Respondent’s 
recommendation. On September 8, 2011, Patient E began receiving PB; on September 13, 2011, 
Patient E began receiving Xgeva (denosumab); on September 14, 2011, Patient E began 
receiving Afinitor; and on September 15, 2011, Patient E began receiving Sutent.198 Patient E 
was discharged from the Clinic on September 15, 2011. On October 4, 2011, Patient E informed 
Respondent’s Staff that he had discontinued the PB because of a skin rash. Respondent stopped 

all treatment of Patient E on October 16, 2011.199 

1. Non-Therapeutically Prescribing Combinations of Two Targeting Agents 

Staff alleges that there is no rationale in Patient E’s medical record for Respondent’s 

recommendation that Sutent and Afinitor (everolimus) should be taken at the same time rather 

than in succession as Dr. Yi recommended. Staff asserts that the untested combination of these 

drugs brought with it the risk of unknown side effects caused by interactions between these 
dlugs, including the risk of renal failure. Staff further alleges that there is no documented 

medical rationale for prescribing PB. 

In her expert report, Dr. Wetmore noted Patient E had already experienced toxicity with a 

prior drug (Votrient) that had similar tyrosine kinase parameters as Sutent. She opined that it 

was irresponsible for Respondent to prescribe combinations of those agents without proper 

monitoring and documenting of toxicities.200 

Dr. Burzynski testified that a 2009 report of a study conducted by a team at Memorial 

Sloan Kettering Cancer Center showed that the combination of Sutent and Afinitor showed 
positive responses for patients with renal cell carcinoma. He stated that because the prescribed 
combination of the two targeting therapy agents had previously been demonstrated to be 

‘98 StaffEx. 5.05.A at 1632-1638. 
‘99 StaffEx. 5.05.A at 1605-1608. 
20° StaffEx. 61.A.01 at 45087-45088.
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effective in patients with this type of cancer, it was proper to prescribe them in combination to 

Patient E.201 

Dr. Levin explained that Afinitor is an active drug in chromophobe renal cell cancer and 

that its concurrent treatment with Sutent was reasonable in a situation such as that of Patient E 
where no standard approach existed. He opined that prescribing the two drugs followed the 
principles of personalized medicine and could not in any way be represented as having no 
medical rationale.202 

The testimony of Dr. Levin and Dr. Burzynski constitute sufficient evidence that the 

combination of the two drugs had therapeutic validity for Patient E. However, Dr. Wetmore’s 

report makes clear that the medical records do not document the risk factors related to Sutent, 

particularly in light of the prior problems Patient E had with the similar drug, Votrient. 

Therefore, on that aspect alone, the ALJs find that Respondent failed to meet the standard of 
care, in violation of 22 TAC § l65.1(a)(5). 

The discussion regarding the prescribing of PB is set forth in Section IV(A)(5)(b) above. 
For the same reasons set out in that section, the ALJs do not find that Staff has established that 
there was a failure to provide adequate medical rationale for treatment of Patient E with PB. 

2. Inadequate Medical Rationale for Prescribing Multiple Targeting Agents 

Staff alleges that there is no rationale in Patient E’s medical record for Respondent’s 

recommendation that the four targeting agents (Sutent, Afinitor, Xgeva, and PB) should be taken 

concurrently. Dr. Wetmore opined that the four-drug combination Respondent prescribed to 
Patient E did not have sufficient peer—reviewed scientific evidence to establish safety and 

efficacy. In her opinion, Respondent failed to allow a washout period, which was needed if the 

2‘“ Tr. Vol. 7 at 233-234, 237. 
202 Resp. BX. 165 at 58-60.
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drugs were administered at the same time, and improperly documented adverse events.203 

Dr. Burzynski justified his treatment by referring to a 2001 Johns Hopkins study showing that 

the use of PB in combination with other agents stabilized renal carcinoma in three of six patients 
in the study.204 

Again, because Patient E had experienced prior problems with Votrient, Respondent 
should have documented that he reviewed the risk factors in prescribing Sutent in combination 

with the other targeting agents. Therefore, on this issue, the ALJS find that Respondent failed to 
meet the standard of care in violation of 22 TAC § 165.1(a)(5). 

3. Inadequate Informed Consent 

For a general discussion of the issue of informed consent, see Section VI(B). 

Staff alleges that Respondent failed to obtain informed consent from Patient E for the 
simultaneous intake of Sutent and Afinitor. 

The prescriptions for Afinitor and Sutent were signed on September 13, 2011.205 The 

informed consent form for Afinitor was signed that day, while the signed informed consent for 

Sutent was dated September 14, 2011.206 As noted above, the Afinitor was not administered 
until September 14, 2011, and Sutent was not administered until September 15, 2011, both after 

the signing of the informed consent forms. 

The first paragraph of the informed consent for Afinitor states that the document contains 

information about treatment with Afinitor and other unnamed agents. The “purpose of the 
treatment” section in the form describes Afinitor as a kinase inhibitor indicated for the treatment 

of patients with advanced renal cell carcinoma after failure of treatment with Sutent or sorafenib. 

203 StaffEx. 68.03 at 53-55. 
20“ Tr. Vol.7 at 231-233. 
205 Staff Ex. 5.05.A at 1645. 
20" StaffEx. 5.05.A at 1786-1791.
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The “purpose of the treatment” section in the Sutent form describes Sutent as an oral multi— 

kinase inhibitor also indicated for the treatment of patients with advanced renal cell 

carcinoma.207 

Staff asserts that the informed consents that were signed for these medications do not take 

into account the potential side effects from the medication’s being taken at the same time, but 

only address side effects that could be attributed to the drugs being taken individually. Staff 

argues that the statement in the forms that “the regimen might involve risks of which we are not 
currently aware” is not enough to explain the dangers of taking two untested chemotherapy drugs 

at the same time. 

Dr. Wetmore opined that the standard of care required that “[t]he informed consent 
process should be completed after [the physician’s] discussion with the patient; and as part of 

that discussion, the side effects, risks, benefits and alternatives should be relayed to the patient, 

and the informed consent should be signed prior to the order to give any medication.”208 

Dr. Levin testified that it is not necessarily an obligatory practice to obtain consent for a 

combination of drugs for several reasons. Medications are often used concurrently in everyday 

practice even when full toxicity profiles are not well-worked and without patient consent to 
combinations. He was of the opinion that separate consents for concurrent use of Sutent and 
Afinitor are sufficient.209 

The ALJs agree with Dr. Levin that separate informed consents for two drugs used 
concurrently is, in general, within the standard of care, the Afinitor informed consent form 

represented that it should be used if treatment with Sutent failed. That statement was misleading 
because treatment with Afinitor began before the administration of the Sutent, after which they 
were administered together. This treatment of Patient E is clearly a deviation from the procedure 

207 StaffEx. 5.05.A at 1786—1791. 
20" Tr. Vol.6 at 10. 
209 Resp. Ex. 165 at 60-61.
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indicated in the Afinitor form that was signed by the patient, and there is nothing to indicate that 

Respondent or a qualified person explained the purpose for this deviation and for the 

simultaneous use of both agents. As a result, Patient E was not given the opportunity to give his 
informed consent to that simultaneous use. Accordingly, the ALJs find that Staff has established 
that Respondent is in violation of 22 TAC § 190.8(1)(I). 

4. Unnecessary Oxygen Saturation Measurements 

For the same reasons as set forth in Section IV(B)(2) above, specifically due to the 

benefits that can be gained from oxygen saturation testing to evaluate lung function, the ALJs do 
not find that Staff established that the tests were medically unnecessary. 

5. Unnecessary and Costly Laboratory Testing without Demonstrable Benefit 

On September 7, 2011, Respondent recommended that Patient B have the following tests: 
“Profile 111, VEGF, EGFR, HER-2, C-Kit, B12, PSA level, TSH, and amino acid assay.” 210 

This allegation has been previously discussed in Section IV(B)(S) above, and for the 

same reasons, the ALJs do not find that Staff established that Respondent used unnecessary and 
costly laboratory testing without demonstrable benefit in the treatment of Patient E. 

G. Individual Allegations Regarding Patient F 

On September 21, 2009, Patient F, a 66-year-old male, was diagnosed with pancreatic 
cancer. The treatment recommended by his oncologist was chemotherapy. Patient F and his 
wife chose to consult with Respondent and the treatment team at the Clinic on October 8, 2009. 

21° StaffEx. 5.05.A at 1623—1625.
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The treatment plan developed by the team and presented by Dr. Weaver on that date 

recommended treatment with PB (started on October 9), Rapamune with grapefruit juice (started 
on October 10), Zolinza (started on October 11), and Xeloda (started on October 13.) At the 

time, Patient F was also being treated for a herpes outbreak with Valtrex. On October 9, 2009, 
Dr. Weaver increased Patient F’s Valtrex dosage.211 On October 14, 2009, the dosages of PB 
and Xeloda were increased, Avastin with premedication of Benadryl and Decadron were started, 

and Nexavar was scheduled to begin the next day.212 

On October 19, 2009, Patient F was discharged home with his treatment plan of PB, 
Rapamune, Zolinza, Nexavar, Xeloda, and Avastin.213 On October 23, 2009, Patient F 

complained that he had been nauseous and dizzy for the previous two days.214 On 
November 13, 2009, a progress note states that “The patient wants to discontinue our treatment 
due to financial constraints. He received his last dose of [PB] on 11/11/09.”215 

1. Inadequate Documented Medical Rationale for Valtrex in Treatment 

In her report, Dr. Wetmore stated that it was a violation of the standard of care to initiate 
chemotherapy and PB while Patient F was having an active herpes outbreak for which he was 
being treated with Valtrex. She opined that Respondent should have waited until the herpes 

outbreak had cleared up and Patient F had enough time to wash out the Valtrex before initiating 
Respondent’s treatment plan.216 However, Dr. Wetmore did not provide any scientific basis for 
her opinion as to why an anti-viral medication had to wash out before the administration of the 
anti-cancer targeting agents. 

2“ Patient F was being treated with Valtrex for a herpes outbreak prior to visiting the Clinic. Staff Ex. 6.01.A at 
2032-2035; 2049; 2066; 2071. 
2‘2 StaffEx. 6.01.A at 2047. 
“3 StaffEx. 6.01.A at 2044. 
2 4 StaffEx. 6.0l.A at 2084-2085. 

5 StaffEx. 6.01.A at 2041. 
2‘6 StaffEx. 61.A.01 at 45090. 

._.
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AS discussed above, based on the opinion of Dr. Levin, a wash—out period is irrelevant in 
a clinical setting. Accordingly, Staff has failed to establish that the initiation of anti-cancer drugs 

while Patient F was being treated with an anti-viral medication was a violation of the standard of 

care. 

2. Unnecessary Oxygen Saturation Measurements 

For the same reasons as set forth in Section IV(B)(2) above, specifically due to the 

evidence of benefits that can be gained from oxygen saturation testing to evaluate lung function, 

the ALJs do not find that Staff has established that the tests were medically unnecessary. 

3. Unnecessary and Costly Laboratory Testing without Demonstrable Benefit 

On October 8, 2009, Dr. Weaver recommended numerous tests, including Profile III, 

HER 2, VEGF, EGFR, C-Kit, CA 15-3, ammonia level, PSA, a full body PET/CT scan, a head 
MRI, and an echocardiogram. 217 

This allegation has been previously discussed in Section IV(B)(3) above, and for the 

same reasons, the ALJs do not find that Staff has established that Respondent used unnecessary 
and costly laboratory testing without demonstrable benefit in the treatment of Patient F. 

H. Individual Allegations Regarding Patient G 

Patient G was a 26—year-old woman who was diagnosed with suprasellar mass brain 
cancer and malignant astrocytoma of the optic nerve on July 5, 2012. She underwent surgery on 

August 3, 2012, and received treatment with Avastin on August 24, 2012. Her plan of treatment 

after surgery included radiation therapy and Temodar (temozolomide). Patient G was informed 
by her oncologist that the adverse side effects of the recommended conventional treatment 

2‘7 Staff Ex. 6.01.A at 2032-2035.
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included edema, headaches, and probable blindness. Patient G determined not to follow this 
recommendation. 

Patient G went to the Clinic on August 31, 2012. Respondent recommended that she be 
evaluated for ANP in a single patient protocol.218 The checklist for inclusion in Respondent’s 

ANP study under protocol BT-O9 states that she was ineligible to participate in the clinical trial 
for ANP because she had previously received chemotherapy.219 On September 4 and 5, 2012, 
Respondent submitted an application to request permission for approval for Patient G to receive 
ANP under a single patient protocol, which was approved by IRB and the FDA on 
September 6, 2012.220 On September 6, 2012, Respondent submitted Patient G’s informed 

consent document for the single patient protocol to IRB, which was approved on that date.221 

1. Inadequate Medical Rationale for Use and Promotion of ANP 

On September 12, 2012, the first day of the ANP infusion, Patient G reported dizziness, 
222 Nevertheless, her dosage was increased. On September 14, 2012, she discomfort, and fatigue. 

reported adverse fatigue, headaches, and “pressure.” Tests showed she had abnormally low 
potassium levels. Dr. Marquis increased her Decadron (a steroid) dose, which had initially been 

decreased, back to her original dosage and prescribed a potassium supplement.223 Patient G 
reported on September 15, 2012, having edema in both feet and increased blurred vision. 

Dr. Marquis increased dosages of ANP and potassium and maintained the dosage of 

Decadron.224 On September 16, 2012, she reported similar symptoms and again Dr. Marquis 

2‘8 StaffEx. 7.01 at 2434-2438. 
2‘9 StaffEx. 7.01 at 2469-2470. 
22" StaffEx. 7.01 at 2461-2467. 
2“ StaffEx. 7.01 at 2449-2461. 
222 StaffEx. VOl. 7.01 at 2534. 
223 StaffEx. VOl. 7.01 at 2532. 
22“ StaffEx. VOl. 7.01 at 2531.
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increased the ANP and potassium dosages. She continued to have abnormally low potassium 
levels.225 

On September 17, 2012, Patient G reported that her vision was getting worse, as were her 
headaches. The edema was still present and worsened at night and with activities. Dr. Marquis 

advised her to elevate her feet and monitor for pain in the back of her calves. ANP and steroids 
were both increased on that day. September 18, 2012, Patient G reported that her vision was 

<1.226 Dr. Marquis getting worse, and that her eye pain and headaches remained unchange 

increased her potassium and ANP. On September 19, 2012, she reported having no eye pain but 
still had blurred vision in her right eye together with agitation and increased anxiety. Pursuant to 

Dr. Yi’s direction, Dr. Marquis recommended that one of the types of ANP and potassium be 
increased. 

On September 20, 2012, a note signed by Dr. Yi stated that she was doing much better, 
had no anxiety or agitation, had no eye pain in her right eye, but still had blurred vision in her 

left eye. Dr. Yi recommended that one type of the ANP be increased. On September 21, 2012, 
Dr. Yi again recommended that one type of the ANP be increased. 

On September 22 and 23, 2012, Dr. Yi recommended that she stop taking the ANP due to 
her increased potassium level. On September 25, 2012, Dr. Marquis counseled with Patient G 
and her mother about her edema, which she reported was decreasing. He instructed her to 
remain off the ANP that she had not taken since September 23, to decrease her potassium, and to 
receive more Decadron via IV STAT. On September 26, 2012, since she was planning to leave 
the Clinic to go home, Dr. Marquis instructed her to stay off ANP and prescribed an increased 
dosage of Decadron for her headaches.227 

225 StaffEx. Vol. 7.01 at 2530. 
2“ StaffExs. Vol. 7.01 at 2528; Vol. 33 at 22528. 
227 StaffEx. Vol. 701 at 2520-2534.



SOAH DOCKET NO. 503-14-1342.MD PROPOSAL FOR DECISION PAGE 57 

The next day Patient G was admitted to a hospital in the patient’s home city after waking 
up in the night with extreme leg pain. The hospital staff attributed it to an adverse reaction to her 
medications.228 Over the next two days, Patient G’s leg pain and edema went away. Patient G 
restarted ANP on September 29, 2012. On October 2, 2012, her lower extremity pain returned. 
The edema steadily increased as Patient G increased the ANP dosage over the next few days, and 
she remained on the elevated steroid dosage.229 

On October 19, 2012, Patient G was instructed by Clinic staff to hold ANP due to her 
reporting having severe bilateral knee and lower leg pain. Staff told her to go to the emergency 

room of the hospital in her home city for assessment. On October 22, 2012, Dr. Yi directed that 
she restart ANP, which she did.230 

On October 26, 2012, Dr. Marquis told Patient G’s mother that a recent MRI showed 
significant tumor growth and if the tumor grew more than 50%, Patient G might have to be 
terminated from the protocol. On October 28, Patient G stopped taking the ANP due to her 
edema. On November 1, 2012, Dr. Marquis noted that the Clinic had received the radiology 

imaging showing that the tumor had grown 33%. Patient G elected to continue with the ANP 
treatments.231 Patient G discontinued treatment at the Clinic on November 26, 2012, due to 
persistent edema.232 

Dr. Wetmore testified that the standard of care for Patient G’s cancer was optimal 
surgical resection followed by radiation therapy with Temodar (temozolomide), with adjunctive 
Avastin. She opined that Respondent violated the standard of care when Patient G did not 
receive this first-line therapy.233 

22* StaffEx. v61. 7.01 at 2813-2821. 
2” StaffEx. V01. 7.01 at 2513-2519. 
23° StaffEx. VOl. 7.01 at 2512-2513. 
23‘ StaffEx. VOl. 7.01 at 2507-2510. 
232 StaffEx. v61. 7.01 at 2502. 
2” StaffEx. 68.03 at 64-65.
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In December 2012, Patient G began treatment in her home town with radiation, Temodar 
and Avastin.234 The patient’s records indicate that she experienced edema, severe headaches, and 

other severe side effects, including a hospital admission with sepsis, while on this first-line 

conventional treatment regimen.235 

Staff‘s allegation raises the issue of whether the patient has the right to continue an 

alternative treatment that does not appear to be working rather than undergo a conventional 

treatment the side effects of which are known and clearly adverse—in this case total blindness. 
The preface to 22 TAC § 200.3 states the following: 

A licensed physician shall not be found guilty of unprofessional conduct or be 
found to have committed professional failure to practice medicine in an 
acceptable manner solely on the basis of employing a health care method of 
complementary or alternative medicine, unless it can be demonstrated that such 
method has a safety risk for the patient that is unreasonably greater than the 
conventional treatment for the patient’s medical condition. 

In this case Staff has not established that the safety risk for Patient G in following the 
ANP treatment was unreasonably greater than that of the conventional treatment. Patient G was 
diagnosed with a terminal illness; she was aware of the adverse effects of conventional 

treatment; and despite the effects of edema, blurred vision, and headaches, some of which were 
attributable to the alternative medications she was receiving and some of which were attributable 
to her disease, she continued to choose to follow the alternative treatments until she made the 
decision to stop them. The ALJs agree that Patient G had full knowledge of the consequences of 
her decisions and that Respondent did not violate the standard of care by following her wishes. 

2. Unnecessary Oxygen Saturation Measurements 

For the same reasons as set forth in Section IV(B)(2) above, specifically due to the 

benefits that can be gained from oxygen saturation testing to evaluate lung function, the ALJs do 
not find that Staff established that the tests were medically unnecessary. 

23“ StaffEx. 7.01 at 2830. 
235 StaffEx. Vol. 701 at 2823; 3030-3033.
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3. Improper Billing and Collection Practices 

In its Complaint, Staff alleged that Respondent rejected donations made to Patient G’s 

website, refused to credit those donations against Patient G’s account, and returned the donations 

to the donors. Staff further alleges that Respondent refused to refund payments received from 

Patient G’s insurance company that were paid to Patient G’s account. 

Because Staff did not address this allegation in its closing arguments, pursuant to Order 

No. 34 the allegation is deemed to be waived. 

1. Summary of ALJs’ Analysis 

Based on the above discussion, the ALJs do not find that Staff established violations of 
the standard of care by Respondent on the following grounds: (1) failing to make Patients A 
through G aware of the potential toxicities of drug combinations, (2) failing to provide adequate 
medical rationale for treatment of Patients A through G with ANP, PB, and/or the combined use 
of drugs, (3) failing to provide adequate medical rationale for the evaluation, diagnosis, and 

treatment of Patients A through G, or (4) providing inadequate medical documentation for 
Patients A through G. Therefore, the ALJs find that Staff failed to show that Respondent 
violated the standard of care in the treatment of Patients A, B, C, D, F, or G. 

In regard to Patient E, the ALJs find that Staff did establish the following violations of 
the standard of care: (1) Respondent failed to document the risk factors related to Sutent in light 

of the prior problems Patient E had with the similar drug Votrient, in violation of 22 TAC 
§ 165.1(a)(5), and (2) Respondent failed to explain the reason for the deviation from the purpose 

of treatment explained in the Afinitor informed consent form and failed to give Patient E the 
opportunity to give his informed consent to the simultaneous use of Afinitor and Sutent, in 

violation of the rule at 22 TAC § 190.8(1)(I).
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V. INADEQUATE DELEGATION AND IMPROPER USE OF UNLICENSED 
PRACTITIONERS 

Staff alleges that Respondent improperly delegated medical tasks to “individuals who 
were unqualified and . . . unauthorized to perform the task he delegated to them.”236 According 

to Staff, Respondent improperly delegated the treatment of cancer patients to licensed 

practitioners who lacked the necessary oncology training or expertise. Staff also alleged that 

Respondent aided and abetted foreign-trained physicians in the unlicensed practice of medicine 

in violation of Code §§ 157.001,237 l64.052(a)(17), and 164.053(a)(8) and (9), and is subject to 
disciplinary action under Code § 164.051(a)(6). Respondent disputes these allegations and 

points out that they are inconsistent with Staff’s allegation that he was the sole decision-maker at 
the Clinic. The ALJs will address the allegations regarding the licensed physicians first before 
proceeding to unlicensed practitioners. 

A. Licensed Providers 

Staff asserts that Respondent failed to adequately supervise the Clinic’s licensed 

physicians who were allegedly unqualified or inadequately trained to practice oncology. In 

Dr. Wetmore’s opinion, Dr. Gregory Burzynski, an internist, overstepped his training and 

qualifications by making oncology treatment decisions and prescribing anti-cancer drugs to 
Patient B.238 She also accused Respondent of allowing Dr. Marquis to prescribe anti-cancer 

236 Staff‘s Closing Argument at 46. 
237 Code § 157.001 states the following: 
(a) A physician may delegate to a qualified and properly trained person acting under the physician’s supervision 
any medical act that a reasonable and prudent physician would find within the scope of sound medical judgment to 
delegate if, in the opinion of the delegating physician: 

(1) the act: 

(A) can be properly and safely performed by the person to whom the medical act is delegated; 
(B) is performed in its customary manner; and 

(C) is not in violation of any other statute; and 

(2) the person to whom the delegation is made does not represent to the public that the person is 
authorized to practice medicine. . . . (Emphasis added). 

238 StaffEx. 68.03 at 25-26.
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drugs and to treat patients with malignant cancer, when, in her Opinion, Dr. Marquis was not 

qualified to do 50.239 

As a threshold legal issue, Respondent objects to Staffs claim that he is vicariously 

responsible for medical acts provided by other licensed physicians at the Clinic.240 He argues 
that the Code does not impose a duty on one licensed physician to supervise another licensed 
physician who is exercising their own clinical judgment in the treatment of patients. Respondent 
agreed that he had input into patients’ treatment plans, but stressed that the Clinic’s oncologists 

evaluated, approved, and implemented the treatment plans.241 

Respondent also argues that the Clinic’s licensed physicians were medically qualified by 
training and experience to provide medical care to the Clinic’s patients. As previously discussed, 
patients at the Clinic were assigned a team of health care providers that included an oncologist, 

an internist or family practitioner; and a research associate.242 The licensed physicians, not the 
research associates, made treatment decisions and issued orders for patients,. 

Dr. Gregory Burzynski is a board—certified internist who studied at the Jagiellonian 

University Medical School in Krakow, Poland, for four years. He completed his residency at 
Southwestern Seton Family in Austin, Texas. As part of his residency, Dr. Gregory Burzynski 
worked for a month at MD. Anderson Cancer Center in an elective oncology rotation.243 After 

his residency, Dr. Gregory Burzynski joined his father’s practice at the Clinic in the summer of 
2010. He was licensed by the Board in January 2011.244 Dr. Gregory Burzynski has done his 

CMEs at the Society of Neuro-Oncology for the past four years.245 

23" StaffEx. 68.03 at 37. 
24° Respondent’s Closing Arguments at 28. 
2‘“ For example, Dr. Valladares signed Patient A’s treatment plan. Staff Ex. 5.02.A at 845. Dr. Weaver signed 
Patient F’s treatment plan. Staff Ex. 6.01 .A at 2035. 
2“ Tr. Vol. 7 at 81-82. 
2‘” StaffEx. 66.GG at 4-5; Tr. Vol. 10 at 8-9. 
24" Tr. Vol. 10 at 46. 
245 StaffEx. 66.GG at 5.
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Dr. Gregory Burzynski testified that he was responsible for treating associated internal 

medical problems that arose during a patient’s cancer treatments.246 He explained that when 
evaluating a patient’s treatment options, the team assigned to that patient discussed the patient’s 

medical history and treatment options, but the oncologist on the team made the treatment 
decisions. 

Dr. Gregory Burzynski agreed that he was involved in Patient B’s care, but stressed that 

Dr. Valladares was the assigned oncologist. He pointed out that Patient B brought his personal 
physician from Germany, Dr. Brandt, to the Clinic.247 Patient B’s wife was also a physician. 
According to Dr. Gregory Burzynski, he participated in taking Patient B’s history and in 

reviewing the informed consent forms with the patient and Dr. Brandt. During their 

conversations, Dr. Gregory Burzynski stated he paid attention to Patient B’s language, behavior, 

and questions, as well as how he interacted with everyone, to evaluate the patient’s mental 
state.248 In Dr. Gregory Burzynski’s opinion, Patient B and Dr. Brandt understood what he told 
them about the anti-cancer drugs recommended in the treatment plan.249 

Dr. Marquis has an undergraduate degree from the College of Pharmacy at the University 
of Texas in Austin. He completed medical school at the University of Texas Medical Branch in 
Galveston, Texas, and did his residency at Central Texas Medical Foundation at Brackenridge 

Hospital in Austin.250 He is a family physician and originally had his own practice in Austin. 
After his father-in-law developed prostate cancer, Dr. Marquis stated, he closed his practice and 

moved closer to the Dallas/Fort Worth area to help him. When his father-in-law improved, Dr. 
Marquis and his family moved to Houston, Texas, and he began working at the Clinic in 2006.251 

He continued to work there until 2014.252 

2“ Tr. Vol. 10 at 11. 
2‘” Tr. Vol. 10 at 33. 
2"“ Tr. Vol. 10 at35. 
“9 Tr. Vol. 10 at 35—36. 
25° Tr. Vol. 13 at 5. 
25‘ Tr. Vol. 13 at5. 
252 Tr. Vol. 13 at 6.
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According to Dr. Marquis, he received on-the-job training at the Clinic, but is not an 

oncologist and did not make oncology treatment decisions.253 Dr. Marquis agreed that he was 

part of the team assigned to Patients C and D, but clarified that his role was to assist the 

oncologist in monitoring and communicating with the patients, to ensure the Clinic received the 

requested labs and scans in a timely manner, and in managing “toxicities.”254 As a family 
practitioner at the Clinic, Dr. Marquis said that he “had better and easier contact with the 

patients, more time on my hands to be able to communicate with them, and you know, speak to 
them as long as they needed me to . .. . make sure everything was going well.”255 

Dr. Marquis testified that when he was assigned to a team to care for a patient he would 
attend the initial consultation. During this meeting, Dr. Marquis said, Respondent told the 

patient and their family, if present, that PB was not FDA-approved to treat their type of 

cancer.256 Dr. Marquis confirmed that he conducted the patient’s physical examination and 

documented his findings in the patient’s medical records. Typically, Dr. Marquis said, the 

physical examination was done the day the patient arrived at the Clinic.257 

The Clinic provided gene-targeted treatments using FDA-approved medications in a non- 

FDA approved manner, Dr. Marquis explained. The Clinic did not provide alternative cancer 

treatment, which in his experience involved treatment with herbs, creams, and Vitamins, but did 
258 Dr. Marquis said that when a patient who did not 'not include any anti-cancer medications. 

want to take anti-cancer drugs learned that the Clinic did not provide alternative treatment, they 

usually left the Clinic.259 

2” Tr. Vol. 13 at 7. 
254 Tr. Vol. 13 at 9. 
2” Tr. Vol. 13 at 9. 
256 Tr. Vol. 13 at 13-14. 
257 Tr. Vol. 13 at 15. 
258 Tr. Vol. 13 at 12. 
259 Tr. Vol. 13 at 13.
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Before Patient C arrived at the Clinic, his local oncologist in Indiana, Dr. Waits, 

diagnosed Patient C with mesothelioma. The diagnosis was confirmed in a pathology report.260 

Dr. Marquis confirmed that Patient C was informed that PB was not FDA—approved for his 
cancer and was informed about the potential side effects of the various anti-cancer agents that 

261 When Patient C returned home, Dr. Marquis recalled, were being proposed for treatment. 

Dr. Waits continued the treatment regimen.262 This indicated to Dr. Marquis that Dr. Waits had 

“looked at the logic behind the treatment plan that was put together” at the Clinic and found “it 

to be sound.”263 

Dr. Marquis emphasized that he was not Patient C’s oncologist and did not make 
4 Once the oncologist made a decisions concerning changes to the oncology treatments.26 

decision about what medications to give the patient, Dr. Marquis explained, the oncologist told 

Dr. Marquis what mediations to order.265 He would manage the side effects experienced by the 
patient, ensure that the “[l]ab and scan reports” were done, review the results, and share the 

information with Dr. Waits.266 

Although some of Dr. Wait’s communications with the Clinic were addressed to 

RAAcelar as “Dr. Acelar,” Dr. Marquis confirmed that she passed on the information to 

Respondent and Dr. J oshi.267 Dr. Marquis agreed that it would “not be right” if RA Acelar failed 
to inform Dr. Waits that she was not a licensed physician.268 

26° Tr. V01. 13 at 27-28. 
26‘ Tr. V01. 13 at 34-35. 
“2 Tr. Vol. 13 at 23-24. 
263 Tr. Vol. 13 at 24. 
26“ StaffEx. 66.11 at 112. 
2“ StaffEx. 66.11 at 112-113. 
266 According to Dr. Marquis, Dr. Valladares typically wrote his own prescriptions, but Dr. Joshi did not. Dr. Joshi 
had Dr. Marquis prepare and sign the prescriptions. Staff Ex. 66.11 at 115. 
267 StaffEx. 66.11 at 109. 
2“ Staff Ex. 66.11 at 109.
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Dr. Marquis did not remember Patient D because the patient elected not to be treated at 
the Clinic. After reviewing the patient’s records, Dr. Marquis agreed that he prepared the 

June 7, 2011 consultation note in which he summarized the Caris genetic report and 

Respondent’s treatment recommendations.269 Dr. Marquis denied that he wrote any prescriptions 

for this patient.270 

Dr. Marquis performed Patient G’s August 31, 2012 physical examination and was 

responsible for the patient’s history and physical report.271 Dr. Marquis maintained that 

Patient G did not require a mental status examination because the patient was alert.272 He 
reiterated that he did not make the oncology treatment decisions. Because Patient G’s local 

oncologist treated Patient G’s side effects, Dr. Marquis said that he just documented the 

information in the medical record.273 

B. ALJs’ Analysis Regarding Licensed Providers 

Code § 157.001 allows a physician to delegate medical acts to a qualified and properly 
trained person acting under the physician’s supervision if a reasonable and prudent physician 

would find such acts appropriate to delegate. The statute goes on to provide that this person may 
not “represent to the public that the person is authorized to practice medicine.” The Clinic’s 

licensed physicians, specifically Dr. Gregory Burzynski and Dr. Marquis, were and are licensed 

by the Board to practice medicine. Therefore, Respondent was not responsible for the medical 

acts performed by Drs. Gregory Burzynski and Marquis under Code § 157.001. 

The issue then becomes whether Respondent violated Code §§ 164.051(a)(6) and 

164.053(a)(8) and (9).”4 The credible evidence indicates that Dr. Gregory Burzynski and 

269 StaffEx. 66.11 at 134, 139. 
27° StaffEx. 66.11 at 139. 
2" StaffEx. 66.11 at 139-140. 
272 Tr. v61. 13 at 40. 
273 StaffEx. 66.11 at 148-149. 
274 Code § 164.051(a)(6) allows the Board to discipline a physician for failing to “practice medicine in an 
acceptable professional manner consistent with public health and welfare. Code § 164.053(a)(8) and (9) clarify that
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Dr. Marquis had the training and expertise to participate in providing the medical services they 

provided to the Clinic’s patients. Both physicians were assigned to work with an oncologist and 

a research associate in the treatment of specific patients, and assisted the oncologist at the Clinic 

in the treatment of these patients. 

Dr. Gregory Burzynski and Dr. Marquis credibly testified that they did not make 
oncology treatment decisions, but deferred such decisions to the Clinic’s oncologists and 

Respondent. Their contribution to the team of health care professionals assigned to specific 

patients was to conduct and document the patient’s history and physical examination, write 

prescriptions, ensure laboratory results and scans were timely received and reviewed, and 

participate in discussions and conferences with the assigned oncologist regarding treatment 

options. In addition, they were responsible for treating side effects caused by the anti-cancer 

medications, such as diarrhea and increased blood pressure, and monitoring a patient’s progress 

on treatment. Drs. Gregory Burzynski and Marquis also maintained weekly contact with the 

patients and the patients’ local oncologists once the patients returned home and reported any side 
effects the patient experienced to the appropriate oncologist. 

Based on the credible evidence, the ALJs find that Dr. Gregory Burzynski and 

Dr. Marquis were qualified by training, experience, and licensure to perform the medical acts 

they performed. Because Staff failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that 

Respondent improperly delegated to either physician medical responsibilities or acts that they 

were unqualified to perform, the ALJs find that in regards to the licensed physicians discussed 
above Respondent did not engage in unprofessional or dishonorable conduct as defined in Code 

§ 164.053(a)(8) and (9). 

unprofessional conduct likely to deceive or defraud the public includes a physician’s failure to adequately supervise 
those under the physician’s supervision and delegating to a person professional responsibilities or acts that the 
physician knows or should have known the person is unqualified to perform by training, experience, or licensure. .
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C. Unlicensed Practitioners 

The Clinic’s research associates were often foreign-trained doctors unlicensed in the 

United States.275 Respondent hired the research associates and supervised many of their 
activities. Staff alleges that Respondent misrepresented the qualifications of the following 

unlicensed foreign-trained physicians to the Clinic’s patients, their families, and local 

oncologists, and improperly allowed them to practice medicine: Tolib Rakhrnanov, 

Mohammed Khan, Larisa Tikhomirova, Sheryll Acelar, and Lourdes DeLeon.276 Staff asserts 

that the medical records for Patients A through G reflect that these research associates practiced 
medicine by ordering medications, diagnostics tests, and laboratory tests without any 

documented input of a licensed physician; made treatment recommendations; and interacted with 
patients and other medical personnel without clarifying that they were not licensed to practice 

medicine in Texas. According to Staff, by allowing the research associates to represent that they 

were authorized to practice medicine and improperly delegating medical acts to them that they 
were unqualified to perform, Respondent violated Code §§ 157.001, l64.052(a)(17)277 and 

164.053(a)(8) and (9). 

Patient F, Patient F’s wife, Patient A’s wife, and Dr. Lassiter (Patient A’s local 

oncologist) testified that the Clinic’s research associates were held out to be licensed medical 

physicians. However, Patient A’s wife also agreed that the research associate assigned to her 

husband did not do anything without first talking to Dr. Valladares or Respondent.278 Patient F 

testified that he did not think that the research associate assigned to his case, RA Tikhomirova, 
279 made treatment decisions. However, he estimated that about 80% of the time, he met and 

discussed issues about his treatment with RA Tikhomirova.280 

275 Tr. Vol. 7 at 81-82. 
276 To avoid confusion between the licensed physicians and the unlicensed foreign-trained physicians, the ALJs will 
use the abbreviation “RA” rather than “Dr.” before their last names. 
277 According to Code § 164.052(a)(1 7), a physician is prohibited from directly or indirectly aiding and abetting the 
practice medicine by an unlicensed person. 
278 Tr. Vol. 5 at 74-75. 
279 Tr. Vol.4 at 152-153. 
28° StaffEx. 66.AA at 6.
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Patient F acknowledged that he signed the informed consent forms that RA Tikhomirova 
discussed with him, but could not remember what RA Tikhomirova told him about the drugs 
because it was too long ago. He said that he thought he would remember if she told him about 
something that could damage his health.281 Patient F acknowledged that he did not read the 

informed consent forms before signing them, but he should have.282 If RA Tikhomirova was not 
a licensed doctor, he stated that he would feel “misled” because she was “the main one that 

”283 even though he assumed Respondent was treating him.284 doctored me, 

Dr. Wetmore conceded that certain aspects of patient care, such as obtaining informed 
consent, may be properly delegated to someone other than a licensed physician.285 However, 

because the research associates signed consent forms on the signatory line for the physician, she 

opined that the Clinic’s patients were misled into believing that the research associates were 

licensed physicians.286 This misrepresentation was reinforced, she noted, because the research
‘ 

associates were addressed as “doctor” and wore white lab coats with a name tags identifying 
them to be doctors. In Dr. Wetmore’s opinion, Respondent did not tell the patients, the patients’ 

families, or the patients’ local oncologists that the research associates were unlicensed.287 As a 

result, she concluded that Respondent failed to properly supervise the research associates, 

improperly delegated medical tasks to them, and aided and abetted them in the unlicensed 

practice of medicine. 

Dr. Levin disagreed that the research associates were practicing medicine. He explained 
that a physician is the person who “synthesizes the data and makes a diagnosis, offers treatment, 

28‘ StaffEx. 66.AA at 39. 
2’” StaffEx. 66.AA at 37. 
283 StaffEx. 66.AA at 54. 
2 4 StaffEx. 66.AA at 86. 
2“ Tr. Vol.3 at 124. 
28" StaffEx. 68.03 at 88, 94. 
287 In Staff’s Reply Brief, Staff asserted that Respondent violated Code § 104.004, part of the Healing Art 
Identification Act. However, Staff did not include this allegation in its Second Amended Complaint. The Texas 
Government Code § 2001 .052(a) requires that the notice of hearing include, among other things, a “reference to the 
particular sections of the statutes and rules involved.” Therefore, allegations regarding the Healing Art 
Identification Act it will not be addressed further.

00
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carries out treatment that’s actually practicing medicine.”288 In his opinion, none of the Clinic’s 

research associates participated in decision-making roles regarding patient care. Therefore, he 

opined, they were not practicing medicine.289 Dr. Levin also pointed out that it is not uncommon 
for a person with a doctorate degree to be addressed as “Doctor.”290 

Dr. Burzynski testified that during the initial consultation patients were introduced to the 

oncologist, internist or family practitioner, and the research associate assigned as their health 

care team. He explained to patients that that the research associates were foreign-trained doctors 
who were unlicensed.291 Dr. Burzynski emphasized that research associates had no independent 

decision-making authority regarding the diagnoses and treatment of Clinic patients and pointed 

out that even Dr. Wetmore agreed that the medical records do not prove that any unlicensed 
person made treatment decisions.292 

Dr. Marquis confirmed that the Clinic’s research associates stayed in contact with 

patients and acted as an intermediary between the physician and patient.293 If there was an issue 

that required a physician’s input, Dr. Marquis stated that the research associate took notes, 

consulted a physician and/or oncologist, and informed the patient about the physician’s 
. . 2 4 . . . . . . 

deCISlon. 9 Dr. Marquis denled that the research assoc1ates practlced med1c1ne.295 

According to Dr. Gregory Burzynski, the research associates supported the Clinic’s 

oncologists by serving as their scribes and communicating with patients.296 As foreign medical 

28“ Tr. Vol. 11 at 169. 
2” Resp. BX. 165 at 69. 
29° Resp. Ex. 165 at 69. 
29‘ Tr. v61. 7 at 80-82, 214. 
2” Tr. Vol.6 at 83. 
293 Tr. v61. 13 at 37-39. 
29“ Tr. Vol. 13 at 39-40. 
295 Tr. Vol. 13 at38. 
296 Tr. v61. 10 at 17.
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doctors, he pointed out, they had a wealth of medical knowledge and were very competent.297 In 

his opinion, the research associates freed up the oncologists’ time so they could focus on medical 
issues.298 While a physician was ultimately responsible for the patient, Dr. Gregory Burzynski 
maintained that non-physician medical professionals made valuable contributions and 

recommendations regarding a patient’s treatment without engaging in the practice of medicine.299 

In contrast to Patients A’s and F’s experience at the Clinic, Margaret Manning, a former 

Clinic patient, testified that the research associate assigned to her case told her that she was not a 

licensed physician and could not make treatment decisions or write prescriptions.300 

Mary Susan McGee, another Clinic patient, stated that that she knew the research associate, 
RA Rakhmanov, was not a licensed physician and served as a “communicator.”301 He received 
instructions from the licensed physicians. According to Ms. McGee, RA Rakhmanov did not 
provide medical treatment to her and did not prescribe any medications.302 

Mary Michaels, the mother of a pediatric patient, testified that the research associates 
working on her son’s team told her that they were licensed in Poland, but not in the United 
States.303 Mary Jo Siegel, another Clinic patient, testified that when she arrived at the Clinic a 

research associate took her Vitals and asked her how she had been doing.304 She knew that they 
were foreign—trained physicians who were unlicensed in the United States. They did not 
diagnose or treat her cancer. 

The background, allegations, and evidence regarding each research associate are 

separately addressed below. 

297 Tr. Vol. 10 at 18. 
29" Tr. Vol. 10 at 19. 
29" Tr. Vol. 10 at 26-27. 
30° Tr. Vol. 13 at 95. 
30‘ Tr. Vol. 11 at 16-17. 
302 Tr. Vol. 11 at 16-17. 
303 Tr. Vol. 10 at 145. 
30“ Tr. Vol. 10 at 155.
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1. Tolib Rakhmanov 

RA Rakhmanov attended medical school and practiced medicine in Tajikistan, but is 

unlicensed in the United States. He began working for the Clinic as a research associate in 2006 
and left in July 2016.305 His job duties included collecting the patient’s medical history and 

obtaining the patient’s prior medical records before the patient came to the Clinic. According to 

RA Rakhmanov, the Clinic divided the research associates among the licensed physicians and 
that he usually worked with Dr. Valladares.306 

RA Rakhmanov insisted that he never performed the physical examination of a Clinic 
patient. If a patient decided to be treated at the Clinic after consulting with the licensed 

physicians, he gave the patient the informed consent forms for each prescribed treatment 

medication and then discussed with the patient information about the medications and what was 

on the informed consent form.307 

Dr. Wetmore focused on the medical records that she said documented RA Rakhmanov’s 
involvement in the evaluation and treatment of Patients A,308 B,309 and 0310 She reported that 

the medical records reflect that RA Rakhmanov took patient histories, signed orders, reviewed 
laboratory results, oversaw the infusions, obtained informed consents from the patient, and 

corresponded with the patient’s local oncologist. Such activities, she maintained, constitute the 

practice of medicine. Further perpetuating the misconception that RA Rakhmanov was a 

licensed physician, Dr. Wetmore pointed out, the Clinic referred to him as “Dr. Rakhmanov,” 
and he was permitted to wear a white lab coat with a name tag identifying him as a doctor. In 

3“ StaffEx. 66.H at 4. 
306 StaffEx. 66.H at 24. 
307 StaffEx. 66.H at 9. 
30" StaffExs. 5.02; 33.5. 
309 StaffExs. 5.03A; 33.1. 
3 ° StaffExs. 5.04; 33.7. 

._.
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her opinion, Respondent allowed RA Rakhmanov to engage in the unlicensed practice of 

medicine.311 

RA Rakhmanov agreed that his colleagues at the Clinic referred to him as 

“Dr. Rakhmanov,” but he explained they did so out of respect for his being a medical school 
graduate.312 When a patient arrived at the Clinic, he said, he visited with the patient, but a 

licensed physician always saw the patient unless the patient came just to have their vital signs 

taken or the physician felt it was unnecessary.313 When patients came for an infusion, 

RA Rakhmanov reported, they were directed to the infusion room where the infusions were done 
under the supervision of Clinic personnel who were “licensed to do infusions.”3 14 Although 

Patient A’s wife and Dr. Lassiter believed he was a licensed physician, RA Rakhmanov denied 
that he mislead patients. He testified that when he introduced himself to patients he told them 
that he had graduated from medical school in Russia, but that he was not licensed in the United 
States.315 

Patient A is deceased, but his wife was present with Patient A when RA Rakhmanov was 
introduced to her husband. Patient A’s wife and his local oncologist, Dr. Lassiter, testified that 

they understood that RA Rakhmanov was Patient A’s treating physician. Patient A’s wife 

recalled that RA Rakhmanov told her and her husband that he was a “GI” doctor, so they 
316 assumed he was a specialist in gastrointestinal cancers. After the initial consultation, 

Patient A’s wife confirmed that the only doctor Patient A saw at the Clinic was RA Rakhmanov. 

Patient A’s October 7 and 13, 2010 laboratory test results identify both Dr. Marquis and 

RA Rakhmanov as Patient A’s doctors.317 The October 8 and 11, 2010 pathology reports 

3“ StaffEx. 68.03 at 88, 92-94. 
3 2 StaffEx. 66.H at 31. 

3 StaffEx. 66,H at 48. 
3‘4 StaffEx. 66.H at 53. 
3’5 StaffEx. 66.H at 12-13; 31-32.

3 _.

w .— OK Patient A had colon cancer that had metastasized to his liver. 
3 7 StaffEx. 5.02.A at 584-586.

_.
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indicate that the ordering physician was “Valladares/Rakhmanov.”3 18 RA Rakhmanov signed as 
the “Physician performing consent,” on Patient A’s October 11, 2010 Informed Consent 

Statement for PB.319 In a letter dated October 15, 2010, Dr. Marquis notified Patient A that all of 
“Dr. Tolib Rakhmanov’s” patients were being transferred to Dr. Valladares. The letter further 

instructed Patient A to direct all correspondence “including laboratory studies, scan results, 

questions, and concerns to both Dr. Rakhmanov and Dr. Valladares.”320 Additionally, the 

October 22, 2010 infusion nurse’s note documented that “Dr. TR [RA Rakhmanov] notified of 
BP= 130/89, instructed to d/c IV and to home for today.”321 After Patient A returned home, 
RARakhmanov signed physician’s orders to ship Patient A’s treatment medication to the 

patient.322 

Staff maintains that RA Rakhmanov engaged in similar conduct in the treatment of 
Patients B and C. Patient B’s medical records show that Dr. Gregory Burzynski told Patient B’s 

local physician, Dr. Brandt, that “Dr. Rakhmanov” could assist with any questions about 

Patient B323 RA Rakhmanov also communicated specific dosage instructions for the 

administration of ANP and Avastin to Dr. Brandt and signed the email as “Dr. Tolib.”324 When 
Patient B appeared to be dying from complications related to side effects from his treatment 
regime, Staff asserts, Dr. Gregory Burzynski deferred the treatment decision to RA Rakhmanov 
as indicated by the signature on the correspondence—“Dr. Tolib Rakhmanov.”325 

RA Rakhmanov remembered working on the team assigned to Patient A. He said that 
Dr. Valladares conducted Patient A’s physical examination, and, together with Respondent,

3 ._. 8 StaffEX. 5.02.A at 587-589. 
9 StaffEx. 5.02.A at 837-838. 

32° StaffEx. 5.02.A at 870. 
32‘ StaffEx. 5.02.A at 803. 
322

3 

Staff expert, Ms. Kloos, testified that the Clinic used RA Rakhmanov’s orders as the basis for billing Patient A 
the monthly case management fee. This issue will be addressed in Section VIII regarding improper charges. 
323 Staff Ex. 5.03.A at 1165. 
32“ StaffEx. 5.03.A at 1159. 
325 StaffEx. 5.03.A at 1142.
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developed a treatment plan.326 Although he signed Patient A’s order for supplements, he said he 

did so at Respondent’s direction.327 RA Rakhmanov said that he signed the informed consent 
form for PB on October 11, 2010, but only after the licensed physician explained the benefits and 
side effects of the medication to Patient A in his presence.328 Despite the infusion nurse’s note, 

RA Rakhmanov stated that the nurse notified him about Patient A’s blood pressure, but that he 
did not discharge the patient to go home; rather, the nurse did.329 RA Rakhmanov could not 
explain Why Dr. Lassiter thought he created the Patient A’s treatment plan as reflected in 

Dr. Lassiter’s letter.330 

As for Patient B, RA Rakhmanov agreed that Patient B was not in a clinical trial event, 
though the patient received ANP. On July 5 through 7, 2011, RA Rakhmanov signed Patient B’s 
informed consent as the physician performing the consents.331 

2. ALJs’ Analysis Regarding Unlicensed Practitioners 

As noted before, a physician has the authority to delegate medical acts to an unlicensed 
person under Code § 157.001, but the unlicensed person may “not represent to the public that the 
person is authorized to practice medicine.”332 Code§ l64.053(a)(8) further provides that a 

physician’s failure to supervise adequately the activities of those acting under the physician’s 

supervision constitutes unprofessional or dishonorable conduct likely to deceive or defraud the 

public. 

Dr. Levin correctly noted that other professionals may be addressed as “Doctor.” While 
the Code defines the word “physician,” it does not define “doctor.” Therefore, the context in 

326 StaffEx. 66.H at 26. 
327 StaffExs. 66H at 30; 5.02.A at 783. 
328 Staff Exs. 66.H at 39-40; 5.02.A at 836-838. 
3” StaffExs. 66.H at 55; 5.02.A at 803. 
3 ° StaffEx. 66.H at 60-64. 

1 StaffEx. 5.03.A at 897-910. 
332 Code § 157.001(a)(2).

w

3w
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which the person is acting when called “doctor” is relevant. A person working in a medical 
setting, wearing a white lab coat with a name tag identifying the person as “doctor” and 
addressed by staff as “doctor,” who signs informed consent forms and orders in the space 
designated for the physician’s signature, and communicates with other health—care providers as 

though he were a licensed physician, is representing to the public that he is authorized to practice 

medicine. In a medical setting, RA Rakhmanov presented as a licensed physician, and Patient A, 
Patient A’s wife, Dr. Lassiter, Patient F, and Patient F’s wife reasonably trusted that 

RA Rakhmanov was a licensed physician. 

Respondent was aware, or should have been aware, that patients such as Patients A and F 
and outside oncologists, such as Dr. Lassiter, believed RA Rakhmanov was a licensed physician 
because Respondent had access to correspondence and medical documents that evidenced this 

misrepresentation. Respondent had an obligation as a physician who supervised and delegated 
medical acts to RA Rakhmanov to ensure that RA Rakhmanov did not directly or indirectly 
represent to the public that he was authorized to practice medicine, and Respondent failed to do 
so. By failing to adequately supervise RA Rakhmanov to ensure that he did not misrepresent his 
licensure, either directly or indirectly, Respondent engaged in unprofessional conduct as 

described in Code § l64.053(a)(8). 

Based on the credible evidence, the ALJs 'find that Respondent supervised 

RA Rakhmanov, delegated medical acts to RA Rakhmanov, and permitted him to be 

misrepresented as a person authorized to practice medicine in Violation of Code § 157.001.333 

By failing to adequately supervise RA Rakhmanov to ensure that he did not misrepresent his 
licensure, either directly or indirectly, Respondent engaged in unprofessional conduct as 

described in Code § 164.053(a)(8). 

Although RA Rakhmanov represented himself to be a person authorized to practice 
medicine in violation of Code § 157.001, whether Respondent aided and abetted RA Rakhmanov 

333 Code § 151,002(a)(12) defines a physician to be “a person licensed to practice medicine in this state.”
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in the unlicensed practice of medicine is a different issue. Code § 151.002(a)(13) defines the 

term “practicing medicine” as: 

the diagnosis, treatment, or offer to treat a mental or physical disease or disorder . 

. . by any system or method, or the attempt to effect cures of those conditions, by 
a person who: (A) publicly professes to be a physician or surgeon; or (B) directly 
or indirectly charges money . . . for those services. 

Patient A’s wife agreed that although she believed that RA Rakhmanov was a physician, 
he would not do anything without instructions from Dr. Valladares or Respondent.334 

Ms. McGee, a former patient, confirmed that RA Rakhmanov did not make treatment 

decisions.335 

RA Rakhmanov’s testimony that he relied on the licensed oncologists and physicians to 
diagnose and treat the Clinic’s patients was persuasive. The evidence does not support a finding 
that RA Rakhmanov was unqualified to perform the medical acts that were delegated to him by 
Respondent and the other Clinic physicians. Because RA Rakhmanov was performing medical 
acts under a physician’s supervision that he was qualified to perform, he was not engaged in the 
practice of medicine. The ALJs find that the evidence is insufficient to establish that 

RA Rakhmanov engaged in the practice of medicine or that Respondent delegated to him 
' medical acts that he was unqualified to perform. Therefore, Respondent did not aid and abet 

RAVRakhmanov in the unlicensed practice of medicine as defined in § 164.052(a)(17), and did 
not engage in unprofessional conduct as defined by Code § 164.053(a)(9). 

3. Mohammed Khan 

RA Kahn attended medical school and was licensed in Pakistan. He worked as a 

radiologist for 4 years before moving to the United States, but he is not licensed in the United 
336 States. RA Khan has been employed by the Clinic as a clinical research associate since 1997, 

33“ Tr. V01. 5 at 74-75. 
335 Tr. v61. 13 at 95; Vol. 11 at 16-17. 
336 StaffEx. 66.E at 16.
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primarily working as the Clinic’s radiology technician.337 The Clinic does not perform its own 
radiology scans, but when radiology films arrived at the Clinic, RA Kahn collected them, 
downloaded them into the computer, and then showed them to the treating physicians.338 

RA Khan said that he has not worked directly with patients since 2000 through 2001, but he 
would see patients if they wanted to see their films.339 

In Dr. Wetmore’s opinion, Respondent knew that RA Khan was identified to patients, 
their families, and the patients’ local physicians as a licensed radiologist.340 Specifically, Staff 

asserts that RA Khan practiced medicine by reviewing diagnostic tests, writing radiology reports, 
and being involved in the evaluation and treatment of patients. Dr. Wetmore testified that “[t]he 
measurement of tumor size on radiographic imaging is the practice of radiology and the practice 

of medicine, even if [Respondent] also reviewed and measured after Mohammed Khan to check 
his work.”341 

According to Dr. Wetmore, Patients A through G’s medical records contained conflicting 
radiological reports: some were performed by independent, unaffiliated radiologists and others 
performed by unidentified persons at the Clinic. The reports often contained different 

measurements and assessments than those contained in the independent reports.342 Although she 

agreed that a radiology technician may measure tumors, particularly if the measurements are 
verified by a physician, Dr. Wetmore clarified that “the physician needs to remeasure the lesion 
and absolutely confirm that it is the correct position and orientation to make a valid 

measurement.” She stressed that only the physician may determine if there has been a change in 
the tumor’s size, and she saw no documentation to show that Respondent had remeasured the 
lesions.343 

337 StaffEx. 66.E at 5. 
338 StaffEx. 66.E at 5. 
3” StaffEx. 66. 13 at 16, 18. 
34° StaffEx. 68.03 at 93-94. 
3‘“ StaffEx. 68.03 at 92-95. 
3” StaffEx. 68.03, at 16, 22, 30-34, 41, 46-47, 52, 63-64. 
343 Tr. Vol.3 at 137-138; Vol. 6 at 83-85.
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RA Khan agreed that he measured tumors on the films and would share his measurements 
with the physicians when they viewed radiology films.344 However, he testified that before 

making treatment decisions, Respondent always measured the lesions himself345 and the 

physicians typically interpreted the films themselves and waited for the measurements from the 

outside report.346 

Dr. Burzynski testified that he supervised RA Khan and had RA Khan retrieve the 
archived scans and current scans for the physicians for review. The physicians then instructed 

RA Khan as to which tumors to measure and where to place the cursors so the computer could 
calculate the tumor size. Later, Dr. Burzynski said, he would dictate the radiology notes to 

RA Khan so that RA Khan could write up the report for him.347 According to Dr. Burzynski, 

when he was busy, RA Khan would “come up with the image; and then I came back and I 

checked this to make sure that the images were correct.” 348 

Drs. Marquis and Weaver confirmed that RA Khan took cursory measurements of the 
lesion locations, and created reports that compared the patient’s scans. According to 

Dr. Marquis, Respondent reviewed “every film, every measurement, and adjust [sic] them to his 
. . 350 measurements.”349 Dr. Weaver also said that Respondent rev1ewed RA Khan’s measurements. 

RA Rakhmanov reported that: 

Dr. Khan will show them, I’m going to do from this side of the tumor to this side 
of the tumor. And then, you know, it’s all computer, you know how tall the 
measurements are, that it right away gives you the measurements. And then 
doctors, they should tell their opinion, they agree with that or not. That’s how it 
was done.3 1 

34“ StaffEx. 66.E at 10. 
345 StaffEx. 66.E at 11. 
346 Staff Ex. 66.E at 12-13, 23—24. 
3‘” Tr. v61. 9 at 56; StaffEx. 66.JJ at 11-12. 
34* StaffEx. 66.1] at 12-13. 
349 Tr. v61. 13 at 19—20. 
35° StaffEx. 66.Q at 25-27. 
35‘ StaffEx. 66.H at 66.
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What is “being accomplished, not what is being done,” Dr. Levin stated, determines if the 
person preparing a radiology report is practicing medicine.352 If the radiologist is a “scribe” who 
is taking dictation from the physician to prepare a radiology report, then the radiologist is not 

practicing medicine, according to Dr. Levin. He pointed out that radiology technicians are 
allowed to take the tumor measurements for a physician to use in the physician’s radiology 

report without it constituting the practice of medicine.353 But, if a person creates a radiology 

report that is to be used clinically or in a patient’s ongoing care, not just to facilitate a 

physician’s interpretation of a study, he agreed it is the practice of medicine and the person must 

have a medical license.354 

4. ALJs’ Analysis 

RA Khan worked as a radiology technician and was not directly involved with the 
Clinic’s patients. Because he had limited contact with patients, patients’ families, or outside 

health-care providers, the ALJs find that the evidence is insufficient to show that RA Khan held 
himself out to the public to be a licensed physician. RA Khan admitted he took tumor 
measurements from scans he downloaded into the computer, but Respondent confirmed that he 

remeasured the tumors to verify the measurements. The other physicians relied on their own 
review of the radiologic imaging and the official radiology report to make treatment decisions. 
In addition, Respondent actively supervised RA Kahn while he measured the lesions and then 
adjusted these measurements to conform to his measurements. Although RA Khan prepared the 
radiology reports, Respondent dictated what he wanted in the report. Therefore, the ALJs find 
that Respondent did not fail to supervise RA Khan, did not improperly delegate medical acts to 
him, and did not aid and abet RA Khan in the unlicensed practice of medicine as set out in Code 
§§ 157.001, 164.052(a)(17), and 164.053(a)(8) and (9). 

3” Tr. Vol. 11 at9l-92. 
3” Tr. Vol. 11 at 195. 
35“ Tr. Vol. 11 at 92-93.
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5. Larisa Tikhomirova 

RA Tikhomirova worked at the Clinic as a research associate from July 2009 to May 
2012.355 She attended medical school outside the United States, but is not licensed in the United 
States.356 While working at the Clinic, RA Tikhomirova’s job duties included taking the patient 
histories, maintaining documentation, conducting follow-up visits, communicating with the 

patient and the patient’s local physician, and issuing certain orders as Respondent directed.357 

According to RA Tikhomirova, when a new patient arrived, she took the patient’s history and 
gathered all the medical information and documentation to deliver to the assigned physicians. 

RA Tikhomirova agreed she was present during some of the initial consultations with 
patients, Respondent, and the physicians during which the patient’s disease, diagnoses, and 

proposed treatments were discussed.358 If the patient elected to start treatment, RA Tikhomirova 
said that she would issue the orders for lab tests, PET scans, and MRIs as instructed by the 
physicians. When the results were received, she gave them to the senior physician to review and 
sign. After the senior physician had signed off on the results, RA Tikhomirova stated, she then 
signed it.359 

According to RA Tikhomirova, the Clinic had a mandatory policy that only a licensed 
physician could perform the patient’s physical examination. Once treatment started, if a patient 
experienced any complications or symptoms arose, the research associates were required to call 
either the senior physician or the oncologist.360 If the patient experienced no health problems, 

RA Tikhomirova said that she might not ask the physician to meet with the patient, but it was 
always the licensed physician’s decision whether to see a patient.361 

3“ StaffEx. 66.N at4. 
35" Staff Ex. 66.N at 87-88. 
357 StaffEx. 66.N at 5. 
35“ StaffEx. 66.N at 6-8. 
3” StaffEx. 66.N at 11. 
“0 StaffEx. 66.N at 16. 
36‘ StaffEx. 66.N at 17.
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In Dr. Wetmore’s opinion, Respondent aided and abetted RA Tikhomirova in the 

unlicensed practice of medicine for Patients B and F by: (l) permitting her to be addressed as 
“Dr. Tikhomirova”; (2) allowing her to wear a white lab coat with a name tag identifying her as a 

doctor; and (3) allowing her to take patient histories, sign orders, review laboratory results, 

oversee the infusion of prescribed drugs, review informed consent forms with patients, and 

communicate with other health care providers as though she were a treating physician.362 

According to Dr. Wetmore, Respondent knew and permitted RA Tikhomirova to engage in 
activities similar to those assigned to physician interns and residents.363 

The medical records show that RA Tikhomirova signed the informed consent forms for 
Patient B as the “Physician performing consent” on February 7, 15, and 17, 2011.364 She was 

identified on Patient B’s laboratory results as a doctor, along with Dr. Marquis.365 On 
February 7, 2011, she authorized giving supplements to Patient B and signed on the line 

designated for the physician’s signature.366 On February 7 and March 4, 2011, she signed 
radiology orders for an MRI of Patient B’s brain on the line designated for “Physician 

Signature.”367 

RA Tikhomirova explained that while she reviewed and signed Patient B’s informed 
consent forms, the team had already reviewed each treatment medication with Patient B and his 
local oncologist, Dr. Brandt.368 Although Dr. Valladares was Patient B’s oncologist, RA 
Tikhomirova signed documents in Patient B’s medical records as “Dr. Tikhomirova.”369 This 

included signing the physician order for Aminocare Forte. RA Tikhomirova explained that 

362 Staff Ex. 68.03 at 88, 92-93. 
“3 StaffEx. 68.03 at 88. 
36“ StaffEx. 5.03.A at 909-916; 918-919. 
3“ StaffEx. 5.03.A at 934-948, 959. 
3“ StaffEx. 5.03.A at 1086-1087. 
“7 StaffEx. 5.03.A at 1096, 1187. 
368 Staff Ex. 66.N at 25-26. 
369 StaffExs. 66.N at 33; 5.03.A at 1056.
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Respondent ordered this supplement for every patient.370 As for the February 7, 2011 radiology 
order that she signed, RA Tikhomirova said that the physician ordered the MRI for Patient B and 
instructed her to prepare it. The entry regarding ANP on February 28, 2011, she explained, was 
to train Patient B on how to administer ANP even though it had not yet been prescribed.371 

RA Tikhomirova explained that this was an atypical situation because Patient B and Dr. Brandt 
were in a rush and wanted to be trained while waiting for the test results.372 

RA Tikhomirova was also on the team assigned to Patient F. Patient F and Patient F’s 

wife testified that they believed that RA Tikhomirova was a licensed physician.373 Patient F’s 
wife said that RA Tikhomirova saw her husband every day except for a ten-minute meeting that 
she and her husband had with Respondent and two other male doctors.374 When she learned that 
RA Tikhomirova was not a licensed doctor, Patient F’s wife said she felt “duped.”375 She 

acknowledged that the treatment decisions went through the chain of command. However, she 

said that she thought that RA Tikhomirova managed her husband’s medication regimen because 
RA Tikhomirova told them how Patient F was going to take the medicine and when to start and 

376 stop each treatment series. RA Tikhomirova was the only person at the Clinic who reviewed 
the informed consent forms with them and then signed where the physician’s signature was 
indicated.377 

RA Tikhomirova did not remember Patient F, but confirmed that she took his medical 
history and took dictation during the initial consultation with the patient.378 Dr. Weaver testified 

that while RA Tikhomirova wrote the order for supplements, it was at Respondent’s 

37° StaffEx. 66.N at 36. 
37‘ Staff Ex. 66.N at 56-57. 
372 StaffEx. 66.N at 55-56. 
373 Tr. Vol.4 at 111-112, 118-122, 217-219, 224-226. 
37“ Tr. v61, 4 at 220, 224-225; Staff 13x. 66.2 at 30-38. 
375 Tr. Vol.4 at 224-225; Staff Ex. 66.Z at 31. 
376 Tr. Vol.4 at 226. 
377 Tr. v61. 4 at 272-273. 
37" StaffEx. 66.N at 68.
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directions.379 Patient F’s medical records reflect that on October 15, 2009, she signed Patient F’s 

informed consents for Nexavar and Avastin. as the “Physician performing consent.” On 
October 13, 2009, she signed the informed consent for Xeloda, and on October 9, 2009, she 

signed the informed consents for Rapamune, PB, and Zolinza.380 On each consent form, RA 
Tikhomirova signed as the “Physician performing consent” on the same page that documented 

that the “physician in charge of treatment is Dr. Stanislaw Burzynski.”381 The October 15, 2009 

daily nursing report stated that “Dr. Tikhomirova” gave the order to proceed with Patient F’s 

infusion, but explained that she only repeated to the nurse What the senior physician had 

instructed her to say.382 

6. ALJs’ Analysis 

RA Tikhomirova was called “Dr. Tikhomirova,” she wore a white lab coat with a name 
tag identifying her as “Dr. Tikhomirova,” and she signed consent forms and orders in the space 

designated for the physician’s signature. Because she worked at a medical facility, 

RA Tikhomirova presented to the public as a licensed physician. Respondent had access to 

patient records in which RA Tikhomirova routinely signed her name in the space reserved for the 
physician’s signature. Respondent was aware, or should have been aware, that patients such as 

Patient F believed RA Tikhomirova was a licensed physician. As a supervising physician who 
delegated medical acts to RA Tikhomirova, Respondent had an obligation to ensure that she did 
not represent to the public that she was authorized to practice medicine, and he failed to do so. 

Based on the credible evidence, the ALJs find that Respondent supervised 

RA Tikhomirova, delegated medical acts to RA Tikhomirova, and permitted her to be 

misrepresented as a person authorized to practice medicine in violation of Code § 157.001. By 
failing to adequately supervise RA Tikhomirova to ensure that he did not misrepresent his 

379 StaffEx. 66.Q at4l. 
38° StaffEx. 6.01.A at 1966-1982. 
381 Staff. Ex. 6.01.A at 1966-1982. 
3” StaffExs. 66.N at 78; 6.01.A at 2075.
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licensure, either directly or indirectly, Respondent engaged in unprofessional conduct as 

described in Code § 164.053(a)(8). 

It remains to be determined whether RA Tikhomirova practiced medicine and whether 
Respondent aided and abetted her to do so. In addition to the informed consents, 

RA Tikhomirova signed orders for lab work and supplements and communicated with Patient F 

and his wife as though she were a physician. But, Patient F and his wife agreed that 

RA Tikhomirova did not make treatment decisions. Respondent and Dr. Weaver confirmed that 
she acted under a physician’s supervision when she performed medical acts. Staff presented 

insufficient evidence to show that Respondent delegated medical acts to RA Tikhomirova that 
she was unqualified to perform, or that she performed the medical acts without the supervision of 
a licensed physician. 

The ALJs find that the evidence is insufficient to establish that RA Tikhomirova engaged 
in the practice of medicine or that Respondent delegated to her medical acts she was unqualified 
to perform. Therefore, Respondent did not aid and abet RA Tikhomirova in the unlicensed 
practice of medicine as defined in §§ 164.052(a)(17), and did not engage in unprofessional 

conduct as defined by Code § l64.053(a)(9). 

7. Sheryl] Acelar 

RA Acelar graduated from St. Luke College of Medicine on August 26, 2005. Although 
she practiced medicine in the Philippines, she is not licensed in the United States.383 Respondent 
hired RA Acelar in 2010 and frecguently gave her instructions on what to do at work even though 
Dr. Marquis was her supervisor. 84 RA Acelar left the Clinic in 2014. In Dr. Joshi’s opinion, 

_ RA Acelar was assigned activities that most interns and residents do, but she did not make 
treatment decisions—Respondent did.385 

383 Tr. Vol. 12 at 18-19; StaffEx. 66.C at 4-5. 
38“ StaffEx. 66.A at 29, 31. 
385 StaffEx. 66.A at 30.
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While working at the Clinic, RA Acelar said that she took the patient histories and 
reviewed the “systems with the patient for a new consultation for both targeted gene therapy and 
clinical trial.”386 She kept records for the physicians, monitored phone calls, and relayed 

messages about a patient’s symptomatology in regards to the prescribed medications.387 

RA Acelar denied that she ever evaluated and diagnosed the Clinic patients.388 

RA Acelar was on the team assigned to treat Patients C and G. According to Staff, she 

held herself out to these patients to be a licensed physician.389 Dr. Wetmore testified that the 
Clinic referred to RA Acelar as “Dr. Acelar” and permitted her to wear a white lab coat with a 

name tag identifying her as a doctor.390 According to Dr. Wetmore, if the research associates 

were not practicing medicine, then “they were certainly participating in the Charade to patients 
77391 and other health care providers that they were physicians. Dr. Wetmore maintained that 

Respondent was responsible for, and aided and abetted RA Acelar in, the unlicensed practice of 
medicine.392 

When Patient C first came to the Clinic, Dr. Joshi said RA Acelar took the patient’s 
history, but Dr. J oshi denied that she or any research associate conducted the patients” physician 

examinations.393 According to Dr. Joshi, RA Acelar was responsible for ensuring that the 
laboratory results were delivered to Respondent and Dr. Marquis so they could make treatment 
decisions,394 but she did not participate in the patient’s diagnosis or engage in the practice of 

3“ StaffEx. 66.C at 6. 
“‘7 StaffEx. 66.C at 6 
3“ StaffEx. 66.C at 10. 
3” StaffExs. 66.C at 63-64; 66.Q at 35, 56. 
39° StaffExs. 66.C at 63-64, 77-80, 109-112; 66.Q at 37; 66.11 at 108-110. 
391 StaffEx. 68.03 at 88. 
3‘” StaffEx. 68.03 at 94. 
3” StaffEx. 66.A at 85. 
39“ StaffEx. 66.A at 31.
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medicine. According to Dr. J oshi, RA Acelar “would never make decisions in regard to treating 
a patient, absolutely not.”395 

Dr. Weaver testified that RA Acelar was called “Dr. Acelar” because she had a medical 
degree but he agreed that she worked under the supervision of other licensed physicians.396 

According to RA Acelar, she reviewed the risks and benefits 'of Avastin with Patient C before 
initialing the Statement of Informed Consent in the space designated for the physician’s 

signature as she was directed to do by the physicians.397 Before Patient C signed the informed 
consents, RA Acelar informed him that he had the right to withdraw from treatment at any 

398 RA Acelar put her initials on the Clinic’s form entitled “Consent for Pretreatment time. 

Evaluation,” where it called for the physician’s signature.399 She insisted that the licensed 

physicians made the treatment recommendations,400 she only issued orders for radiology scans 
that the physician ordered. 

According to RA Acelar, Dr. Marquis had her write his progress notes, but he told her 
what to write. After she had written the progress notes, Dr. Marquis reviewed and signed 
them.401 Then, she initialed them. Although she also wrote the order for Patient C’s infiision, 

RA Acelar said she did so because Dr. Marquis ordered it.402 

The Clinic’s billing supervisor, Leann Chiapetta, testified that RA Acelar handled many 
ANP patients and monitored their treatments, did office visits, evaluated the patients, and 

3‘” StaffEx. 66.A at 32. 
396 StaffEx. 66.Q at 9-10. 
397 StaffExs. 66.C at 50, 55; 5.01.A at 1222—1224. 
39“ StaffEx. 66.C at 50, 55. 
3” StaffExs. 66.C at 13; 5.04.A at 1230. 
‘4‘” StaffEx. 66c at 20. 
4‘“ StaffEx. 66.C at 40. 
402 Staff Exs. 66.C at 43; 5.04.A at 1246.
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performed the physical examinations. She clarified that RA Acelar did not make any decisions 
about the drugs a patient was being given.403 Ms. Chiapetta testified that: 

[A] lot of time the RA. was responsible for the patient. The RA. would 
communicate to the oncologist. So the initial physical exam, yes, the oncologist 
would be there, review them; and then, of course, would get with Dr. Burzynski 
and they would come up with whatever treatment plan. After that the RA. was 
responsible for that particular patient. 

So the RA. would have been in the meeting. It is usually the oncologist, the 
RA, Dr. Burzynski, they would all see the patient and discuss with the patient 
and then that was assigned to that particular R.A. from that point.404 

Patient C’s local oncologist, Dr. Waits, testified that he thought RA Acelar was a licensed 
physician because she identified herself as “Dr. Acelar.”405 It was his understanding that 

RAAcelar was the contact physician at the Clinic for Patient C. According to Dr. Waits, 

RA Acelar never told him that she was not a licensed doctor.406 On December 9, 2010, an email 
was sent to RA Acelar at 9:39 am. requesting permission to reduce the dosage before the next 
infusion four days later. RA Acelar responded in two minutes at 9:41 am, directing Dr. Waits 
to make the following adjustment to the patient’s treatment: 

Reduce it to 3 mg/kg and also I will await his [Dr. Waits’s] email/call, thank you. 
Start him him [sic] on Medrol dose pack and maybe give him 40 mg of 
Solumedrol IV or IM. This may help with the rash. If he is still on antibiotics, 
please continue on with it.407 

The same day, Dr. Waits responded in an email to “Dr. Acelar” indicating that “[a]s per your 
correspondence 1 will lower his dose to 3 mg/kg due on 12/13.” RA Acelar responded, but did 
not tell Dr. Waits she was an unlicensed physician.408 She explained that because he never asked 

4‘” StaffEx. 66.Y at 52-55. 
4"“ Staff Ex. 66.Y at 74-76. 
“5 StaffEx. 66.0 at 46—50, 57—58, 63. 
406 StaffEx. 66.C at 63. 
407 StaffEx. 5.04.A at 1430. 
40* StaffExs. 5.04.A at 1430; 66.C at 81.



SOAH DOCKET NO. 503.14-1342.MD PROPOSAL FOR DECISION PAGE 88 

RAAcelar if she was licensed, she did not volunteer this information.409 According to 

RA Acelar, Respondent saw this communication and had her respond to Dr. Waits.410 

According to Patient G’s medical records, RA Acelar answered an email on 

October 30, 2012, in response to a question about whether Patient G could take various 

supplements. RA Acelar replied, “It is okay with me to let her have these supplements.”411 
When Patient G’s local oncologist notified RA Acelar that he had decreased the dosage of 
Decadron that Patient G received, RA Acelar wrote, “I want her back on ANP as soon as 
possible.” RA Acelar said that the November 1, 2012 note regarding this patient was dictated to 
her by Dr. Marquis. After he reviewed and signed off on the note, she said that she initialed it. 

In that note, RA Acelar indicated that Patient G’s scans were reviewed by Respondent, 

Dr. Marquis, and “Dr. Acelar” with the radiology department.412 

8. ALJs’ Analysis 

The Clinic addressed RA Acelar as “Dr. Acelar,” and she wore a white lab coat with a 

name tag identifying her as “Dr. Acelar.” As in the previous discussions regarding the research 
associates, RA Acelar also signed consent forms and orders in the space designated for the 
physician’s signature. Unlike the previous research associates, RA Acelar issued treatment 
orders regarding Patient C, as evidenced by her email communications with Dr. Waits. Patient C 
and Dr. Waits reasonably understood that RA Acelar was a licensed physician. Respondent and 
RA Acelar knew or should have known of this misconception and did nothing to correct it. 

Respondent supervised RA Acelar, delegated medical acts to RA Acelar, and was aware, 
or should have been aware, that RA Acelar represented to the public that she was a licensed 
physician. Respondent had access to patient records in which RA Acelar routinely signed her 

409 StaffEx. 66.C at 63-64, 74. 
41° StaffEx. 66.C at 74-75. 
4“ StaffEx. 5.01.A at 2839-40. 
4 2 Staff Ex. 66.C at 99 (RA Acelar’s deposition). ._.
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name in the space reserved for the physician’s signature and where she documented her 

treatment decisions regarding Patient C. Respondent had an obligation as a physician who 
supervised and delegated medical acts to ensure that RA Acelar did not practice medicine or 
misrepresent to the public that she was liCensed to practice medicine, and he failed to do so in 

violation of Code§ 157.001. Based on the credible evidence, the ALJs find that Respondent 
allowed RA Acelar to make treatment decisions regarding Patient C and permitted her to 
misrepresent that she was a person authorized to practice medicine. By doing so, Respondent 
failed to adequately supervise RA Acelar and aided and abetted RA Acelar in the unlicensed 
practice of medicine in violation of Code §§ 157 .001, 164.052(a)(17), and 164.053(a)(8) and (9). 

9. Lourdes DeLeon 

RA DeLeon attended medical school in 1982, and worked for 10 years as a medical 
doctor in the Philippines.413 She came to the United States in 1996 and began her pediatric 
residency at the University of Kansas Medical Center. RA DeLeon was unable to complete her 

414 residency because she had to care for her sick mother. RA DeLeon has worked as a research 
associate at the Clinic since 2005.415 

According to RA DeLeon, she did not see the patients on clinical trials or who were 
receiving ANP unless she was the only research assistant at the Clinic when the patient arrived. 
On those occasions, she would contact the patient’s physician to find out what to do.416 

RA DeLeon emphasized that her function at the Clinic was to work with the oncologist as an 
assistant. Whatever the oncologist ordered, RA DeLeon said, she carried out because the 
oncologist made the diagnosis and determined the treatment.417 

4‘3 Tr. Vol. 12 at 6-7. 
“4 Tr. Vol. 12 at 6-8, 18-19; StaffEx. 66D at 7. 
“5 Tr. V01. 12 at 8. 
“6 StaffEx. 66D at 16, 21, 23. 
4” StaffEx. 66.D at 10-11.
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Staff accuses RA DeLeon of evaluating and treating Patient E. Staff reasons that because 

RA DeLeon took the patient’s history, signed orders for tests and imaging, reviewed laboratory 
results, oversaw infusions, reviewed the informed consents with the patient, and communicated 

with Patient E’s local oncologist as though she were a treating physician, she was practicing 
418 RA DeLeon admitted that she wore a white coat with a name tag medicine Without a license. 

identifying her as a doctor and was called “Dr.” by the Clinic staff.419 She also signed 

Patient E’s informed consent documents on lines indicated for the physician’s signature. For 

these reasons, Dr. Wetmore testified that Respondent improperly delegated medical acts to 

RA DeLeon and aided and abetted in RA DeLeon’s unlicensed practice of medicine.420 

RA DeLeon explained that she served as a liaison between a Clinic patient and the team 
of physicians assigned to treat that patient.421 Although she is a licensed doctor in the 

Philippines, she testified that she understood that because she was unlicensed in the 

United States, she could not practice medicine. She maintained that she has not practiced 

medicine in the United States, and that she told Clinic patients that she was a graduate of a 

foreign medical school, but her function at the Clinic was as a research associate, not as a 

physician.422 

RA DeLeon testified that she was present when Respondent explained to her patients that 
23 During the initial consultation, she said, Respondent she was not a licensed physician.4 

introduced her to the patients “as a research associate, as a foreign graduate medical, but it’s [sic] 

not licensed to practice medicine here in . . . Texas or the United States.”424 She said that

4 8 StaffEx. 66.A at 28-32, 70, 80-85. 
9 Tr. V01. 12 at 31-36; StaffEx. 66.D at 27-29, 60-63, 70-71. 
0 StaffEx. 68.03 at 88, 93-94. 

42‘ Tr. Vol. 12 at 5, 11,20. 
4 2 StaffEx. 66.D at28. 

3 Tr. V01. 12 at 10-11. 
4 Tr. Vol. 12 at 11.

4 ._r

4 N

N
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Respondent told patients that her role was as “a liaison between the patient and the physician and 

. . . as a contact — immediate contact with the patients and the physicians.”425 

RA DeLeon recalled that Patient E was a physician from New York.426 Although the 

Clinic staff addressed her as Dr. DeLeon, she testified that she informed Patient E that she was 
“working as a research associate and this is my function. This is what I do here.”427 According 

to RA DeLeon, Respondent and Dr. Yi conferred and agreed on Patient E’s cancer treatment and 
she documented their discussion. At the initial consultation, she said that Dr. Yi reviewed the 

treatment plan with Patient E and Respondent explained to Patient E the risks and benefits of
8 taking the medications together.42 Afterwards, RA DeLeon said she reviewed the informed 

consents with Patient E. 

When Patient E’s blood tests results arrived, RA DeLeon explained, she showed them to 
Dr. Yi and he told her if it was okay for the patient to start the infusion treatments. The first 

treatment, she said, was often PB. On September 8, 2011, she asked Respondent and Dr. Yi if 
Patient E could begin taking PB and both said to do 30.429 Before treatment, RA DeLeon said 
she discussed the risks and benefits of PB with Patient E, and then he reviewed and signed the 
informed consent form. She added that she had previously given Patient E the consent forms so 
he could read them. RA DeLeon said that she did not know why her name was on a 

September 7, 2011 radiology note because she was not involved in anything related to 

radiology.430 

“5 Tr. v61. 12 at 11. 
4 6 StaffEx. 66.D at 26. 

7 StaffEx. 66.D at28. 
42* StaffEx. 66.D at 64. 
429 StaffEx. 66.1) at 55. 
4 ° StaffEx. 66.D at 46.

N
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10. ALJs’ Analysis 

The ALJs found RA DeLeon to be a credible witness. Although RA DeLeon wore a 

white lab coat with a name tag identifying her as “Dr. DeLeon,” was called “Dr. DeLeon,” and 
signed consent forms and lab and imaging orders in the space designated for the physician’s 

signature, her testimony that she told patients she was unlicensed was persuasive. She clarified 

that she told Patient E that her function at the Clinic was to assist the Clinic’s physicians and 
follow their instructions, and that appears to be what she did. The evidence presented was 

insufficient to show that RA DeLeon made treatment decisions. 

Although RA DeLeon should have refrained from signing in areas designated for the 
physician’s signature, she made certain that Patient E was aware that she was not authorized to 
practice medicine, and she acted only under the physician’s supervision. Staff failed to provide 

sufficient evidence to establish that she was unqualified to perform the medical acts the 

physicians delegated to her. Therefore, the ALJs find that credible evidence shows that she 
performed the medical acts that she was qualified to perform under the direction of a licensed 

physician and did not misrepresent to Patient E that she was authorized to practice medicine. 

11. Summary of ALJs’ Analysis 

The following is a summary of the ALJs’ determinations: 

1. Under Code § 157.001, Respondent was not responsible for the 
professional conduct of Dr. Gregory Burzynski and Dr. Marquis in diagnosing 
and treating patients at the Clinic. Both physicians were qualified by training, 
experience, and licensure to practice medicine. The evidence presented was 
insufficient to show that Respondent improperly delegated to either physician 
medical acts that they were unqualified to perform as set out in Code 
§ 164.053(a)(8) and (9). 

2. Respondent supervised and delegated medical acts to RAs Rakhrnanov, 
Tikhomirova, and Acelar and permitt them to be misrepresented to the public as 
a person authorized to practice medicine in violation of Code § 157.001. By 
failing to adequately supervise these research associates so that they did not make
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such misrepresentations, Respondent also engaged in unprofessional conduct as 
described in Code § 164.053(a)(8). 

3. The evidence is insufficient to establish that RAs Rakhmanov, Kahn, 
Tikhomirova, and DeLeon engaged in the practice of medicine or that Respondent 
delegated medical acts to them that they were unqualified to perform. Therefore, 
Respondent did not aid and abet these research associates in the unlicensed 
practice of medicine as defined in §§ l64.052(a)(17), and did not engage in 
unprofessional conduct as defined by Code § 164.053(a)(9). 

4. Respondent allowed RA Acelar to engage in the practice of medicine and 
therefore aided and abetted her in the unlicensed practice of medicine as defined 
in §§ 164.052(a)(l7), and engaged in unprofessional conduct as defined by 
Code § 164.053(a)(9). 

VI. INFORMED CONSENT431 

Staff asserts that Respondent failed to meet the standard of care by inadequately 

informing Patients A through G about: (1) the efficacy and safety of combining various anti— 

cancer drugs; (2) the reasonably foreseeable side effects of such treatment; and (3) the off-label 

use of the drugs. In general, Staff argues that the Clinic’s informed consent forms did not 

provide patients with enough information to clearly inform them about the potential dangers and 

the “untested, experimental” nature of Respondent’s recommended treatments.432 

Staff also alleges that Respondent failed to timely secure informed consents from patients 

and failed to comply with the requirements of Board Rule 200.3(2) and (7)(c). According to 

Staff, Respondent’s failure to obtain valid informed consents from these patients constitutes a 

failure to practice medicine in an acceptable manner consistent with public health and welfare 
and subjects him to disciplinary action pursuant to Code § 164.051(a)(6). Staff further asserts 

that by failing to: (1) adequately disclose reasonably foreseeable side effects related to the 

combined used of drugs; (2) obtain informed consent before treatment; (3) disclose alternative 

treatments; and (4) appropriately delegate the responsibility of reviewing the informed consent 

43] Issues regarding Staff’s allegations that Respondent failed to disclose to patients his ownership interest in other 
businesses that were associated with the Clinic are discussed in the next section of the proposal for decision and will 
not be discussed here. 
432 Staff’s Closing Argument at 66. Although Staff accuses Respondent of giving Patient D inadequate informed 
consents, the ALJs are aware that Patient D elected not to be treated by the Clinic.
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with Patients A through G to research associates, Respondent committed prohibited practices as 
described in Code §§ 164.052(a)(5) and 164.053(a)(8), and 22 TAC § 190.8(1)(A), (C), (G), (H), 
and (1)433 

As discussed in the previous section, it is unnecessary for a physician to review the 

informed consent forms with a patient so long as a qualified person does so. Respondent had the 

research associates, unlicensed foreign-trained doctors, review the informed consent forms with 

the patients. Although Staff questions whether the research associates were qualified to do so, as 

discussed in the preceding section, Staff failed to show by a preponderance of the evidence that 
the Clinic’s research associates were unqualified to review the informed consent forms with 

patients. 

Similarly, the informed consent forms for Afinitor and Sutent signed by Patient E—that 
misrepresented that Afinitor would only be given if the treatment with Sutent failed—~were 

previously discussed in Section IV(F)(3), and will not be further discussed here. 

A. Concurrent Use of Medications 

The Clinic gave each patient an informed consent statement for the patient’s pretreatment 
evaluation as well as an informed consent statement for each prescribed drug.434 The 

pretreatment evaluation informed consent form disclosed that before a specific treatment 

recommendation and plan could be developed, the patient had to undergo a physical 

examination, provide a blood and urine sample, and that additional x-rays and scans might be 
39435 and a necessary. The form provided a signature line for the “Physician performing consent, 

paragraph entitled “Patient’s Statement.” This paragraph stated, among other things, the 

following: 

433 Staff’s Closing Argument at 22. 
434 For example, Staff Ex. 5.05.A at 1798-99. 
435 StaffEx. 5.05.A at 1799.
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. . . any specific treatment plan proposed will be discussed with me further and 
that I [the patient] will be required to sign a more specific informed consent form 
for the specific treatment [sic] program that I might participate in. I understand 
that I may freely withdraw from being part of this regimen at any time. I have 
received a copy of this consent form to keep for myself.436 

After a treatment plan was developed, the Clinic gave the patient a separate informed 

consent form for each drug being administered under the treatment plan. The informed consent 

form for each drug listed the potential side effects of that drug in a section entitled “POSSIBLE 
SIDE EFFECTS AND RISK OF THIS PROGRAM.”437 It did not address the effects of the 

concurrent use of the medications. The informed consent form also advised the patient that “all 

treatment for your malignancies, either conventional or experimental, have potential side effects, 

including those that may be life threatening; you should be aware that there are risks associated 
with this regimen,” and that “this regimen might involve risks of which we are not currently 
aware 35438 

Patient F acknowledged that he signed the informed consent forms regarding the 

medications in his treatment plan, but said he did not understand what medications he was 

taking. Although RA Tikhomirova reviewed the informed consent information with Patient F, 
he admitted that he did not take the time to read the forms.439 Patient F’s wife explained that 

they felt hurried when they were going over the informed consent forms and did not understand 
what medications Patient F had been prescribed until they met with their local oncologist at 
home.440 Patient F’s wife agreed that there were lengthy discussions at the Clinic about the side 

effects of the medications, and that neither she nor her husband asked any questions to which 

they did not receive an answer.441 

43" For example, StaffExs. 5.03,A at 918-919; 5.01.A at 312-313; 5.05.A at 1798-1799. 
‘37 StaffEx. 5.05A at 1787. 
43“ StaffEx. 5.05.A at 1787. 
4” Tr. Vol.4 at 173-185; Staff Ex. 6.01.A at 1963-1982. 
44" Staff Ex. 66.2 at 36, 104; Tr. v61. 4 (Confidential) at 239-240, 256. 
4‘“ Tr. Vol.4 (Confidential) at 258.
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Staff maintains that Respondent failed to obtain adequate informed consents from these 

patients because he failed to disclose the risks associated with combining various anti—cancer 

drugs. Based on the information Staff provided to him, Staff’s expert, Dr. Fost, testified that 

Respondent failed to meet his ethical and professional responsibility to candidly disclose to 

Patients A through F the known risks of the drugs being prescribed in their treatment regimen 
and the potential side effects from combining these drugs in an untested manner.442 

Dr. Fost acknowledged that before his retirement, his medical practice focused on 

pediatrics and bioethics, that he is not an oncologist or a biochemist, and that he did not treat 

cancer patients. Although Dr. Fost has not been an IRB member for 10 years,443 he stated that he 
99444 frequently serves as a consultant in the care of cancer patients, and has served on two FDA 

committees. Dr. Fost agreed that he has never been a principal investigator in an FDA-approved 
clinical trial.445 

Dr. Fost pointed out that the Clinic’s pretreatment evaluation statement represented that 

the patient would “be asked to sign a treatment specific consent form indicating that [he] 

understands that particular treatment and that [he] wished to receive that treatment regimen.”446 

However, Dr. Fost noted that after the treatment plan was established, Respondent did not give 
these patients a more specific informed consent regarding the treatment plan to review and sign. 
Instead, patients were given consent forms for individual drugs without disclosing the risks 

associated with the patients’ particular treatment plan. 

Respondent maintains that the Clinic’s informed consent forms speak broadly to the 

treatment plan and regimen, including that the regimen may be life-threatening.447 In addition, 

Respondent submits that the Board rules do not require that informed consent forms account for 

4‘2 StaffEx. 68.01 at 24, 30, 
4‘” Tr. Vol. 1 at 100, 189. 
44“ Tr. Vol. 1 at 100. 
445 Tr. Vol. 1 at 112. 
446 For example, StaffExs. 5.03.A at 918-919; 5.01.A at 312-313; 5.04.A at 1229-1230. 
447 StaffEx. 5.02.A at 823.
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all possible combinations of drugs/agents that may be given a patient. Dr. Levin testified that, in 

private practice, physicians frequently prescribe medications concurrently without specific 

consent to the combinations, for instance, blood pressure and cholesterol medications.448 In his 

opinion, the Clinic’s informed consent forms were sufficient in a private practice setting to 

counsel the advanced cancer patients about the benefits of each medication, the possible side 

effects, and the rationale for the use of each drug. 

In Dr. Levin’s experience, a medical oncologist will tell the patient about the individual 

drugs, the side effects, benefits, and rationale for administering the drug, but not impart the side 

effects of the concurrent use of the drugs because they are unknown.449 Dr. Levin explained: 

Personalized medicine is still a relatively new model although it is now 
completely accepted in the medical community . . . with advanced cancer patients 
a physician has to weigh carefully how much information should be provided to a 
patient. Moreover, in my experience, most patients who have chosen 
personalized multi-agent therapy know that their prognosis is very poor and have 
decided to employ a regimen that would probably not be given in an academic 
institution or in most general oncology practices. . . . To provide such information 
is simply not the standard of care used by private practitioners employing this 
treatment approach.450 

When an adult cancer patient has no other curative treatment options, Dr. Levin 

explained, it is a physician’s duty to consult with the patient and arrive at “the best possible 

treatment based, in part, on the physician’s prior experience.”45 1 He noted that outside of clinical 
trials, it is more common than is evidenced by published articles that oncologists use multiple- 
target agents and anti-cancer drugs to treat advanced cancer patients where the use of the drugs is 

based primarily on the physician’s prior experience.452 

44“ Resp. Ex. 165 at 56. 
“49 Resp. Ex. 165 at 36. 
45° Resp. Ex. 165 at36. 
451 Resp. Ex. 165 at 32. 
‘52 Resp. Ex. 165 at 34.
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Dr. Levin emphasized that the Clinic’s consent forms disclosed that the treatment 

regimen may be “life-threatening” and that it “might involve risks of which we are not currently 
aware.”453 The Clinic’s medical records, Dr. Levin reported, showed that patients were given 

one drug and monitored for side effects before adding another drug.454 Even Staff’s expert, 

Dr. Wetmore, agreed that the Clinic provided every patient an informed consent form for each 

drug prescribed that advised the patient that the drug could have life-threatening side effects.455 

Additionally, Dr. Levin pointed out that the toxicities and side effects of combined anti— 

cancer drugs are not widely published and are frequently unknown. In his opinion, a physician 

may explain the benefits and rationale for treatment with concurrent use of drugs, but it would be 
impossible for the physician to impart unknown side effects from this combination.456 Because 

the risks of the concurrent use of anti-cancer drugs are unpredictable, he maintained that 

physicians are not required to provide a specific informed consent form to the patients about 

such risks.457 SuCh a requirement, he insisted, is beyond the standard of care.458 

The ALJs find that having represented to patients on the preevaluation informed consent 
that they would be asked later to sign a treatment-specific consent form for the specific treatment 

program, Respondent was obligated to ensure the Clinic provided such an informed consent to 

the patients. The record reflects that Respondent failed to do so for Patients A through G in 
Violation of 22 TAC § 190.8(1)(I). 

However, the credible evidence established that in a private practice setting, the informed 

consent statements given to the Clinic patients for each drug included in their treatment plan was 

sufficient to provide the patients with adequate information about the drug to give an informed 

consent for the drug. Dr. Levin’s testimony that the concurrent use of various anti-cancer drugs 

453 For example, Staff Ex. 5.2.A. at 822—823. 
4 4 Resp. BX. 165 at35-36. 
455 Tr. Vol.3 at 121, 124, 125-126. 
456 Resp. BX. 165 at 36. 
4 7 Resp. BX. 165 at35-37. 
458 

L1. 

u: 

Respondent’s Brief at 33.
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is frequently unknown and based in part on the physician’s experience in using the drugs was 
compelling. The informed consent forms indicated that use of the drugs could be life-threatening 

and that the risks associated with the treatment regimen were unknown. Therefore, the ALJS 
find insufficient evidence to support Staff’s allegation that Respondent was required to obtain an 
informed consent as to each combination of anti-cancer drugs used to treat an advanced cancer 

patient. 

B. Timeliness of Obtaining Informed Consent 

Staff asserts that Patients A, B, C, E, and F were treated with anti—cancer drugs before 

Respondent had the patients review and sign the informed consent forms in violation of Board 

Rule 190.8(1)(I).459 Untimely consent, Staff submits, is inadequate because informed consent 

must be obtained “prior to the initiation of the treatment plan.”460 In addition, Staff contends that 

most of the informed consent forms for these patients did not identify the physician in charge or 

provide details on how the informed consent was obtained. 

On August 30, 2011, Patient A signed the informed consent form for Afinitor and began 
taking this drug the same day.461 On September 1, 2011, Patient A signed the informed consent 

62 and began treatment with this drug the same day.463 On 
464 

form for Irinotecan4 

September 2, 2011, Patient A signed the informed consent form for Votrient and began 

treatment with this drug on September 6, 2011.465 Patient A signed the informed consent for 

459 22 TAC § 190.8(1)(I) states that a physician’s failure to obtain from a patient an informed consent before 
performing tests, treatment, or procedures, constitutes engaging in a practice inconsistent with public health and 
welfare. 
46° Staff Exs. 5.02.A at 814, 838 (Patient A); 5.03.A at 912, 1135 (Patient B); 5.05.A at 1618, 1797 (Patient E); 
33 at 22637. 
46‘ StaffEx. 5.02.A at 799, 829-831. 
462 StaffEx. 5.02.A at 825-828. 
463 Staff Ex. 5.02.A at 799. 
46“ Staff Ex. 5.02.A at 822-824. 
“5 Staff Ex. 5.02.A at 796.
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Avastin on October 14, 2010,466 and began treatment on October 15, 2010.467 Patient A signed 
the informed consent for PB468 on October 11, 2010 and began PB treatments on October 11, 
2010.469 The ALJ S find that the consent forms were reviewed and signed by Patient A before 
receiving treatment with the drugs. 

On February 8, 2011, Patient B signed the informed consent form for PB and began 
treatment with it the same day. On February 9, 2011, Patient B was given Avastin, but the 
informed consent form for Avastin was not signed until February 17, 2011.470 On February 15, 
2011, Patient B signed an informed consent form for Votrient, the day the drug was first 

471 On July 5, 2011, Patient B signed an informed consent form for Tarceva, the administered. 

day the drug was first administered. 472 On July 6, 2011, Patient B signed an informed consent 
form for Afinitor, the day the drug was first administered. 473 On July 7, 2011, Patient B signed 
informed consent forms for Sprycel and Nexavar, the day the drugs were first administered.474 

With the exception of the February 9, 2011 consent form for Avastin, the ALJs find that the 
informed consent forms were reviewed and signed by Patient B before receiving treatment with 
the drugs. 

On May 14, 2010, Patient C signed the informed consent form and then began treatment 
with PB.475 On May 17, 2010, Patient C signed the informed consent form and then began 
treatment with Avastin.476 On May 18, 2010, Patient C signed the informed consent form and 

“6 StaffEx. 5.02.A at 832-834. 
467 StaffEx. 5.02.A at 808. 
4“ StaffEx. 5.02.A at 836-838. 
“9 StaffEx. 5.02.A at836-838, 814. 
47° Staff Ex. 5.03.A at 909-911, 1020. 
47‘ Staff Ex. 5.03.A at 912-914, 1024. 
472 Staff Ex. 5.03.A at 906-908, 1049. 
473 Staff Ex. 5.03.A at 903-905, 1050. 
47“ Staff Ex. 5.03.A at 897-902, 1051. 
475 Staff Ex. 5.04.A at 1226-1228, 1439. 
476 Staff Ex. 5.04.A at 1222-1224, 1438.
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then began treatment with Tarceva.477 On May 19, 2010, Patient C signed the informed consent 
form and then began treatment with Nexavar. Patient C signed the informed consent for each 
drug prior to receiving treatment with that drug.478 

After Patient C was discharged from the Clinic and returned home to Indiana, he 
continued the cancer treatment under the care of his local oncologist, Dr. Waits. Respondent 

maintains that it was Dr. Waits’s responsibility to secure informed consent for any new drugs 
administered to the patient while the patient was in Dr. Waits’s care. Staff provided no authority 

to address such a situation. Because Dr. Waits was caring for the patient and administering the 
new drug, the ALJS find that once Patient C returned home and was being treated by Dr. Waits, 
any additional informed consent forms that the patient needed to review and sign were his 

responsibility. The ALJS find that the consent forms for drugs the Clinic administered were 
reviewed and signed by Patient C before receiving treatment with the drugs. 

On September 8, 2011, Patient E signed the informed consent form for PB and then 
began treatment the same day.479 On September 9, 2011, he signed the informed consent form 
and then began treatment with XgeVa (denosumab).480 Patient E signed the informed consent for 
Afinitor on September 14, 2009, the same day he began treatment with this drug.481 On 
September 13, 2011, Dr. Yi also prescribed Sutent to Patient E, indicating that it was to be 
started on September 15, 2011. PatientE signed the informed consent form for Sutent on 

September 14, 2011.482 RA DeLeon signed these consent forms and represented that she 

reviewed them with the patient.483 The ALJS find that the consent forms were reviewed and 
signed by Patient E before receiving treatment with the drugs. 

477 StaffEx. 5.04.A at 1219-1221, 1437. 
"8 StaffEx. 5.04.A at 1216-1218, 1436. 
47? Staff Ex. 5.05.A at 1648, 1795-1797. 
48° Staff Ex. 5.05.A at 1646, 1792-1794. 
4‘” Staff Ex. 5.05.A at 1645, 1789-1791. 
4” StaffEx. 5.05.A at 1641, 1786-1788. 
483 Staff Ex. 5.05.A at 1632, 1786-1788.
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Patient F began treatment with PB on October 9, 2009; Rapamune with grapefruit juice 
on October 10; Zolinza on October 11, 2009 and Xeloda on October 13, 2009. On 
October 14, 2009, he began receiving Avastin, with Nexavar scheduled to begin the next day. 
The informed consent forms for PB, Rapamune, and Zolinza were signed by Patient F on 

October 9, 2009, before he received treatment. The informed consent form for Xeloda was 

signed October 13, 2009, and the informed consent forms for Avastin and Nexavar were signed 

on October 15, 2009.484 With the exception of the October 15, 2009 consent form for Avastin, 

the ALJs find that the consent forms were reviewed and signed by Patient F before receiving 
treatment with the drugs. 

Based on the record, the ALJs find that Respondent did not timely obtain informed 
consent from Patients B and F before beginning treatment with Avastin, in violation of Board 
Rule 190.8(1)(I). 

C. Off-label Use of FDA-Approved Drugs 

Staff maintains that the informed consent forms signed by Patients A, B, C, E, and F 
failed to document that the drug was being prescribed off-label or that Respondent’s treatment 
plan involved a drug treatment that could be “fatal.” Instead, Respondent’s informed consent 

forms advised the patient that the drug could be “life-threatening.”485 Dr. Levin testified that, in 

2005, NCCN reported that approximately 50-75% of anti-cancer drugs used in treating cancer in 
the United States were used off-label.486 

Drs. Burzynski and Levin disagree with Staff’s allegation that Respondent was required 
to include on the informed consent form that the drugs being prescribed were being used “off- 

label,” meaning that the FDA had not approved the medications for the use intended by 
Respondent. Dr. Burzynski pointed out that, although the Clinic’s informed consent forms did 

48“ Staff Ex. 6.01.A at 2047-2049; 2066; 2071. 
485 Staffs Closing Argument at 54. 
4“ Resp. BX. 165 at 11,
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not identify that the drugs were being prescribed “off—label,” the forms did disclose for what uses 

the FDA had approved the medication. Dr. Burzynski also stressed that the patients were 

informed that the drugs were being prescribed “off-label.”487 

The ALJs find that Staff provided insufficient evidence to show that Respondent violated 
the Code or any Board rule by identifying in the informed consents what uses had FDA approval 
rather than stating that he was using the drug “off-label.” 

D. Alternative Therapy or Clinical Trials 

According to Staff, Board Rule 200.3(2) and (7)(C) required Respondent to disclose to 
488 the objectives of the treatment; the, risks and benefits; any patient receiving alternative therapy 

the extent to which the proposed treatment could interfere with any ongoing or recommended 
medical care; the underlying therapeutic basis for the treatment; whether the FDA had approved 
it for human use; and that the treatment was under clinical investigation if it was. Staff 

acknowledged that the FDA had oversight of the informed consent forms the Clinic used for 
patients receiving ANP, but argued that the FDA’s correspondence indicated that the Clinic’s 
consent forms did not comply with federal regulations.489 

Staff also asserts that Respondent failed to secure informed consent from Patient B for 
ANP. However, the evidence previously discussed showed that Dr. Brandt treated Patient B 
with ANP in Germany. Patient B did not receive ANP at the Clinic.490 According to Staff, 

Patient G’s informed consent was inadequate because it did not disclose the patient’s financial 

4‘” Tr. Vol. 7 at 152. 
488 Complementary and alternative medicine is defined in 22 TAC § 200.2(1) as “[t]hose health care methods of 
diagnosis, treatment, or interventions that are not acknowledged to be conventional but that may be offered by some 
licensed physicians in addition to, or as an alternative to, conventional medicine, and that provide a reasonable 
potential for therapeutic gain in a patient’s medical condition and that are not reasonably outweighed by the risk of 
such methods.” Conventional medicine is defined as “[t]hose health care methods of diagnosis, treatment, or 
interventions that are offered by most licensed physicians as generally accepted methods of routine practice, based 
upon medical training, experience and review of the peer reviewed scientific literature.” 22 TAC § 200.2(2). 
489 Staff referred to its discussion in Section VII.l of its reply brief regarding Dr. Burzynski’s ethical responsibilities 
when conducting a clinical trial. Staff’s Reply to Respondent’s Closing Argument at 13. 
490 See Section IV.C.
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responsibilities for all costs except for the ANP and did not disclose Respondent’s interest in 
ownership in other businesses associated with the Clinic. These issues are addressed in 

subsequent sections and will not be addressed here.491 

The ALJs find that the FDA and Respondent ultimately reached a resolution regarding 
the contents of the informed consent forms to be used in a clinical study. Therefore, the ALJs 
find that this issue was remedied through the proper process among Respondent, BRI, and the 
FDA. In addition, the FDA’s correspondence regarding the consent forms does not establish a 

violation of the Code or the Board rules without further evidence of such a Violation. 

E. Summary of ALJs’ Analysis 

Board Rule 190.8(1)(I) provides that the failure to obtain informed consent from a patient 

“before performing tests, treatments, or procedures,” is inconsistent with public health and 

welfare. Patients A through F were not involved in the Clinic’s clinical trials, but because the 
treatments that were provided to them constituted “complementary and alternative medicine” as 

defined by Board Rule 200.3, this rule is also applicable to these patients. v 

1. Respondent allowed the Clinic to misrepresent in the patients’ preevaluation informed 
consent form that the patient would be asked to sign a treatment specific consent form for the 
specific treatment program when no such informed consent was provided to patients. Such 
conduct violated 22 TAC § l90.8(l)(l). 
2. Respondent failed to give Patients B and F the informed consent forms for Avastin before 
administering the drug to the patients in Violation of 22 TAC §§ l90.8(l)(G), (H) and (I) and 
200.3(2). 

491 The issue concerning Respondent’s responsibility to disclose his financial interest in associated businesses is 

addressed in the next section of this PFD. The issue concerning Respondent’s alleged failure to disclose Patient G’s 
financial obligations while being treated with ANP is addressed in Section X.G.
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VII. DISCLOSURE OF OWNERSHIP INTEREST IN PHARMACY AND 
LABORATORY 

Staff alleged that the failure of Respondent to disclose his ownership interest in the 

pharmacies that dispensed the drugs prescribed to Clinic patients and his ownership interest in 

the laboratory that performed the tests ordered for Clinic patients constituted unprofessional 

conduct. Board Rule 190.8(2)(H) provides that a healthcare provider who refers a patient to a 

facility, laboratory, or pharmacy without disclosing the existence of the licensee’s ownership 

interest in the entity to that patient has engaged in unprofessional conduct that is likely to 

deceive, defraud, or injure the public. 

Respondent is the sole owner of Southern Family Pharmacy and SRB Pharmacy. Patients 
who received care from Respondent had their medication prescriptions, including PB and ANP, 
filled at Southern Family Pharmacy or SRB Pharmacy.492 The SR Burzynski Lab, also owned by 
Respondent, conducted laboratory analysis of samples taken for patients treated by Respondent 

and Respondent’s subordinates. 493 

Staff argues that Respondent and others at the Clinic did not disclose Respondent’s 

ownership interests in the pharmacies or laboratory to patients. Dr. Burzynski testified that he 

had no understanding that he had a legal or ethical responsibility to disclose his ownership 

interest in the pharmacies to patients seen at the Clinic even though Southern Family Pharmacy 
was located within the Clinic building, but that he would explain his ownership if asked. He 
stated that he had relied on the legal advice of his long-time attorney in this assumption. He 
further stated that after the matter was brought up in the initial Staff Complaint, a notice was 

posted at the pharmacy that Respondent was the owner.494 Patient F testified that the financial 
officer at the clinic told his wife and him that the pharmacy where they could get the 

prescriptions, and the only place they could get PB, was owned by Respondent.495 

4” Tr.Vo1.9 at 127-129. 
4” Tr. Vol.9 at 131-132. 
49“ Tr. Vol. 8 at 111. 
4” Tr. Vol.4 at 115-116.
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In his deposition, Dr. Gregory Burzynski stated he was not sure if he disclosed 

Respondent’s ownership interest in the pharmacy to Patients A through G, but he may have, and 
he thought the patients understood that his father was the owner.496 In his deposition, 

Dr. Marquis stated that, for the patients he saw, he never disclosed Respondent’s ownership 

interest in the pharmacy.497 

Dr. Burzynski testified that he did not disclose his ownership interest in the lab because 

the name SR Burzynski Lab was on every lab report. 498 Staff asserts that this is not adequate to 

disclose his ownership interest because there is nothing in the records to indicate that patients 

knew the lab’s name prior to the tests’ being conducted. In addition, Staff argues that patients 

would not have seen the lab results bearing the name of the lab until after the tests were 
conducted and after they would have accrued charges for the laboratory tests. 

In regard to the pharmacies, even though Southern Family Pharmacy was located in the 

same building as the Clinic, it is apparent that no specific disclosure of Respondent’s ownership 

in it or in SRB Pharmacy was made to the Clinic patients. Respondent’s failure to disclose his 

ownership interest in the only pharmacies where the patients could get PB or ANP was a 

violation of 22 TAC § 190.8(2)(H). 

In regard to the laboratory, it is clear from the name SR Burzynski Lab that Respondent 
had some ownership interest in it. In addition, Staff has pointed to no evidence that patients 

were directed to have laboratory tests prior to being informed that the tests were to be performed 

by SR Burzynski Lab. As a result, Staff has failed to establish that Respondent failed to disclose 
his ownership interest in the laboratory, in violation of 22 TAC § 190.8(2)(H).499 

496 StaffEx, 66.GG at 8-9. 
497 StaffEx. 66.11 at 6. 
49* Tr. Vo1. 9 at 132—133. 
499 In its Briefs, Staff also argued that Respondent failed to disclose his ownership interest in Ampolgen, a company 
owned by Respondent that markets and distributes a generic version of PB tablets, and in BRI. However these 
issues were not included in the pleading and therefore cannot be addressed in this proposal for decision.
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VIII. IMPROPER CHARGES AND RETAINER DEMANDS 

Staff alleges that Respondent and other persons under Respondent’s direction, 

supervision, and control participated in misleading patients into paying retainers prior to 

receiving evaluation and treatment, billing patients for exorbitant charges for drugs, medical 

supplies and medical services, and charging for drugs, medical supplies and medical services that 

were not medically necessary and that Dr. Wetmore testified were often several times the 
national average and the recommended cap for services.500 According to Staff, these improper 

charges to Patients A through G, as listed on Appendix B of the Complaint, constituted 

violations of Code § 164.053(a) that authorizes the Board to take disciplinary action against 
Respondent based on (1) Respondent’s commission of an act that violates any state or federal 

law if the act is connected with the physician’s practice of medicine;501 and/or (2) in violation of 

§ 311.0025(7) of the Texas Health and Safety Code502 that prohibits a hospital, treatment facility, 

mental health facility, or health-care professional from submitting to a patient or a third party 

payor, a bill for a treatment that the hospital, facility, or professional knows was not provided or 
knows was improper, unreasonable, or medically or clinically unnecessary.503 In addition, Staff 

alleges that these actions constituted violations under Code § 164.052(a)(5) and 22 TAC 
§ 190.8(2)(J), which states that providing medically unnecessary services to a patient constitutes 
unprofessional and dishonorable conduct. 

Staffs expert Elaine Kloos, maintained that Respondent, as the president and owner of 
the Clinic, was responsible for the Clinic’s billings.504 In her opinion, Respondent improperly 
charged Patients A through G and third-party payors for: 

medically unnecessary diagnostic testing, drugs, treatments other than drugs, 
medical supplies, and medical services; 50 

500 Staff Exs. 61.A.01 at 45074, 45079, 45081, 45085, 45088, 45091, 45094; 68.03 at 22-23, 31-32, 36, 46, 49-50, 
56, 61-62, 67, 69-70, 90. 
5‘” Code § l64.053(a)(1). 
502 Code§ 164.053(a)(7). 
503 Tex. Health & Safety Code § 311.0025(a). 
5"“ StaffEx. 68.02 at 7, 9, 14, 16-17, 75-76, 80-102.
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prolonged services, after-hours visits, diagnostic testing, drugs, treatments other 
than drugs, medical supplies and medical services that were inadequately 
supported by documentation in the medical record; 

office visits, education, and telephone contacts as though a physician’s services 
were provided when the services were rendered by non-licensed foreign medical 
graduates or nursing staff; 

“monthly case management fees,” as though the patients were under the care of a 
home health agency when they were not; and 

six weeks of near-daily infusions of ANP to Patient G as though the drugs were 
being administered by clinic staff when ANP was administered the drugs at home 
by the patient or her caregivers. 

Additionally, Ms. Kloos pointed out that Respondent opted out of Medicare, but failed to provide 

adequate opt-out notices to the Clinic patients.506 

Respondent disputes that the Clinic improperly charged any patient. Respondent argues 

that the following charges were reasonable and medically appropriate: (1) patient treatment with 

PB based on Dr. Burzynski’s experience and knowledge; (2) the monthly case management fees 
based on the ongoing management by Clinic staff of patients who returned home and were under 
the primary care of their local physicians; (3) medical testing and other services; and (4) visits or 

consultations with the Clinic’s physicians and other medical staff. Respondent further maintains 

that charging a retainer before providing services is not prohibited by statute or Board rules, and 

the patients who paid for services actually received them. 

Respondent argues that Staff’s allegations concerning “fraudulent” billing and inaccurate 

coding overlooked that Patients A through F were private pay patients and were not covered by 
insurance or Medicare. (Patient’s G’s treatment was partially covered by insurance.) After their 

initial visit to the Clinic, Respondent asserts, these patients (except Patient D) paid a flat rate for 

services. Such private pay patients, as the Clinic’s billing manager Leann Chiapetta explained, 

505 Ms. Kloos admitted that she was not qualified to give an opinion on the standard of care. Tr. Vol. 2 at 17. 
5’06 StaffExs. 61.C.01 at 45201-45202; 68.02 at 14-18, 98-99, 103.
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were often billed “flat . . . instead of billing all the codes out,” while for some insurance 

companies, the bills are broken down into codes for supplies, monitoring, etc.507 

Danuta Wojciechowski, the Clinic’s coder, explained that, although it was the financial 

counselor’s job to explain the monthly management fee, the services covered by the fee included, 

in addition to supplying PB, “face to face [visits], monitoring, [and] follow up visit[s].”508 

Sadie Ratliff, a Clinic financial counselor, testified that the monthly management fee, as 

described in the Treatment Billing Agreement signed by each patient,509 covered a variety of 

services, including: 

follow—up Visits, intensive patient monitoring, physician supervision and 
management of patient care. Telephone conferences with the patient, family, 
and/or other healthcare providers, analysis of data, integration of new information 
into the revised treatment programs, per patient tolerance, compilation of dictated 
medical report, laboratory findings, progress notes, and other data in order to 
maintain maximum patient care and medical supplies for the pump and catheter 
care.510 

Respondent points out that Ms. Kloos agreed that, due to the growing complexity of CPT 
coding and medical billing, there is a movement in a part of the medical industry to move away 
from fee-for-service towards flat fee rates, but that this movement is slow—moving in the practice 
of oncology.511 In addition, Respondent pointed out that the private Clinic patients agreed from 

the beginning that they would be responsible if insurance did not cover their treatment.512 

Ms. Kloos conceded that Patients A, E, and F’s billing agreements were examples of flat 

fee billing for certain services.513 Respondent argues that, because coding was not a basis for 

5°7 Staff Ex. 66.Y at 27-28. 
5 8 StaffEx. 66.8 at 24-25. 
509 See e.g., StaffEx. 7.06M at 3522. 
5 ° StaffEx. 66.1 at 18. 
5“ Tr. Vol.2 at30-33. 
“2 See e. g., StaffEx. 7.06.M at 3524. 
“3 Tr. Vol.2 at 34-40.

C

.d
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charging these patients and, as testified to by Ms. Chiapetta, was not used in billing some 

insurance payors, any inaccurate coding was immaterial. 

Ms. Kloos acknowledged that of the approximately 80 oncology practices she has audited 
4 She explained that billing and coding had in her career, only one was correctly billing.51 

increased in complexity in the past 10 to 15 years, and the use of the wrong code was a common 
mistake.515 She acknowledged that there was an extreme shortage of people who were capable 
of what she believed to be proper coding and billing in the oncology setting.516 

Ms. Kloos stated that the Clinic’s director of finance administration “should be 

responsible for the integrity of proper coding and billing,” and that Ms. Chiapetta, as the billing 

supervisor, would be the person responsible for making sure the coders and the billers were 

properly performing their duties.517 Dr. Burzynski testified that neither he nor any of the 

physicians at the Clinic was involved in billing, and that he only reviewed a bill if there was a 

complaint.518 Ms. Kloos acknowledged that at one hospital she worked for, the C00 did not 
make any effort to get involved in billing because doing so was “a little bit beneath his pay 

”519 grade. 

Respondent argues that although Ms. Kloos opined that if something is not documented 
d,520 she did not investigate in this case beyond what in the medical records, it cannot be bille 

medical records were provided to her. She never spoke with a patient, any of the physicians, or 

anyone working at the Clinic.521 Ms. Kloos stated that, in general, the oncologists at the Clinic 

were required to properly keep their medical records; that Respondent, as the owner of the 

5” Tr. v61. 2 at 13-14. 
5” Tr. Vol.2 at 21; StaffEx. 66.FF at 26. 
516 Staff Ex. 66.FF at 39-40. 
5” StaffEx. 68.03 at 10. 
5‘8 StaffEx. 7 at 78. 
5‘9 Tr. Vol.2 6:21-22. 
52" Tr. Vol.2 at 65, 68-69. 
52‘ Tr. Vol.2 at 17-18.
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Clinic, was responsible for the accuracy of the medical records; and that, according to the federal 

Office of the Inspector General, the CEO is responsible for the integrity of his practice 

In reply, Staff asserts that the billing records for Patients C, F, and G were sent to third 
party payors and that the Board Rule 190.8(2)(J) requires that proper billing statements be 

submitted to patients and/or third party payors, meaning that the billing statement must not be 

false, fraudulent, misrepresenting the services provided, or otherwise failing to meet professional 

standards. As for the argument that Respondent billed flat fees, Staff points to the testimony of 
Jasmine Spotswood, the backup biller at the Clinic, that the charges were initially broken down 
into a predetermined set of codes derived from a super bill (a piece of paper with services and 

codes set forth) and then compared with the notes dictated by the physician into the medical 

records for each patient.522 

A. Patient A 

1. Billings 

In Appendix B to its Complaint, Staff asserts that the charges to Patient A for PB and 
monthly case management; a Lipid Panel test; a measurement of blood oxygen level; a CA 19—9 
Cancer Antigen test; and an office visit on August 29, 2011, with Dr. Marquis were improper, 

unreasonable, or medically or clinically unnecessary. Of these charges, only the August 30, 
2011 charge for measurement of blood oxygen level is cited by Ms. Kloos in her expert report as 

not being supported by documentation in the medical records. It should be noted that Ms. Kloos 

stated in her report that she did not include bills as being improper for which the CPT code was 
properly documented in the medical records. 523 

In her expert report, Ms. Kloos noted that Patient A presented to the Clinic without a 

pathologically confirmed cancer diagnosis, which apparently was the basis for her opinion that 

5” StaffEx. 66.P at 10-14; StaffEx. 5.02.A at 712-716. 
5” StaffEx. 61.03.C at 45185-45187.
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none of the Clinic charges for his treatment were reasonable.524 Patient A’s wife testified that 

Patient A had cancer when he presented at the Clinic.525 Patient A filled out a client information 
sheet indicating he had been diagnosed with colon cancer.526 Records from the Clinic show the 
physicians recommended that the patient have a biopsy.527 Patient A’s wife testified that 

Patient A had already had one biopsy and was not interested in another, and that his doctors in 
North Carolina did not want him to have to go through that again.528 

The record establishes that there was sufficient documentation in the medical records to 
support the Clinic’s treatment of Patient A for cancer. 

As for the charges for PB, Ms. Kloos stated in her expert report that the administration 
plan for PB dated October 11, 2010, was not signed by a physician.529 Ms. Kloos also testified 
that the Clinic had no documentation in Patient A’s medical records explaining the rationale and 

medical necessity for the prescribing of PB.530 This opinion is apparently the basis for Staff’s 

allegation that the charges to Patient A for PB were not supported by the medical records. 

The notes from the October 10, 2011 oncology assessment signed by Dr. Valladares 

indicate that, based on Respondent’s recommendation, Patient A would start receiving PB.531 
Patient A’s treatment plan lists the amount, frequency, number of refills, and dosage of PB, 
which Respondent argues is all that is required by the rule.532 In addition, Respondent points to 

the informed consent form for PB signed by Patient A on October 11, 2010. That form states 

that its purpose was to “alleviate the symptoms and decrease the size of your tumor and to 

52“ StaffEx. 61.03.C at 45176. 
525 Tr. Vol. 5 at 79. 
52" StaffEx. 5.02.A at 816. 
527 Staff Ex. 5.02.A at 729. 
52" Tr. Vol. 5 at 82-84. 
529 Staff Ex. 61 .03.C at 45176. Staff also cites in its Closing Argument to Ms. Kloos’s prefiled testimony regarding 

billings for physician consultations and Medicare opt-out that are not included in Staff’s pleadings. 
53° StaffEx. 68.02 at 30. 
53‘ StaffEx. 5.02.A at 791-792. 
532 22 TAC § 165.1(a(6)(A)'
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improve your nutritional status.” It acknowledged that PB was “not yet standard,” but had 
“demonstrated anticancer activity in both laboratory and clinical studies.” In addition, the 

informed consent advised Patient A that “tests have revealed anti-tumor activity of sodium 
phenylbutrate . . . [there is] evidence that phenylbutrate induces death in cancer cells . . . [and 

that PB] may be of benefit to advanced cancer patients.”533 

The record establishes that there was sufficient rationale in the medical records for the 

prescribing of PB to Patient A. 

Ms. Kloos also testified that Patient A’s medical records did not indicate that he actually 

received PB on October 11 through 14, 2010.534 Respondent points out that the Clinic’s nursing 
notes listed PB as a medication given to Patient A on October 11 through 14, 2010,535 and a 

patient checklist, signed and dated October 11, 2010, showed that Patient A had “completed test 
dose of PB tablet,” and was “given instruction and understands the dosage regimen ordered by 
the physician.”536 The Clinic’s nursing records for October 12 through 15, 2010, also cited the 

PB dosage given to Patient A on the previous day, which matched the amount the Clinic billed to 
the patient.537 This dosage comports with the October 11, 2010 treatment plan to start PB at 0.5 
grams four times a day and increase until reaching a three-gram dosage given four times per 
day.538 

The record establishes that Patient A actually received PB on October 11 through 

14, 2010. 

In regard to the allegation that the amount of the charges for PB and monthly case 
management were improper or unreasonable, Respondent argues that, as the billing statements 

5” StaffEx. 5.2.A at 836-838. 
534 Staff Ex. 68.02 at 22-23. 
535 Staff Ex. 5.2.A at 809-812. 
536 StaffEx. 5.2.A at 813. 
537 StaffEx. 5.2.A at 809-812, 880. 
5” StaffEx. 5.2.A at 718.
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ShOW, by the time Patient A achieved the recommended dosage of PB, the cost would have been 
$240 per day, or $7,200 per month.539 However, after Patient A reached the treatment plan’s 
recommended dosage, the Clinic stopped charging separately for PB and rolled the cost into the 
monthly case management fee that started at $4,500 per month.540 According to Patient A’s 

billing records, by December of 2010, two months after Patient A began treatment, the Clinic cut 
the case management fee in half.541 

Patient A’s wife acknowledged that she understood the case management fee covered the 

cost of PB,542 and testified that, at their request, the Clinic reduced the case management fee to 

make the treatment more affordable for her husband.543 

The record establishes that charges for PB and the monthly case management fee to 
Patient A were reasonable. 

As for the charge on August 29, 2011, for a $200 office visit with Dr. Marquis, 

Respondent argues that this was actually a visit with Dr. Valladares and was simply an entry 
error.544 Although Patient A’s wife initially testified that RA Rakhmanov conducted the physical 
on her husband on August 29, 2011, she later agreed that it could have been performed by 
Dr. Valladares.545 

The office visit charge of August 29, 2011, was supported by the evidence despite the 
erroneous entry as to which physician was seen. In addition, the rationale for the Lipid Panel 

test, measurements of blood oxygen level, and CA 19-9 Cancer Antigen test are fully discussed 
in Section IV(B)(2) and (3) above. 

5” Staff Ex. 5.2.A at 880. 
54° Staff Ex. 5.2.A at 883-890. 
5‘“ StaffEx. 5.2.A at 890-892. 
5“ StaffEx. 66.T at 56-57. 
543 Tr. Vol. 5 at 75. 
54“ StaffEx. 5.02.A at 770-71, 892. 
“5 Tr, Vol. 5 at 44; 47-48.
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2. Summary of ALJ’s Analysis 

The ALJs find no violations as alleged regarding the billings to Patient A. 

B. Patient B 

1. Billings 

In Appendix B to its Complaint, Staff asserts that the charges to Patient B were improper, 
unreasonable, or medically or clinically unnecessary. Specifically, Staff cited the charges from 

February 7through March 4, 2011, for genetic testing, physician services, office consultations, 
drugs, office/outpatient visits, blood oxygen level measurements, Lipid Panel tests, medical 

equipment, health education, nutritional therapy, and the monthly management fees for March 
through September, 2011. 

Ms. Kloos testified that the coding for Patient B’s initial office visit on February 7, 2011, 
was inaccurate and unsupported by the medical records because it reflected that Dr. Valladares 
personally spent 2/: hours with Patient B when his dictated notes were barely a page long.546 
However, the medical records show that other physicians, including Respondent, were involved 
in Patient B’s treatment that day. Respondent argues that even though he participated in the 

initial consultation and recommended the treatment plan that Patient B decided to follow rather 
than the standard radiation treatment recommended by Dr. Valladares, only Dr. Valladares billed 
the patient for that meeting.547 Respondent points out that Respondent did not bill Patient B for 
the time spent reviewing the medical records Patient B sent to the Clinic before the meeting.548 

The charges for a 21/2 hours initial consultation between two Clinic physicians and Patient 
B were reasonable. 

545 StaffEx. 68.02 at 52:20. 
5‘” Staff Ex. 5.03.A at 1060-61. 
54“ StaffEx. 5.03.A at 1125-26.
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The office visits with a physician were billed at $125 for each outpatient visit. On 
February 8, 2011, Patient B reported to the Clinic and “the team,” including Respondent, 

reviewed the patient’s MRIs.549 Patient B was started on PB. Dr. Gregory Burzynski reviewed 

and executed the informed consent form for PB with the patient. 550 On that day, Patient B was 
only charged $125 for a visit with Dr. Valladares.551 On February 9, 2011, the records showed 
that Patient B reported to the Clinic, where his Vitals were taken, and he was started on Avastin 

552 and he was and Decadron. All side effects of these two drugs were discussed with the patient, 

given a complete history and physical by Dr. Valladaresm For this he was charged $125 for a 

visit with Dr. Marquis, which was a clerical error.554 

On February 10, 2011, Patient B was charged $125 for a visit with Dr. Gregory 

Burzynski for which there is no medical record. 555 On February 11, 2011, Patient B presented at 
the Clinic and had his Vitals taken. The results of his blood (genetic) tests were reviewed and, 
based on the results, a profile 1 iron saturation was ordered. It was also noted that he would be 

considered for participation in an ANP clinical trial.556 Patient B was charged $125 for this visit 
with Dr. Valladares.557 On February 14, 2011, Patient B presented at the Clinic and had his Vitals 
taken. Dr. Marquis directed that his dressing for the Hickman catheter be changed.558 Patient B 
was charged $125 for this Visit with Dr. Valladares, which again was a clerical error.559 On 
February 15, 2011, Patient B presented at the Clinic and had his Vitals taken. Dr. Marquis 

549 StaffEx. 5.03.A at 1019. 
55° StaffEx. 5.03.A at 915-917. 
55‘ StaffEx. 5.03.A at1201. 
5” StaffEx. 5.03.A at 1020. 
5” StaffEx. 5.03.A at 1063-1064. 
55“ StaffEx. 5.03.A at 1201. 
5” StaffEx. 5.03.A at 1202. 
556 StaffEx. 5.03.A at 1021. 
557 StaffEx. 5.03.A at 1202. 
558 Staff Ex. 5.03.A at 1022. 
5” StaffEx. 5.03.A at 1203.
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directed that the administration of Votrient be started.560 Patient B was charged $125 for this 
visit with Dr. Valladares, which again was a clerical error.561 

On February 16, 2011, Patient B presented at the Clinic and had his Vitals taken. 

Dr. Valladares directed that the administration of Avastin be started.562 Patient B was charged 
$125 for this visit with Dr. Valladares.563 On February 17, 2011, Patient B presented at the 
Clinic and had his Vitals taken. Dr. Valladares again directed that the administration of Avastin 

be started.564 Patient B was charged $125 for this visit with Dr. Valladares.565 ' On 
February 18, 2011, Patient B presented at the Clinic and had his Vitals taken. Dr. Marquis 

566 Patient B was charged $125 for this visit with directed that he continue the treatments. 

Dr. Weaver, which was a clerical error.567 On February 21, 2011, Patient B presented at the 
Clinic and had his Vitals taken. Dr. Valladares directed that the Avastin dosage be increased.568 

Patient B was charged $125 for this Visit with Dr. Weaver, which again was a clerical error.569 
On February 22, 2011, Patient B presented at the Clinic and had his Vitals taken, at which visit 
Dr. Valladares discussed the beginning of the administration of ANP in Germany.570 Patient B 
was charged $125 for this Visit with Dr. Valladares.571 

On February 23, 2011, Patient B presented at the Clinic and had his Vitals taken, and 
Dr. Valladares directed that the regimen be continued.572 Patient B was charged $125 for this 

56° Staff Ex. 5.03.A at 1024. 
56‘ StaffEx. 5.03.A at 1203. 
562 StaffEx. 5.03.A at 1025. 
5‘” StaffEx. 5.03.A at 1204. 
56“ StaffEx. 5.03.A at 1026. 
565 StaffEx. 5.03.A at 1205. 
5“ StaffEx. 5.03.A at 1029. 
567 Staff Ex, 5.03.A at 1207. 
5“ StaffEx. 5.03.A at 1030. 
569 Staff Ex. 5.03.A at 1207. 
57° Staff Ex. 5.03.A at 1031. 
5“ StaffEx. 5.03.A at 1209. 
572 Staff Ex. 5.03.A at 1032.
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Visit with Dr. Valladares.573 On February 24, 2011, Patient B presented at the Clinic and had his 
Vitals taken, and Dr. Valladares directed that the dosage of Votrient be increased};74 Patient B 
was charged $125 for this Visit with Dr. Valladares.575 On February 25 and 28, 2011, Patient B 
presented at the Clinic and had his Vitals taken, and Dr. Valladares directed that the regimen be 

continued.576 Patient B was charged $125 for these Visits with Dr. Valladares.577 

On March 1, 2011, Patient B presented at the Clinic and had his Vitals taken, and 

Dr. Valladares directed that the dosage of Votrient be decreased.578 Patient B was charged $125 
for this Visit with Dr. Valladares.579 On March 2, 2011, Patient B presented at the Clinic and had 
his Vitals taken, and Dr. Valladares directed that the regimen be continued.580 Patient B was 
charged $125 for this Visit with Dr. Valladares.581 On March 4, 2011, Patient B presented at the 
Clinic and had his Vitals taken, and Dr. Valladares discussed his future treatment preparatory to 

his initial discharge from the Clinic.582 Patient B was charged $200 for this visit with Dr. 
Valladares.583 

With the exception of the undocumented office Visit with Dr. Gregory Burzynski on 

February 10, 2011, the charges for the office Visits of Patient B were reasonable, and the 
erroneous designation of the physician who actually met with the patient did not establish 
otherwise. 

573 StaffEx. 5.03.A at 1210. 
57“ StaffEx. 5.03.A at 1033. 
575 StaffEx. 5.03.A at 1210. 
57" StaffEx. 5.03.A at 1034-1035. 
577 StaffEx. 5.03.A at 1211. 
578 Staff Ex. 5.03.A at 1036. 
579 StaffEx. 5.03.A at 1212. 
58° StaffEx. 5.03.A at 1037. 
58‘ StaffEx. 5.03.A at 1213. 
582 Staff Ex. 5.03.A at 1037. 
583 StaffEx. 5.03.A at 1213.
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Ms. Kloos testified that she assumed that the monthly management fee being charged to 

Patient B was “to take care of him on antineoplastons while he’s in Germany,” because she was 
of the opinion that was all the care that he was getting.584 Ms. Kloos also asserted that the 

documented telephone calls were insufficient to support Patient B’s monthly case management 

fee billed under CPT Code 99499, because that code should only be used for patients receiving 
585 However, she later agreed that Code 99499 is a code for “unlisted 

586 

home health care. 

evaluation and management service,” not for home health care services. 

Once Patient B was discharged from the Clinic, beginning in March 2011, the Clinic 
charged him a monthly case management fee of $3,511 per month through September of 201 1.587 

Respondent argues that the services that justified this case management fee included, among 
other things, the following: 

March 21, 2011— Respondent reviewed Patient B’s MRI and gave “further 
recommendations” to Dr. Brandt.588 

May 24, 2011- Dr. Marquis spoke to Dr. Brandt and discussed the patient’s 
progress.589 

June 16, 2011— the Clinic physicians evaluated a recent MRI of Patient B’s brain 
showing a significant increase in tumor size, and recommended that the patient 
return to Houston for a follow-up.590 

July 1, 2011- Patient B returned to Houston where Dr. Marquis updated his 
history and conducted a physical.591 

July 5 through 7, 2011- Patient B returned to the Clinic where his treatment plan 
was reassessed and modified.592 

58“ StaffEx. 68.02 at 67. 
5“ StaffEx. 68.02 at 62. 
58" Tr. Vol.2 at 63. 
587 Staff Ex. 33 at 22482-22489. 
588 StaffEx. 5.03.A at 1041. 
589 Staff Ex. 5.03.A at 1043. 
59° Staff Ex. S.O3.A at 1044. 
59‘ StaffEx. 5.03.A at 1057-59.
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August 19, 2011— Clinic staff held a conference call with Patient B and his family 
during which Patient B decided to resume the treatment plan after overcoming the 
side effects.593 

September 9, 2011- Clinic staff spoke with Patient B’s family regarding his 
hospitalization.594 

Respondent asserts that all these services, together with the cost of the prescription drugs, were 

covered by the monthly management fee, and points out that Patient B never received ANP 
treatment from the Clinic, only from Dr. Brandt while he was in Germany. 

The record establishes that the monthly case management fees charged to Patient B were 
reasonable. 

Ms. Kloos testified that Respondent improperly charged for prolonged service without 

contact and prolonged physician services because the times of the face-to-face contacts with 

licensed physicians were not documented in the medical records, nor did the records identify 

what services were being provided without physician contact. In addition, she stated that there 

was no documentation that licensed physicians performed the physical examinations or provided 
group health education as required by the CPT code used in the billings. 595 

On February 7, 2011, Respondent charged Patient B $350 for prolonged physician 

services and $500 for prolonged service without contact.596 On February 28 and March 2, 2011, 
Respondent charged Patient B $60 each for group health education.597 

5” StaffEx. 5.03.A at 1049-51. 
593 Staff Ex. 5.03.A at 1052. 
59“ StaffEx. 5.03.A. at 1053. 
5” StaffEx. 68.02 at 67. 
596 StaffEx. 33 at 22376. 
597 StaffEx. 5.03.A. at 1212-1213.
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In his briefs, Respondent does not point to any documentation or testimony to explain the 

charges for prolonged service without contact and prolonged physician services other than the 

office visit charges discussed above, or for the group health education charges. Accordingly, 

Staff has established that these charges are not sufficiently documented. 

From February 17 to March 4, 2011, the Clinic charged for the intravenous 

administration of medication to Patient B. Patient B started intravenous administration of 

Avastin at the Clinic on February 17, 2011. The same day, he signed the Avastin informed 

consent form that explained the purpose of the treatment and how it inhibited cancer growth by 
blocking receptors on the surface of endothelial cells.598 The consent forms for PB, Votrient, and 
Avastin explained their purpose to the patient, be it targeted gene therapy to block receptors on 

certain cancerous cell receptors or, for PB, to cause death in cancer cells and increase the activity 

of common chemotherapeutic agents.599 The records also established that with each drug the 

side effects were discussed With the patient, handouts were provided, and all questions were 
answered.600 

The record establishes that the charges for the intravenous administration of medications 

to Patient B were reasonable. 

Staff also maintained that Respondent ran various tests such as blood and urine, lipid 

panel, and genetic testing that were medically unnecessary. Dr. Levin opined that these tests, 

including the EGFR, HER2, plasma, and VEGF testing from Caris Life Sciences, were medically 
necessary and fully appropriate.601 These tests were part of the treatment plan for targeted 

therapy. In the June 17, 2011 “Treatment Summary,” the patient wanted to follow 

Dr. Burzynski’s recommendations for a “Profile III, genetic markers x 4 and an MRI of the head 

598 Tr. v61. 2 at 63; StaffEx. 5.3.A at 1088, 909-911. 
5” StaffEx. 5.3.A at 909, 912, 915. 
60° StaffEx. 5.3.A at 1024 (Votrient), 1026 (Avastin). 
60‘ Res. Ex. 165 at 51-53, 60-61.
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without contrast.”602 The “Treatment Summary” further explains that, based on the results of the 
Caris Target Summary, both Tarceva and Iressa were recommended. 

The pretreatment evaluation signed by Patient B explained that x—rays, CT scans, MRls, 
nuclear medicine tests, blood studies, and urine studies were a series of tests that might be 

required before a full treatment plan was developed.603 Patient B also signed the informed 
consent form for Avastin that explained that tests such as x-rays, CT scans, MRI scans, nuclear 
medicine tests, and blood and urine lab studies were needed before the patient could start Avastin 

or any target therapy agents.604 

The record establishes that the x—rays, CT scans, MRls, nuclear medicine tests, and blood 
and urine lab studies charged to Patient B were reasonable. The reasonable basis for the charges 
for the Lipid Panel test, measurement of blood oxygen level, and genetic testing are fully 

discussed in Section IV(B)(2) and (3). 

2. Summary of ALJs’ Analysis 

The ALJs find that the charge for the office visit with Dr. Gregory Burzynski on 

February 10, 2011, the charges for the February 7, 2011 prolonged physician services and 

prolonged service without contact, and the charges for group health education are not supported 

by the medical records, in violation of Code § 164.051(a)(3) and 22 TAC § 165.1. 

602 Staff Ex, 5.3.A at 1061-62. 
“3 StaffEx. 5.3.A at 918. _ 

604 Staff Ex. 5.3.A at 909, 897 (Nexavar), 900 (Sprycel), 903 (Afinitor), 906 (Tarceva), 912 (Votrient), 915 (PB).




